
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Nicola Meurer, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: nicola.meurer@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 15 May 2017

Website: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 24 MAY 2017 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Members of the Committee:
Felix Bloomfield (Chairman)
Joan Bland
Anthony Dearlove
Jeannette Matelot

Toby Newman (Vice-
Chairman)
David Nimmo-Smith
Richard Pullen

David Turner
Margaret Turner
Ian White

Substitutes
Charles Bailey
Stefan Gawrysiak
Stephen Harrod

Lorraine Hillier
Elaine Hornsby
Imran Lokhon

Sue Lawson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this 
agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic Services

Public Document Pack



2

1 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

2 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

3 Urgent business and chairman's announcements  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chairman.  

4 Applications deferred or withdrawn  

5 Proposals for site visits  

6 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.



3

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

7 Land South of 
Watlington 
Road, Benson  

Outline application (with all matters 
reserved except access) for the 
erection of up to 120 dwellings (40% 
of which will be affordable) with 
associated access, public open 
space, landscaping and play space.

P16/S3441/O 5 - 30

8 4A Farm Close 
Road, Wheatley  

Side extension to existing flatted 
block to provide two No. two bed flats. 
(4 No. flats in total). Provision of 3 no. 
off street parking spaces with new 
highway access, secure cycle storage 
and bin enclosures.

P16/S4254/FUL 31 - 42

9 Land South of 
Greenwood 
Avenue, 
Chinnor  

Outline planning application for 
erection of up to 140 dwellings, new 
public open space, associated 
landscaping and site infrastructure.  
All matters reserved.

P16/S3284/O 43 - 64

10 17 and 19 
Greenwood 
Avenue, 
Chinnor  

Demolition of two dwellings and 
construction of new access road.

P16/S3285/FUL 65 - 74

11 Land North of 
12 Celsea 
Place, Cholsey  

Details of the layout, landscaping, 
layout and scale of the approved 
scheme for 60 dwelling.

P17/S0875/RM 75 - 84

12 Former Farm 
Buildings and 
Pharmacy, 
Cholsey 
Meadows 
(Former 
Fairmile 
Hospital), Off 
Reading Road, 
Cholsey  

Conversion of existing buildings to 
provide 11 x 1 bedroom starter 
homes, 6 x 2 bedroom starter homes 
and 1 commercial unit (salon) and a 
farm shop, together with, parking, 
access and landscaping.

P16/S3254/FUL 
and 
P16/S3255/LB

85 - 108



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

APPLICATION NO. P16/S3441/O
APPLICATION TYPE OUTLINE
REGISTERED 2.11.2016
PARISH BENSON
WARD MEMBER(S) Richard Pullen

Felix Bloomfield
APPLICANT Mr R J & S Styles
SITE Land South of Watlington Road, Benson OX10 6NP

PROPOSAL Outline application (with all matters reserved except 
access) for the erection of up to 120 dwellings (40% 
of which will be affordable) with associated access, 
public open space, landscaping and play space.

AMENDMENTS As amended and clarified by drawing nos 
38409/5502/001 and 002 dated Oct 2016, 
Archaeological evaluation and Transport and Noise 
addendum reports accompanying Agent's letter 
dated 2 February 2016 and Framework Plan PL03 
Rev C and agents e-mail dated 6 April 2017.

GRID REFERENCE 462267/192220
OFFICER Sharon Crawford

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee because the 

recommendation conflicts with the recommendation of the Benson Parish Council who 
object to the application. 

1.2 This is a greenfield site of around 7.9 hectares located on the northern eastern edge of 
Benson. The site fronts onto Watlington Road and is a large field in arable production. 
Existing residential properties abut the site on its western and southern boundaries on 
Blacklands Road and Brook Street. The boundaries with residential properties are 
visually enclosed by mature hedging and fencing. The Watlington Road boundary is 
marked by a mature field hedge. The eastern boundary of the site is currently open.

The site has no special designation and is some distance from the conservation area, 
flood zones, AONB or listed buildings. However a small part of the site is known to be 
susceptible to surface water flooding.

1.3 The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks outline planning permission for a residential development of up 

to 120 dwellings. Access is to be determined at this stage with matters of appearance, 
layout, scale and landscaping reserved for subsequent approval.

2.2 The application submission includes the following documents;

• Design and Access Statement 
• Agricultural Land Classification Report 
• Arboricultural Report 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3441/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

• Heritage Statement 
• LVIA 
• Statement of Community Involvement and Sustainability 
• Habitat Survey 
• Reptile survey
• Transport Assessment and Travel Plan 
• Flood Risk Assessment
• Utilities report, and
• Topographical survey
• Additional information has also been submitted in respect of archaeology, noise 

and landscape impact. 

Amended plans have been submitted to overcome the highway concerns and those of 
the landscape consultant. The amendments are. 

 Reduction in the proposed developable area from 5.72ha to 5.42ha.
 Lowering of the density across the site to a maximum of 30 dwellings per 

hectare within centre parcels with lower densities on the perimeter of the site. 
 Amendment of the description of the development to reflect a reduction in the

capacity of the site from ‘up to 180 dwellings’ down to ‘up to 120 dwellings’   
 Inclusion of an increased landscape buffer and additional public open space to 

the eastern portion of the site.
 The addition of a ghost right turn into the site and the introduction of a new 

chicane to the north east of the site. To accommodate the ghost right turn lane, 
along with the appropriate visibility splays, the proposed site access has been 
relocated further to the north east. 

2.3 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website but are summarised below.

3.1 Benson Parish 
Council 

Original plans. Key Objections: 
 The development will have a major impact on the visual amenity of 
houses in Blacklands Road and Brook Street. Their own landscape 
assessment report states “the impact is significant and should be 
considered in the planning balance”. The site being located on higher 
ground, it will overlook existing properties in Brook St and Blacklands 
Road. 
 The impact of additional vehicles generated by this development. 
The figures quoted for the anticipated growth at Littleworth Road do 
not agree with the latest figures in P16/3611 
 The development is not sustainable due to its distance from village 
facilities (school, doctors etc.)

Amended plans. 
Members unanimously resolved to object to the amendment on the 
following grounds:
 It is contrary to the emerging Neighbourhood Plan Provides no benefit 
to the village The development will have an adverse cumulative impact 
on the existing village infrastructure 
Previous Key Objections also still apply:

Berrick The Parish Council of Berrick Salome are extremely concerned about 

Page 6

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

Salome Parish 
Council

the effect that the several proposed developments in Benson will have 
in the roads through the villages of Rokemarsh, Roke and Berrick 
Salome. If these proposed developments are consented, then there 
will inevitably be a very significant and damaging increase of traffic 
through the villages on roads which are totally unsuitable and unable 
to sustain that increase in traffic without seriously impacting on the 
quality of life of our parishioners The road will become the route of 
choice and convenience for those on our side of Benson to reach 
Stadhampton, South Oxford, and, most worryingly, the M40 going 
north. For this reason (amongst others) we object to the currently 
proposed Applications in Benson. If they are consented then we see it 
as being paramountly important that there is appropriate work 
undertaken to the road network so as to avoid the Parish of Berrick 
Salome being ruined by becoming a "rat run".

OCC 
(highways)

The original highway objection has been addressed

OCC 
(Archaeology)

Following on from the submission of the archaeological evaluation, no 
objection subject to conditions.

OCC 
(Minerals)

The proposed development would directly sterilise deposits of sand 
and gravel within the site and would indirectly sterilise sand and gravel 
deposits within adjoining land. Constraints imposed by existing 
adjacent housing would be likely to preclude mineral working within 
much, if not all, of the proposed development site; and additional 
indirect sterilisation of mineral resources within adjoining land would 
be likely to be of limited extent. There is not a sufficiently strong 
reason to justify the safeguarding of mineral deposits against 
sterilisation by the proposed development.

Countryside 
Officer

I have no in principle objections to this proposal. The habitats on site 
are common and widespread and of generally low ecological value. 
Surveys for protected species have not revealed the presence of any 
significant population on site. The proposals have been subject to an 
initial assessment using the Biodiversity Impact Calculator which was 
developed by Defra and the Environment Bank to determine if it has 
the potential to avoid a net loss in biodiversity. As very little 
information has been provided on which to base this calculation the 
calculation has been based mainly on the Landscape Framework 
Plan. Overall the balance between loss and gain is very close and I 
am of the opinion that it would be possible to achieve a no net loss for 
biodiversity if sufficient high quality landscaping and wildlife habitat is 
designed into the detailed proposals. Add condition if planning 
permission is granted.

Forestry 
Officer

There are no trees of any arboricultural significance on this site and 
very few growing on adjacent land. To create the proposed new 
highway access into the site from Watlington Rd, it will require the 
removal of a section of the existing field hedgerow. I have no objection 
to this. If permission is to be granted the issues below will need to be 
addressed at the Reserved Matters stage. Due to the scale of the 
proposed development a well-designed landscaping scheme and 
strategy will be essential to enable many new trees to be introduced 
into the site. The site layout should allow space for tree lined highways 

Page 7



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

along all main routes through the development to soften its 
appearance, using trees as focal points. The scheme will need to 
include larger long lived trees and be made up of a wide variety of 
species (suited to the sites soil type) to insure a diverse and robust 
tree scape. All landscaping plans need to be designed in unison with 
housing layouts as well as all other drainage, service routes, highway 
layouts, vison splays and lighting layouts to avoid conflicts that would 
prevent the planting from being implemented or becoming established 
in the future. Evidence of this must be provided.

Healtth and 
Housing – 
Environmental 
Protection

There are concerns that the noise from the nearby RAF Benson 
airbase will have a detrimental impact on the amenity of the proposed 
housing projects in Benson. However, planning permission already 
exists on the adjacent site for new residential development and the 
impacts on this proposal are no worse. In light of the additional noise 
report, conditions should be applied to the development seeking 
further mitigation measures.

Defence 
Infrastructure 
Organisation 

The application site falls within the statutory birdstrike safeguarding 
zone surrounding RAF Benson. Therefore, DIO Safeguarding 
maintains no objection to this application to a conditional requirement 
for the management of trees being included in any planning 
permission granted.

Monson 
(drainage)

Thames Water advice should be sought in respect of foul drainage. 
Surface water drainage should also be submitted for approval.

Community 
Infrastructure 
Officer

Standing advice on S106 and CIL contributions.

Waste 
Management 
Officer

Standing advice on waste and bins.

CPRE There is currently a slight dogleg along the B4009 between the points 
where the southern section of FP 12 meets the road and its 
continuation northwards. It seems desirable to make a slight diversion 
of FP12 on the south side of the B4009 in order to eliminate the 
dogleg along the road.

Neighbours
Objections 
(49)

Lack of up to date Local Plan.
We are very concerned with the large number of applications now 
being submitted for additional housing at Benson (over and above 
existing commitments). This is entirely down to the failure of SODC to 
prepare an up to date Local Plan, the latest draft of which simply 
compounds the problem by devolving powers to make allocations in 
villages to Neighbourhood Plans (that may still take years to prepare). 
In the meantime the Council may not be able to demonstrate a 5 year 
supply of housing land giving it little control over speculative housing 
applications in villages. 
Landscape impact. We are concerned there is inconsistency 
between statements made in the Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment (LVIA) about retaining the boundary hedge on Watlington 
Road (paragraphs 8.2.7, 8.2.11 & 9.2.35 refer) and the Transport 

Page 8



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

Assessment that suggests that the majority of the hedge will either 
have to be removed or severely cut back to create visibility splays (see 
drawing 38409/5501/002A in the TA). As the root stock of the hedge is 
within approximately 1 metre of the carriageway edge it is difficult to 
see that any of the hedge north east of the proposed access point (for 
a considerable distance) can be retained. This matter needs 
clarification and if our assumption proves correct the LVIA will need to 
be re-considered accordingly. On landscape impacts some recognition 
also needs to be given to the Landscape Assessment for Sites on the 
edge of the Larger Villages produced on behalf of the Council in May 
2014. This suggested that only about 50% of this site (BEN5) had 
potential for development in order to safeguard the intervisibility of the 
site with the North Wessex Downs AONB with access being taken 
from Blacklands Road. At a density of 25 dph this suggested that 85 
dwellings only may be accommodated on the southern part of the site. 
A density of up to 180 dwellings covering the entirety of the site is at 
variance with this earlier guidance and suggests that a major 
landscape impact may arise. 
Education There is presently no spare capacity at the village primary 
school over and above that required to meet the needs of the future 
residents of Littleworth Road Phase 1. In fact the County Education 
Officer has already stipulated (in the context of both Littleworth Road 
Phase 2 (P/16/S1139/O) and the Gladman application on St Helen's 
Avenue (P/16/S1301/O) that the County Council will maintain an 
objection to both developments until the school's site constraints have 
been resolved. At present the only solution to this appears to be to 
provide a remote playing field for the school as part of Littleworth 
Road Phase 2 that will free up land at the existing school site to 
expand. However the land needed for the expansion at the existing 
school is held by a Church Trust (not the County Council) and it is 
unclear whether it will sanction any expansion onto the land it controls. 
We also note that the land in question is to be designated as a Local 
Green Space in the Benson Neighbourhood Plan making its potential 
for any form of future development questionable. 
Scale of development and the Benson Neighbourhood Plan The 
housing stock at the time of the 2011 Census stood at 1719 dwellings. 
Completions since that time stand at 8 dwellings and there are 
commitments for 168 dwellings. Therefore the total stock as at March 
2016 stood at 1895 dwellings. The combination of this application (for 
up to 180 dwellings), the Gladman application at St Helen's Avenue 
(for up to 130 dwellings), the current scheme for 11 dwellings on land 
r/o 22/24 Blacklands Road (net 10), the resolution to grant permission 
for a further 241 dwellings at Littleworth Road Phase 2 and the revised 
scheme for 187 dwellings at Littleworth Road Phase 1 (net increase of 
28 dwellings) will add 589 dwellings to the housing stock of the village 
over and above the March 2016 base date. In addition a screening 
opinion has now been issued on land off Hale Road for 84 dwellings 
(P16/S3736/SCR) and we are aware that David Wilson Homes are 
shortly to submit an application on sites referred to as BEN3 and 
BEN4 for between 250-280 dwellings. This takes the potential number 
of additional dwellings to 953 which would represent more than a 50% 
increase in housing stock over and above the base date. This is 
significantly higher than the 10% increase earlier suggested in the 
Local Plan Preferred Options (June 2016) which would have 
represented only 190 dwellings. This figure has already been 

Page 9



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

exceeded through the approval of Littleworth Road Phase 2 alone. 
However we understand that the Benson Neighbourhood Plan is to 
suggest another 60 - 100 dwellings in addition to the 190 taking the 
total to between 250 - 290 dwellings. Even this figure is already largely 
achieved through Littleworth Road Phase 2 (i.e. 241 dwellings) and 
the 28 additional units now proposed for Phase 1 (i.e. a total of 269 
dwellings). If the housing off Blacklands Road is also approved this will 
increase the figure to 279. This leaves insufficient headroom to justify 
approving either this application, the 84 dwellings at Hale Road or the 
250-280 suggested at sites BEN 3 & 4. Surely if the Neighbourhood 
Plan is to have any control on the future level of housing in the village 
no further applications above those mentioned above should now be 
approved. We have read from the Minutes of the Benson 
Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group that there is some suggestion 
of a Relief Road being provided for the village that will be financed (at 
least in part) by HCA funding associated with the Chalgrove Airfield 
development. There is currently no protected route for a Relief Road 
around Benson and any opportunity to provide it could be severely 
prejudiced by the current and proposed developments around the 
village (in particular on sites BEN 2, 3 & 4). There needs to be some 
proper strategic planning around this issue to ensure that all potential 
routes are adequately safeguarded and land reserved accordingly. In 
addition, if the Relief Road is a serious suggestion it is unlikely it would 
be fully funded through the Chalgrove development and contributions 
from other sources may be needed (including the present site off 
Watlington Road). To date the Council has approved (or resolved to 
approve) 400 additional dwellings in the village but no contributions 
towards a possible relief road have been sought. This needs further 
consideration now as well as protecting a preferred route. 
Social Cohesion Finally, there is the matter of “social cohesion” to 
consider where significant additional housing is proposed in a village. 
In similar situations which have been tested at appeal Inspectors have 
accepted (in considering the social dimension of sustainable 
development) that it would take an existing community some time to 
adapt to a significant increase in housing and this may have adverse 
consequences for the social and cultural wellbeing of existing 
residents e.g. combined appeals at Feniton, Devon - see 
APP/U1105/A/13/2191905 (paragraphs 86 – 88 in particular). In that 
case the Inspector recognised that substantially increasing the number 
of residences in a settlement (potentially representing more than a 
12.2% increase in housing stock) without proportionate increases in 
the provision of local shops, infrastructure, employment opportunities 
and other local services risks eroding community cohesion and was a 
consideration to be weighed in the overall balance when considering 
whether the proposal constitutes sustainable development. In this 
case any further development over and above the additional 250-290 
dwellings considered appropriate by the Neighbourhood Plan (which 
represents up to a 15% increase in housing stock over the March 
2016 base date) may have the effect of negatively impacting on social 
cohesion to the detriment of the village and its overall sustainability.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

Page 10



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

4.1 P16/S3315/SCR   - Screening opinion request for the erection of up to 180 dwellings 
and associated works and infrastructure.

P78/W0081/O - Refused (27/06/1978)
Proposed erection of houses.

P74/M0008 - Refused (11/07/1974)
Erection of houses. Access.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEM1  -  Supporting a successful economy
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;

C10  -  Landscape Features
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CON13  -  Archaeological investigation recording & publication
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D7  -  Access for all
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP3  -  Adverse affect by external lighting
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G3  -  Development well served by facilities and transport
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016
Sections 3,4 and 5

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in 

Page 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P78/W0081/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P74/M0008


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only 
subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and 
the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.  

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2033
The council has just completed the Second Preferred Options consultation of the Local 
Plan 2032.  The Second Preferred Options seeks to build upon the existing settlement 
hierarchy and actively create a pattern of development central to the area.  It identifies 
strategic levels of growth at three locations connecting through this central area of the 
District which includes Benson.  The larger villages such as Benson are expected to 
deliver an additional 15% growth. Although it is acknowledged that due to a number of 
appeal decisions this 15% figure has already been reached for Benson. Benson is 
encouraged to consider safeguarding sites that have been given permission to benefit 
from the full weight of their NDP and to provide them with a robust baseline for 
monitoring. In addition Benson is unconstrained by AONB or green belt designations 
and could plan for more than 15% growth. The level of growth proposed should be 
evidenced within the Neighbourhood Development Plan with local communities helping 
to shape the development of their village.  We intend to publish the final version of the 
local plan before the end of 2017.

Emerging Benson Neighbourhood Plan.
Benson are working towards the adoption of a neighbourhood plan (BNP). Benson 
Parish Council recently consulted on the draft version of its neighbourhood plan.  The 
Parish Council is currently reviewing the responses and will submit a revised plan to the 
council for a further period of consultation shortly. The BNP carries limited weight at this 
stage.

South Oxfordshire Section 106 Supplementary Planning Document 2016

5.4 Environmental Impact.
The proposal constitutes Schedule 2 (category 10(b) urban development projects) and 
exceeds the indicative threshold criteria (5ha). However the site is not within a sensitive 
area. Having regard to the characteristics of the development, it is not considered that 
there is potential for significant environmental effects. The cumulative impact has also 
been assessed taking into account other development proposals in the area. This 
scheme proposes 120 dwellings. The application has been supported by sufficient 
documents for these aspects of the scheme to be considered in full. Thus, it is 
considered an Environmental Statement is not required for this proposal. This 
recommendation holds when considering the impact of this development cumulatively 
with the permitted sites in the village and area. A formal screening opinion was issued 
on 20 October 2016.

Other Relevant Legislation 

 Environmental Impact Regulations, as amended 2015
 Community & Infrastructure Levy Legislation Human Rights Act 1998 
 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
 Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 
 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010
 Human Rights Act 1998
 Equality Act 2010 section 149
 CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended)

Page 12



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The mains issues to consider in this case are;

 The principle of the development, including:
- Development Plan
- 5 year housing supply
- Neighbourhood Plan
- Accessibility of site and facilities.

 Matters of detail / technical issues, including:
- Landscape impact,
- Agricultural land
- Trees and ecology
- Design and layout,
- Highway safety and traffic impact,
- Affordable housing,
- Housing mix
- Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents,
- flood risk and surface / foul drainage,
- noise, and

 Infrastructure requirements:
- Education
- on-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement,
- off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy

6.2 The Principle of Development. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 requires applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.  Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the 
local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so 
far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.  In the case 
of South Oxfordshire, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the Core 
Strategy which was adopted in December 2012, the saved policies of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 and any relevant neighbourhood plans.   Development 
which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should be refused 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.3 Benson is designated as a ‘larger village’ in the Core Strategy.  Policy CSS1 sets out 
an overall strategy for the District, which seeks, among other things, to support and 
enhance the larger villages as local service centres, while focusing ‘major new 
development’ at Didcot and supporting the roles of Henley, Thame and Wallingford.

6.4 Policy CSH1 identified the distribution of housing within South Oxfordshire including 
housing in the 12 larger villages. Policy CSR1 indicates that housing provision in the 
villages will be achieved through allocations, infill development and rural exception sites 
for affordable housing and that there would be no limit on infill development in these 
settlements. 

6.5 The application site falls beyond the built up limits of the village.  It does not represent 
infill development and is not a site allocated for housing in an adopted / made plan.  
The development therefore conflicts with the development plan, insofar as it does not 
meet with the policy CSR1 criteria against which proposals for development beyond the 
built-up limits of larger villages are assessed.  

Page 13



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

6.6 5 year housing land supply. To significantly boost the supply of housing, the NPPF 
requires local planning authorities to identify and update annually a supply of specific 
deliverable sites sufficient to provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing 
requirements.  This supply should include an additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice 
and competition in the market for land.  Alternatively, where there has been persistent 
under delivery of housing, the buffer should increase to 20% to provide a realistic 
prospect of achieving the planned supply.    

6.7 The most recent evidence base that informs the council’s housing requirements is the 
2014 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).  To meet the identified housing 
need for the district, the SHMA committed economic growth housing forecast is 750 
homes per annum.  This is a sizable uplift from the requirement for 547 homes per 
annum set out in the SOCS.

6.8 Based on the evidence in the SHMA and past delivery, the council has a housing land 
supply in the region of 3.9 years (including the 20% buffer for under delivery). Therefore 
the council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply.  In these 
circumstances, Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that relevant policies for the supply of 
housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing land and the ‘presumption in 
favour of sustainable development’ should be applied.  Policy CSR1 clearly relates to 
housing supply and is not up to date.  

6.9 Paragraph  14  of  the NPPF  advises  that  there  is  a  presumption  in  favour  of 
sustainable  development.  For  decision-taking  this  means approving  development  
proposals  that  accord  with  the  development  plan  without  delay;  and  where  the 
development  plan  is  absent,  silent  or relevant  policies  are  out-of-date,  granting 
permission  unless:
 –  any  adverse  impacts  of  doing  so  would  significantly  and 
demonstrably  outweigh  the  benefits,  when  assessed  against  the  policies  in  this 
Framework  taken  as  a  whole;  or
 – Specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted.

6.10 The NPPF does not suggest that populations of settlements should be limited in some 
way or not be expanded by any particular figure. It expects housing to be boosted 
significantly.  Additional housing can help support and secure local services and it may 
be possible to address infrastructure deficiencies through planning conditions or 
through a legal agreement.  

6.11 The Core Strategy housing supply policies are out of date and are given less weight in 
our decision making. In addition, the council’s high court challenge of appeal decisions 
in Chinnor concluded that the council is silent on CSR1 in relation to housing in larger 
villages due to the lack of the Site Allocations DPD. Therefore, paragraphs 49 and 14 of 
the NPPF are also applied to CSR1 regardless of the current five year land supply 
position. 

6.12 Applications for housing should now be considered in the context of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development and should be permitted unless there is planning 
harm that outweighs the benefit of providing new housing.  It is in this context that the 
application will be assessed. The impacts of the development are considered below 
and the planning balance weighed up in the conclusion of this report.

6.13 Benson Neighbourhood Plan. Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be 
given to relevant policies in emerging plans, unless other material considerations 
indicate otherwise, and only subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of 

Page 14



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

unresolved objections and the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies 
with the NPPF.  

6.14 Benson Parish are working towards the adoption of a neighbourhood plan. The emerging 
neighbourhood plan is now in its final phase of production. Consultation on the pre-
submission version has closed. The parish council is currently reviewing the responses 
and will submit a revised plan to the council for a further period of consultation shortly. 
The village proposes the development of approximately 340 dwellings (excluding those 
already approved on BEN1) across the NP2, NP3, NP4, NP5 (BEN2, BEN3 and BEN4) 
sites. This figure is above the 15% envisaged in the Local plan 2032. This approach is 
underpinned by two parallel objectives. The first is to provide an appropriate number of 
new dwellings to ensure that Benson is a vibrant and sustainable community in the 
medium and long term. The second is to provide a developer-funded Edge road around 
the north of the village and which will provide significant traffic relief from the existing 
issues in the village centre. 

The BNP allocates sites for housing adjacent to the proposed edge road to provide the 
funding for the road. The Benson Neighbourhood Plan does not support residential 
development on this site (BEN5), the parish council consider that allowing housing on 
this site will undermine their objective to secure the edge road.

As the BNP is still at pre-submission stage it can only be afforded limited weight 
because it has not yet been finalised. This is because it is not known yet, having regard 
to national and local policy, whether it would be appropriate to adopt the NP and 
whether objections to policies can be resolved in a satisfactory manner.

6.15 Conclusions on the principle of residential development. 
In view of the above it is clear that the decision-making process for the determination of 
this application is therefore to assess whether the proposed development constitutes 
sustainable development and whether the adverse impacts of granting planning 
permission for the proposed development would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits.

6.16 The accessibility of the site to services and facilities. 
Benson is a larger village, which is identified as a sustainable location for housing 
within the core strategy policy CSS1. Taking a midpoint from the site it is situated some 
0.5 kilometre from village centre which contains a range of facilities including doctor’s 
surgery and shops. It is also around 0.8km from the primary school, Benson is relatively 
well located for public transport. The site is within walking distance of bus stops for the 
139 which operates between Wallingford and Henley on Thames operating on an 
hourly frequency in both directions during the day. In addition,  the  x39/x40  bus  
service providing  direct  services  to  Oxford,  Wallingford  and  Reading. The site is 
also well connected via public footpaths to the countryside beyond. I consider this site 
to be in a sustainable location.
 

6.17 It is acknowledged that the development would increase demands placed on local 
infrastructure and services. There is insufficient capacity in the area at early years 
provisions, primary, secondary and special education needs schools to meet the needs 
of the proposed development unless the specified recommendations of OCC are met 
through a S106 agreement. However, in your officer’s view the location of the site, the 
proximity to existing services within the village and availability and access to public 
transport to the wider county and region in conjunction with the social, environmental 
and economic benefits mean that this proposal does constitute a sustainable form of 
development. Therefore unless there are significant and demonstrable adverse 
impacts from the development the presumption is in favour of granting 

Page 15



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

permission for the development and the principle of housing on this site is 
acceptable. 

6.18 The remaining sections of this report consider the proposal in detail in terms of whether 
there are adverse impacts generated from the development that would outweigh the 
benefits that it would bring.

6.19 Matters of detail / technical issues
Landscape impact. The site lies within South Oxfordshire Landscape Character 
Assessment Area 3 “The Clay Vale” in an area of undulating open vale (the existing 
built up area of Benson lies within “The River Thames Corridor area”). The area is a 
predominantly rural landscape with some local intrusion of main roads, power lines and 
built development. The Council’s Landscape Capacity Study (by Kirkham 2014) of 
potential housing sites in the larger villages of the District looked at eight sites in 
Benson, including the application site (BEN5). The study recommended that only part of 
the BEN5 site be considered further on landscape and visual grounds. It concluded that 
the capacity of the site is constrained by the relationship of the northern section of the 
site with the wider countryside, the existing function of the open fields as an approach 
to Benson and the intervisibility of the site with the NWD AONB. Despite a medium / 
high capacity, the recommend reduced area covers approximately half of the site, 
avoiding impacting on the open countryside to the north and the open approach to the 
village and relating to a field boundary within adjacent site BEN6.

6.20 The adopted Local Plan and the Core Strategy contain policies that seek to protect 
landscape character and features and set requirements about the quality of 
development, to ensure that it is appropriate to the site and its surroundings and 
enhances local distinctiveness. The North Wessex Downs AONB is located some 1 
kilometre to the west of the application site, and is separated from the site by the main 
body of the village. The Chilterns AONB is some 1.5 kilometres to the east of the site 
and is separated from the site by open fields.

6.21 The site is fairly typical of the rural landscape to the east of Benson, although the 
adjacent built forms (to the west and the south) and the B4009 have an influence on the 
character of the site, so it has an urban edge appearance.  A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been submitted with the application which concluded 
the only impacts of note related to;

 the interaction of the Site with the two AONBs, in that the assessment identified 
adverse impacts of Moderate/Minor significance upon the very highly sensitive 
setting of the AONBs and the site’s relationship with this elevated land, and

 adverse visual impacts to which significant weight should be attributed upon 
residents and public footpath users within the immediate setting of the site,

The LVIA concluded that neither of these impacts are considered to be of significant 
weight within the planning process. 

6.22 However following on from a number of concerns from the Council’s landscape 
consultant the application has been amended as follows;

 Reduction in the proposed developable area from 5.72ha to 5.42ha.
 Lowering of the density across the site to a maximum of 30 dwellings per 

hectare within centre parcels with lower densities on the perimeter of the site. 
 Amendment to the description of the development to reflect a reduction in the

capacity of the site from ‘up to 180 dwellings’ down to ‘up to 120 dwellings’   
 Inclusion of an increased landscape buffer and additional public open space to 

the eastern portion of the site.

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

6.23 Notwithstanding the above, the development of an open agricultural field to provide up 
to 120 dwellings would inevitably have an urbanising effect and would cause some 
erosion of the rural landscape of the area. However I consider that these effects would 
be localised in nature, Nevertheless, the proposal would result in the loss of what is 
currently open agricultural land, and its replacement with housing, streets, lights and 
associated human activity would clearly have an adverse effect on the rural quality of 
the landscape.  As such the proposal would result in some landscape harm and this is a 
matter that must be put into the planning balance to weigh against the proposal.

6.24 Agricultural land.
Paragraph 112 of NPPF advises that local planning authorities should take into account 
the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile land (BMV). Where 
significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local 
planning authorities should seek to use poorer quality land in Grades 3b, 4 and 5 in 
preference to higher quality land. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF puts the protection and 
enhancement of soils as a priority in the conservation and enhancement of the natural 
environment. 

6.25 The site is predominantly within grade 3b, with a pocket of grade 2 and 3a land.  The 
grade 2 and 3a land constitutes BMV land and its loss also weighs against the proposal 
in the overall planning balance.

6.26 Trees and Ecology
The Arboricultural Implications Report concludes that the arboricultural impact of the 
scheme would be of negligible magnitude, and that the proposed development would 
not have an adverse arboricultural impact on the character and appearance of the local 
landscape or on the amenity or biodiversity that the existing trees provide.

6.27 The Forestry Officer has raised no objection to the application but comments that a 
well-designed landscaping scheme and strategy will be essential to enable many new 
trees to be introduced into the site. The site layout should allow space for tree lined 
highways along all main routes through the development to soften its appearance, 
using trees as focal points. The scheme will need to include larger long lived trees and 
be made up of a wide variety of species (suited to the sites soil type) to ensure a 
diverse and robust tree scape. As the application is in outline form, with landscaping 
reserved for latter consideration, an appropriate landscape scheme could be secured at 
the reserved matters stage.

Page 17



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

6.28 An ecological appraisal has been submitted with the application which concludes that 
the majority of the site is of low ecological value. The Countryside Officer has 
commented that overall the balance between loss and gain is very close and he is of 
the opinion that it would be possible to achieve a no net loss for biodiversity if sufficient 
high quality landscaping and wildlife habitat is designed into the detailed proposals.

6.29 In light of the above, there is no evidence to suggest that there are any overriding 
ecological constraints to the development of the site for residential purposes. The 
proposals would deliver a net benefit for wildlife which could be secured through 
appropriate planning conditions.  

6.30 Design and layout.
The NPPF sets out that the Government attaches great importance to the design of the 
built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better 
for people. The NPPF also provides that the planning system can play an important role 
in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive communities.

6.31 The NPPF goes on to advise that although visual appearance and the architecture of 
individual buildings are very important factors, securing high quality and inclusive 
design goes beyond aesthetic considerations. Therefore, planning decisions should 
address the connections between people and places and the integration of new 
development into the natural, built and historic environment (paragraph 61). The design 
policies of the SOCS (particularly CSQ3) and SOLP policies (particularly D1-D4) echo 
these requirements.

6.32 The layout of the proposed development is to be the subject of a reserved matters 
application. However, an amended illustrative framework plan has been provided and 
this communicates the key design principles that a subsequent reserved matters 
application will reflect. Namely:

 Reduction in the proposed developable area from 5.72ha to 5.42ha. 
 Lowering of the density across the site to a maximum of 30 dwellings per 

hectare within centre parcels with lower densities on the perimeter of the site. 
 Amendment to the description of the development to reflect a reduction in the 

capacity of the site from ‘up to 180 dwellings’ down to ‘up to 120 dwellings’
 Inclusion of an increased landscape buffer and additional public open space to 

the eastern portion of the site.

6.33 The indicative plans show that sufficient public open space (POS) could be provided to 
meet policy R6 of the SOLP, which requires 10% of the gross site area to be provided 
as informal open space.  The scheme would provide 1.2 ha of public open space. The 
illustrative layout indicates green buffer spaces to the north and eastern boundaries of 
the site and open spaces within the development. Two areas of play would be provided 
(0.04 ha) which would comply with policy R2 of the SOLP.  The formal and informal 
POS and play areas could be secured with a S106 legal agreement.  
The indicative plan also shows links into the public footpath on the western boundary of 
the site that links into Blacklands Road. There is also the possibility of a road 
connection into the recently approved scheme for housing in the south western corner 
of the site to provide some connectivity with the rest of the village.

Overall, it is considered that the site is capable of accommodating the quantum of 
development proposed but a note is recommended to ensure that any reserved matters 
application complies with the Council’s design guide.  

6.34 Highway safety and traffic impact. A Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted 

Page 18



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

with the application.   Vehicular access is proposed via a new access onto the B4009. 
The provision of vision splays will involve the removal of a section of the existing road 
side hedge. A new hedge will be planted to allow for the vision splays. Pedestrian links 
would be provided into the public footpath that runs along the rear boundary of 
Blacklands Road properties. There is also potential for a road link into Blacklands Road 
through the former orchard site which recently gained planning permission for 11 
dwellings.

6.35 Amended plans have been submitted to address the concerns of the OCC Highways 
engineer. The amendments to the site access are;

i) Addition of a ghost island right turn lane to better facilitate right turns into the 
site access designed to a 30mph design speed in the eastbound direction 
and 50mph in the westbound direction; 

ii) Corresponding relocation of the site access to accommodate the required 
approach lengths of the ghost island; 

iii) New chicane to the east of the ghost island, providing priority to traffic 
exiting Benson; 

iv) Improved visual speed reduction measures at the existing chicane west of 
the proposed site access (road markings) and upgrade of uncontrolled 
pedestrian crossing facilities; and

v) Demonstration of how an extension to the 30mph speed limit order could be 
implemented along the site frontage (subject to separate consultation). 

 
The scheme also includes the offer of off-site highway mitigation at the Church Road / 
A4074 Priority Junction as follows: 

i) Revised PICADY model outputs be submitted demonstrating a ‘FLAT’ vehicle 
profile in both AM (07:45-08:45) and PM (17:00-18:00) peak hour periods, in-
line with recorded traffic flows at the junction; and 

ii) Appropriate commitment towards highways mitigation at the junction to improve 
the Church Road access arm, with County preference for the mitigation 
proposed as part of the ‘Land off St Helen’s Avenue’ proposals for 130 dwellings 
(P16/S1301/O). Works would be secured via either combined S106 financial 
contribution towards the costs of the works, or as necessary via Grampian 
condition for works to be completed via a Section 278 agreement between the 
future developer and the County. 

6.36 The NPPF makes it clear that developments should only be refused on transport 
grounds where the residual cumulative impacts are severe. Safe and suitable access 
can be provided to the site as well as a layout that is safe, secure and minimises 
conflict. In addition mitigation works to improve the church Road/A4074 can be secured 
in accordance with section 4 of the NPPF.  As such I consider that the proposed 
development would be acceptable in highway safety terms subject to appropriate 
highway conditions and contributions towards encouraging sustainable modes of 
transport.

6.37 Affordable housing. 
Policy CSH3 of the SOCS specifies that 40% of new homes shall be affordable, with a 
tenure mix of 75% social rented and 25% shared ownership.  48 affordable units would 
be provided to meet the 40% requirement.  In terms of the tenure split, 26 homes (75%) 
would be for affordable rent and 12 homes (25%) shared ownership.  The affordable 
housing provision will be secured through a S106 agreement.

6.38 Housing mix. Policy CSH4 of the Core Strategy requires a mix of housing to be 
provided to meet current demand.  The district currently has two published documents 
for considering housing mix - the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Page 19



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

(SHMA) 2014 and the South Oxfordshire Housing Needs Assessment (HNA) 2012. 

The HNA was a more thorough assessment than the SHMA and is based on original 
survey data and 2001 census data using the ODPM model and Guide to Good 
Practice.  

The SHMA uses secondary data from the 2011 census and GL Hearn demographic 
projections.  It suggests that councils should have regard to other up to date evidence 
of need and the existing mix and turnover of properties at a local level.

The SHMA is the most up to date evidence base for considering housing mix but the 
Housing Development Officer has commented that the demand for two-bedroom 
shared ownership properties is much higher than for one-bedroom properties, therefore 
the overall affordable housing mix may be more suitably delivered with a higher 
proportion of two bedroom properties than is indicated in the SHMA guidance.  In 
general, it is anticipated that the mix of affordable housing should reflect the significant 
demand for two bedroom units for both rented and shared ownership tenures with a 
reduction in one-bedroom accommodation and an adjustment to the number of larger 
homes.  The table below sets out a suggested mix for 48 affordable housing units 
across both Affordable Rent and Shared Ownership.  

1 bed 2 bed 3 bed (5 
person)

3 bed (6 
person)

4 bed 

Affordable 
rented

10 20 4 2 0

Shared 
Ownership

0 8 4 0 0

The affordable units would be distributed throughout the development and a legal 
agreement would require the units to be built “tenure blind” in respect of external design 
and features so they are materially indistinguishable from the general market housing.  
Subject to the completion of a legal agreement to secure the affordable housing 
provision, I consider that the scheme is acceptable in this respect and complies with the 
above policy.  

6.39 In terms of the market housing, the NPPF seeks to deliver a wide choice of high quality 
homes, highlighting the need to plan for a mix of housing based on current and future 
needs.  Policy CSH4 of the SOCS reflects this requirement.  The application proposes 
to provide a range of housing types ranging from 1 to 4 bed dwellings.  The market 
housing mix would need to reflect the SHMA requirements shown below which could be 
secured by condition.

Market homes 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed
SHMA 6% 27% 43% 24%

6.40 Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents.
Policy D4 of the SOLP requires new development to secure an appropriate level of 
privacy for existing residents.  The application is in outline only and the impact on 
neighbouring properties will be carefully assessed under a future application.  Based on 
the indicative layout, proposed strategic landscaping and the separation that can be 
achieved between the proposed dwellings and neighbouring properties, I am of the 
opinion that the development could be achieved without any adverse impacts on 
neighbours in terms of light, outlook and privacy.  

6.41 Flood risk and surface / foul drainage.
The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (least probability of flooding) and as such, 

Page 20



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

there are no objections to the development in relation to flood risk.  

6.42 The site is known to be susceptible to surface water flooding in some areas and a 
detailed scheme for the site would need to incorporate a Sustainable Urban Drainage 
(SUDS) compliant strategy to ensure that all surface water run-off is accommodated 
within the confines of the site and discharged in a controlled manner.  As advised by 
the council’s drainage consultant, the details of this could be secured by condition.  
Details of foul drainage are also to be secured by condition.

6.43 Noise. Amenity of occupants. All residential properties in Benson suffer from noise 
disturbance from aircraft from the Benson RAF airfield. Applications for new residential 
development in Benson must now include a noise assessment to ensure that there is 
specific consideration for indoor and outdoor amenity in accordance with BS8233:2014. 
The noise assessment helps to ensure that an appropriate scheme for protecting the 
proposed dwellings and future residents is put forward for consideration. In this case a 
noise assessment was not submitted with the application and given the extant planning 
permission on the site could not be required.

6.44 Future occupants will suffer some loss of amenity in their gardens and varying levels of 
sleep disturbance from noise produced by the passing helicopters from the nearby RAF 
Benson airbase. As the number of night time flight movements varies greatly how much 
sleep disturbance occurs is impossible to quantify precisely. However, this is consistent 
for most of the existing inhabitants of Benson. It has been accepted that Benson must 
provide new sites for housing and this site performs no worse than the existing housing 
stock. Sites which are closer to the RAF base or where noise is worse than for the 
existing housing stock will not be supported. Sites for housing will need some noise 
mitigation measures to address noise issues as much as possible.

6.45 In this case of noise assessment and a further noise addendum report have been 
submitted with the application. These propose a number of noise mitigation measures.
Three conditions are recommended to ensure appropriate mitigation to address noise 
concerns.

6.46 Infrastructure requirements 
Education.
Benson CE Primary School is currently 1 form entry. To meet the needs of any growth 
in the area the school will need to expand. An Options Appraisal has been carried out 
into how the school could expand which has shown that expansion would result in the 
school being short of playing field space, and as a consequence, planning application 
P16/S1139/O on the BEN1 site, which is not yet permitted, will provide a detached 
playing field for the school on its site. Application P16/S1139/O provides sufficient 
additional land to enable the school to expand to 1.5 form entry, but this current 
proposed development south of Watlington Road would require the school to expand 
further, to 2 form entry. The S106 agreement for P16/S1139/O, if completed will also 
secure an option for a further 0.093 ha of remediated land to increase the size of the 
playing field to support a 2FE school, and OCC would be required to pay for the 
additional land at a rate of £375K per ha being £34,875 for the 0.093 ha option land. 

6.47 The county council therefore requires a S106 contribution from this proposed 
development of £34,875. The contribution is required to secure land for primary 
education provision associated with new development to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms, and is therefore allowed by SODC’s Regulation 123 List. 
Due to the site constraints at Benson CE Primary School, it is not able to expand 
sufficiently to meet the projected local population growth without the detached playing 
field. The county council will therefore require the s106 agreement to provide that the 

Page 21



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

development cannot be implemented until such time as the county council has 
confirmed in writing that the means to expand primary capacity to mitigate the impact of 
the development has been secured (including the transfer of land).

6.48 In addition a condition is recommended to ensure that no development commences 
until a scheme for the expansion of the primary school has been agreed. The condition 
will also specify that no dwelling is occupied until the approved expansion works have 
been carried out.

6.49 On-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement
In accordance with the council’s S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document, the following additional financial contributions would also be required 
towards on-site infrastructure:
- Affordable housing
- Delivery of the on-site open space and play areas 
- a contribution of £170 per dwelling towards wheeled bins for each house
- a contribution of £1,608 towards street naming and numbering
- The sum of £4408 towards the Council’s S106 monitoring fee                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
- Management of public open space

6.50 As advised by the County highways officer, the following site specific highways 
contributions would also need to be secured under a S106:

- Enhancements to public rights of way
- Bus Service Contribution – The improvement of bus services serving 

Benson at £1,000 per dwelling = £120,000
- Contribution of £18,990 (Index linked, BCIS November

2016) towards public transport infrastructure improvements on Brook 
Street.

- a requirement to provide for monies for consultation regarding
the relocation of the current 30MPH / 50MPH boundary (£2,500)

A S278 agreement is also required to secure the following:
- Amendments associated with access and speed reducing feature to ensure that

the access is safe and designed according to acceptable design standards.
- Amendments to Church Road / A4074 junction to accommodate development

traffic

6.51 I consider that these contributions / obligations would accord with policy CSI1 of the 
SOCS, which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and off-site 
infrastructure and services.  They would also accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF 
as they are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are 
directly related to the development and are fair and reasonably related in scale and 
kind to the development.  In the absence of a completed S106 legal agreement, an 
additional reason for refusal would need to be added to the decision notice as the 
necessary contributions / obligations have not been secured.  

6.52 Off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy

The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 1 April 2016.  With the 
exception of the affordable housing, any additional floor space is usually CIL liable at a 
rate of £156 per sq.m.  The money collected can be pooled with contributions from 
other development sites to fund a wide range of off-site infrastructure to support growth, 
including schools, transport, community, leisure and health facilities.    

6.53 Under the CIL regulations, the Parish Council would receive a proportion of CIL money.  

Page 22



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

This could be spent on infrastructure projects that are priorities for the community.  If 
the Neighbourhood Plan is made prior to the commencement of development, it would 
receive 25 percent of the CIL money collected from the development (as opposed to 15 
percent without a Neighbourhood Plan) to spend it on local projects or contribute 
towards strategic infrastructure.  

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Your officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the proposal 

needs to be assessed against the presumption in favour of sustainable development at 
paragraph 14 of the NPPF. This is because the Core Strategy Policy CSR1 has been 
found to be silent on housing in larger villages by the High Court and the district also 
does not currently have a five year housing land supply. In addition the development 
accords with the Council’s spatial strategy as Benson is identified as a larger village 
which acts as a local service centre.

7.2 It is recognised that the site is not one of the preferred options in the emerging BNP, 
however, given the plan’s stage of preparation it can only be afforded limited weight.

7.3 The report describes the proposals in full and assesses the proposal against the 
relevant material planning considerations.  The three strands of sustainable 
development are set out at paragraph 7 of the NPPF as economic, social and 
environmental.  All these have been considered and the conclusions against each of 
the strands is summarised below

7.4 Economic role
The Government has made clear its view that house building plays an important role in 
promoting economic growth.  The proposal will provide additional housing where there 
is an identified requirement to increase housing targets and boost housing supply. This 
scheme proposes an additional 120 dwellings which will make a contribution to the 
overall supply of housing. The associated construction jobs and local investment during 
its build out as well as longer term expenditure in the local economy will be of economic 
benefit to the local area. 

The proposal will also help meet the requirements under Policy CSS1 for larger villages 
by facilitating growth which supports the provision and retention of local services. The 
proposal therefore has economic benefits and no significant and demonstrable adverse 
impacts.

7.5 Social role
The development would deliver significant social benefits.  The proposal would 
positively support the delivery of housing, including affordable housing.  There is a 
considerable need for market and affordable homes within our district and the proposal 
would contribute towards this at a time of serious housing need. The additional 
pressure on infrastructure can be addressed through S106, CIL and conditions. I attach 
very substantial weight to this social benefit.  

7.6 Environmental role
In terms of the environmental dimension, whilst the proposed development would 
intrude into open agricultural land, the scale and particular location of the proposal are 
such that its impact is likely to be limited to the immediate surroundings. Furthermore, 
the impact of the development could be further mitigated by appropriate landscaping. 
Nevertheless, there would be a landscape impact which would constitute harm in terms 
of the environmental sustainability of the proposal.  The proposals would also result in 
the loss of some Grade 2 and 3a (BMV) land.  The proposed development would not be 
at an unacceptable risk of flooding and would not exacerbate flooding problems for third 

Page 23



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

party property.  In terms of ecology and nature conservation, it has been demonstrated 
that the development would not have a detrimental impact upon biodiversity.  

With regard to accessibility, Benson is a large village and provides access to a range of 
facilities and services including a primary school, convenience stores, public houses 
and health facilities many of which are within walking and cycling distance from the site. 

7.7 The site is accessible by sustainable modes of transport with a bus service linking the 
village to Reading and Oxford with stops close by the site. In addition a school bus 
provides access to Wallingford and Abingdon schools. Safe and suitable access can be 
provided to the site as well as a layout that is safe, secure and minimises conflict in 
accordance with the NPPF.  

7.8 Although some local residents have identified concerns in terms of highway safety and 
capacity of facilities there is no evidence of harm that cannot be mitigated. There are no 
objections from Oxfordshire County Council subject to the delivery of the mitigation 
measures for highways and CIL contributions for education and no other infrastructure 
providers have raised objections. There is no demonstrable evidence that there is a 
cumulative impact of allowing the additional 120 homes on the site. The emerging Local 
Plan 2033 and the NDP are at an early stage of preparation and can only be given 
limited weight in accordance with paragraph 216 of the NPPF. 

7.9 Taking into account the benefits of the development and weighing these against the
limited harm, I consider that the proposal represents a sustainable development
consistent with Para.14 of the NPPF and Policy CS1 of the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy and the emerging BNP. The proposal would contribute towards the objective 
to boost the supply of housing, consistent with Para.47 of the NPPF. Therefore, placing 
all of the relevant material considerations in the balance I conclude that the limited 
adverse impacts would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the 
proposal and recommend the application for approval, subject to the prior completion or 
variation of the relevant S106 Planning Obligation.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 i) That the decisision to grant outline planning permission be delegated 

to the Head of Planning subject to the prior completion of a Section 
106 agreement and, 

ii) the following conditions:

1 : Commencement - outline with reserved matters.
2 : Numbers of dwellings not to exceed 120.
3 : Noise.
4 : Surface water drainage works (details required).
5 : Foul drainage works (details required).
6 : Landscaping (including boundary treatment).
7 : Secure expansion to school prior to occupation.
8 : Secured by design.
9 : Travel plan.
10 : Contaminated land.
11 : Market housing mix (outline).
12 : Construction method statement.
13 : Vision splay details. 
14 : No surface water drainage to highway.
15 : Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy (outline).
16 : Water supply infrastructure.

Page 24



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

17 : Landscape management plan.
18 : Archaeolgy – submission of written scheme of investigation.
19: Implementation of archaeological investigation.
20 : 10% lifetime homes.
21 : New vehicular access.
22 : Close existing access.
23 : Estate accesses, driveways & turning areas.
24 : Public right of way upgrade details.
25 : Cycle parking facilities.
26 : Construction traffic management.
27 Travel information packs.
28: No ransom strips.

Any other conditions as deemed appropriate

Author:        Sharon Crawford
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 27

Agenda Item 7

shacra
Typewriter
Application site

shacra_1
Typewriter
Appendix 1



Page 28

shacra_2
Typewriter
Appendix 1

shacra_3
Arrow

shacra_4
Typewriter
Applicationsite

shacra_5
Typewriter
ChilternsAONB

shacra_6
Typewriter
North Wessex Downs AONB



PL03

1:2500 @A3

373

GL HS

29/03/2017

C

Framework Plan

Watlington Road, Benson

QF 109-A3-L-01

Job Dwg No. Rev.

Scale

Drawn

Date

The Malthouse
60 East St. Helen Street
Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 5EB

Tel (01235) 523139 
Fax (01235) 521662

e-mail: enquiries@westwaddy-adp.co.uk

Checked

This drawing is the copyright of West Waddy : ADP  and may not 
be  copied or reproduced without  written permission. The 
Copyright Order 1990 provides for the Planning Authority to copy 
and distribute drawings for public inspection in relation to a 
Planning Application only if those copies are marked in the 
following manner:

"This copy has been made with the authority of West Waddy: ADP
pursuant to Section 47 of the Copyright Designs and Patents Act 
1988 and for the purposes only of public inspection. This copy 
must not be copied without the prior written permission of the 
Copyright owner."

Do not scale from drawings unless for planning purposes only. 
Use figured dimensions at all other times. In case of doubt contact 
West Waddy:ADP 

Dimensions to be checked on site before work commences and 
any discrepancies reported to the Architect.

The accuracy of this drawing may be reliant upon survey 
information provided by third parties. No liability will be accepted 
by WestWaddy:ADP for errors in or arising from such third party 
survey information.

Date CheckedRevisions InitialsRev

A R C H I T E C T S  A N D  T O W N  P L A N N E R S

westwaddyADP
A R C H I T E C T S  A N D  T O W N  P L A N N E R S

westwaddyADP

DRAFT

Red Line Boundary
(7.91ha)

Residential (5.42ha)

Greenspace (1.24ha)

Existing Hedgerows and 
Woodlands

Existing Trees

Proposed Tress

Footpath

Proposed Access

Play (0.04ha)

Planning Application 
P16/S3501/FUL 
Currently under 
consideration

Background Key

Residential

Greenspace

Agricultural

RAF Benson

GY

GY

GY

GY

GY

GY

GY

GY

GY

GY

GY

LP

SV

ST

CATV

ST

LP

ST

CATV

ST

ST

LP

ST

ST

ST

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH
MH

GY

D
ro

p K
erb

B
rick W

a
ll (0

.2m
)

D
ro

p K
e
rb

D
ro

p K
e
rb

D
ro

p
 K

e
rb

D
ro

p
 K

e
rb

D
ro

p
 K

e
rb

 

D
ro

p K
e

rb

D
ro

p
 K

e
rb

D
ro

p
 K

e
rb

D
ro

p
 K

e
rb

A
s
p

h
a

lt

A
sp

ha
lt

B
L
A

C
K

L
A

N
D

S
 R

O
A
D

O/H
 Tele

O/H Tele

D
K

Tre
e C

anopy

Tre
e C

anopy

T
re

e C
a
n
o
py

T
re

e C
a
no

p
y

Hed
ge

S
tone W

all

BW
F

P
LF

(1
.8

m
)

B
lo

ck W
all(0

.8m
)

C
B
F
(1

.8
m

)

P
LF

(1
.8

m
)

P
&

W
(1m

)

C
B
F
(1

.5
m

)

C
B
F

(1
.6

m
)

C
B
F

(1
.8

m
)

B
W

F
P

L
F
(1

.8
m

)

F
oo

tp
ath

Private Garden

Private Garden

36

1

73

2

1

2

14

10

footpath

26

20

fo
o
tp

a
th

fo
o
tp

a
th

B
L
A

C
K

L
A

N
D

S
 R

O
A

D

4
5
0
E

5
0
0
E

5
5
0
E

6
0
0
E

450N

450N

500N

500N

550N

550N

1

16

17

2

2

4

5

11

11

10

10

12

12

13

13

16

9

8

7

6

17

15

14

14

9

8

6

7

15

1

v

v

v

v

W W

W

W

Lawn

Tarmac

Block

Paving

W

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

E

E

F

F

F

F

F

F

BS

CS

BS

BS

BS

BS

BS

BS

BS

BS

BS

BS

BS

BS

BS

BS

CS

CS

CS

CS

CS

CS

CS

CS

CS

CS

CS

CS

CS

CS

dk

dk

Tarmac

Tarmac

Site

Access

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 L
in

k

2

2 3

3

3

3

Proposed new

900mm high CBF
Proposed new

600mm high Knee

Rail Fence

Proposed new

600mm high Knee

Rail Fence

Proposed new

1.8M high CBF

Existing Screen

Boundary Planting

Open

Fields

Open

Fields

Existing Screen

Boundary Planting

WESTFIELD ROAD

fo
o
tp

a
th

fo
o
tp

a
th

fo
o
tp

a
th

2
Lawn

3
Lawn

4
Lawn

5
Lawn 6

Lawn

7
Lawn

8
Lawn

9
Lawn

10
Lawn

11
Lawn

12
Lawn

13
Lawn

14
Lawn

15
Lawn

A

A

B

B

Vis-splay -

2.4m x 43m

Vis-splay -

2.4m x 43m

Rooflights to be Max

1.7M above FFL.

Traffic

Calming

• All drawings are copyright

• Report all discrepancies to project administrator

• Do not scale drawing for construction purposes

• All dimensions to be checked on site

Scale

Date

Drawn
Chkd

Job No
Drawing No

Rev

Project Title

Drawing Title

Ian Sullivan Architecture Ltd

101 Victoria Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN1 3BD.

Tel/Fax   01793 612663  -  E-mail:- ian.sullivan@btconnect.com

1 : 500 @ A2

1012 150

BPROPOSED SITE PLAN

Rev Date             D
escription

Client

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

SCALE 1:500

Blacklands Road

Benson

Oxfordshire

-

CE ISA Apr '16

Housetype Schedule:

A 1 Bed Bungalow
1 no

B 4 Bed House
2 no

C 2 Bed Bungalow
2 no

D 1 Bed Coach House 2 no

E 3 Bed House
4 no

F 2 Bed House
6 no

Total
17 no units

LEGEND

Area to be Tarmac

Note:

All footpaths, driveways and Parking bays

to be tarmac unless otherwise indicated

Area to be Block Paved

Proposed Tree Planting

Proposed Shrub

& Hedgerow Planting

Existing Trees to be removed

Rear Access Door

Front Access Door

Access Gate

Visitor Parking

V

1m Wide Block Setts

Denotes cycle stores

Denotes Bin Storage

Existing Trees to be retained

CS

BS

Area to be gravel

1.8m Screen Wall

1.8m Close Boarded Fence

600mm Knee Rail Fence
1.8m Panel Fence

Denotes Front & Rear Garden Area

Tactile Paving

A 18.05.16   Amended for comment.B 19.05.16   Amended for comment.

Brook Street

The Cedars

B
lacklands R

oad

Newton Way

B4009 -
 W

atlin
gton Road

W
estfield Road

Sands W
ay

Braze Lane

RAF Benson

00 50 100 150 200 250 M

P

P

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 24 May 2017

APPLICATION NO. P16/S4254/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 4.1.2017
PARISH WHEATLEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Toby Newman
APPLICANT Mr & Mrs Robinson
SITE 4A Farm Close Road, Wheatley OX33 1UQ
PROPOSAL Side extension to existing flatted block to provide two No. 

two bed flats. (4 No flats in total). 
Provision of 3 no. off street parking spaces with new 
highway access, secure cycle storage and bin enclosures 

AMENDMENTS  As amended by plan received 27 February 2017 
providing additional parking space - 3 spaces in total, 

 as amplified by updated block plan received 13 March 
2017 showing land ownership, and 

 contamination questionnaire received 16 March 2017)
GRID REFERENCE 459529/205576
OFFICER Katherine Canavan

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application was deferred from the Planning Committee on 26 April 2017 to allow 

for members to assess the proposal in relation to neighbouring properties. The 
member site visit is scheduled for 22 May 2017.

1.2 The application has been referred to Planning Committee because the officer’s 
recommendation conflicts with the views of the Parish Council. The objections raised 
are as follows:

 Lack of parking
 Insufficent distance between side elevation of 4a and 4b and neighbouring 

block 6a 6b, 8a and 8b

1.3 The application site is located within the built limits and in the southern area of 
Wheatley. The surrounding area is characterised by 1960s residential development.

1.4 Nos 4a and 4b (flats) face onto Farm Close Road, and are located close to the junction 
with Station Road and the Co-op shop. Nos 6a, 6b, 8a and 8b are orientated 
perpendicular to the street, although one of the accesses faces the street. The area 
between the buildings is laid to grass and adjoins the footpaths serving 6a and 6b and 
leading to the rear of 4a and 4b. Until recently a tree was located on the grassed area. 
Two off-street parking spaces are located to the side of 4a.

1.5 The site is identified on the OS extract attached at Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The applicant seeks full planning permission for two 2-bed flats (adjoining the flats 4a 

and 4b Farm Close Road). The application includes provision of 2 off-street parking 
spaces (with additional visitor space) with new highway access, secure cycle storage 
and bin enclosures.

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at 
Appendix 2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S4254/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 24 May 2017

inspection on the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Consultees Original plans and 

information 
(Jan 2017)

Additional comments regarding 
revisions and additional information 
(Mar 2017)

Wheatley Parish 
Council

Approved Parish Council request the application 
to be called in by ward cllr, and raise 
the following objections:
Lack of parking
Insufficent distance between side 
elevation and neighbouring block

Highways Liaison 
Officer 
(Oxfordshire 
County Council)

Holding objection:
Lack of parking
Relocation of cycle 
storage and refuse 
area needed
Relocation of lighting 
column needed

No strong views, subject to conditions:
Additional information clarifies historic 
and current parking situation
Additional parking space noted.

Health & 
Environment - 
Contaminated 
Land

Insufficent information 
– contamination 
questionnaire 
required.

No strong views - contamination 
questionnaire submitted.

3.1i Comments were received on the original plans and revised plans from 9 neighbour 
representatives, summarised below. The full responses can be viewed on the Council’s 
website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

Objections raised in response to original plans and information (Jan 17): 

Residential amenity
 Overlooking and loss of privacy to 6a, 6b, 8a, 8b, and 1b, 3b, 2.
 Impact on outlook for 6a, 6b, 8a, 8b, facing a large, blank flank wall
 Loss of light to adjacent properties and no. 3a

Overdevelopment
 Overdevelopment, resulting in cramped environment and concrete jungle
 Adverse impact on character of area, and loss of green space
 No other properties with such a relationship in the nearby area
 Piecemeal development – should be progressed as a coherent approach 

across the village
 The development is not sustainable when considering all aspects
 Negates positive design and open space intended in original 1960s 

development
 The development does not respect neighbouring occupants; is not of high 

quality design; and would create unacceptable living conditions

Parking pressure
 Pressure on parking – on-street parking is at capacity
 Conflict with traffic calming measure near junction
 Parking pressure associated with nearby Co-op
 The 2 spaces already exist, so no new parking is being added
 Further extension to the kerb would reduce on-street parking

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 24 May 2017

Other matters
 Insufficent detail on plans to assess the impact between dwellings – 

streetscene plan required
 Inadequate consultation and lack of notification
 Pressure on utilities and services – there are frequent water / sewerage 

issues in this area
 Disruption and parking pressure during construction period
 Remedial work that may be required following removal of willow tree
 Request for drainage details
 Loss of value to neighbouring properties

Objections raised in response to revisions and additional information (Mar 17): 

Parking pressure
 Parking concerns as previously stated – revisions do not address concerns
 Conflict with traffic calming measure at a pinch-point in the road and on a 

busy junction
 Further extension to the kerb to accommodate the third space would reduce 

on-street parking and impact highway safety (alongside traffic calming)
 There is no possibility of increasing parking on-site – the development would 

only result in increased parking pressure to the area
 The impact and number of vehicles on Farm Close Road has materially 

altered since the 1960s, and so many of the integral garages have been 
converted to living accommodation

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P16/S2800/HH - Approved (14/10/2016)

Erection of single storey rear extension.

P16/S1314/PEM – Pre-application response provided (01/07/2016)
Erection of two storey side extension to provide additional 2 no apartments. Off street 
parking and secure bin/bike stores. 

P11/W0441 - Approved (18/05/2011)
Gravel hardstanding for two vehicles

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies

CS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1 – The overall strategy
CSR1 – Housing in villages
CSQ3 – Design

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan policies
G2 – Protect district from adverse development
H4 – Proposals for houses
D1 – Design
D2 – Parking provision
D3 – Plot coverage and garden areas
D4 – Privacy and overlooking
T1 – Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 – Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 South Oxfordshire Design Guide

Page 33

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2800/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1314/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P11/W0441


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 24 May 2017

5.4 Neighbourhood Plan
Wheatley Parish Council are in the process of preparing a Neighbourhood Plan, and 
have formally designated the NP area. The plan is in an early stage and has limited 
weight. 

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The key considerations in determining the application are:

 Principle of residential development
 Impact on neighbouring occupants
 Highways and parking provision
 Additional matters

6.2 Principle of residential development
6.2i The application site is located in the built-up area of the settlement, and within an area 

predominantly characterised by residential development. Wheatley is categorised as a 
‘larger village’ in the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, and a sustainable location 
where limited infill development is appropriate. In establishing the principle of 
residential development on the site, consideration has been given to policy CSR1 of 
the SOCS. In assessing the detail of the proposal, consideration is given to policy H4 
of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan. 

6.2ii Policy H4 permits housing on sites within the built up areas of the four main towns and 
within the built-up areas of villages provided that:
i) an important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, 

nor an important public view spoilt;
The proposal site comprises an area of land between the buildings housing nos 
4a and 4b, and 6a, 6b, 8a and 8b – part of the land is in the ownership of 4A. The 
area is laid to grass and adjoins the footpaths serving 6a and 6b and leading to 
the rear of 4a and 4b. Until recently a tree was located on the grassed area. The 
site is within an area characterised by residential development.
While the grassed area provides a clear division between dwellings and is visible 
within the public realm, it is not an important space of public value, or 
environmentally significant, and the development of part of the green area would 
not result in an important public view being spoilt. 

ii) the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in 
keeping with its surroundings;

iii) the character of the area is not adversely affected;
The height and scale of the addition is consistent with that of 4a and 4b, and the 
design is similar in appearance and proportions to other dwellings in the nearby 
area. The floorspace of the proposed units is comparable to other flats in the 
immediate area, and the roof mirrors the style of no. 2 on the opposite end. In 
order to integrate the addition effectively it is recommended that a condition 
requires materials match those of 4a, 4b and 2.
There are no area or character designations that require a particular design to be 
followed in development terms, and the proposal does not introduce elements or 
design features that conflict with the character of the surrounding residential area.

iv) there are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections; and
Residential amenity is considered in section 6.3.
Highway implications and parking standards are addressed in section 6.4.

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 24 May 2017

11.95m

6.9m

11.6m

v) if the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create problems of 
privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of the settlement.
The proposal is not considered to be backland development as it fronts directly 
onto the street and adjoins a side elevation of 4a and 4b.

6.3 Impact on neighbouring occupants
6.3i Policies D4 and H4 of the SOLP consider the development’s impact on the residential 

amenity of neighbouring occupants. 
6.3ii

Nos 6a, 6b, 8a and 8b are orientated perpendicular to the street and all have habitable 
rooms on the western elevation (facing the side of 4a and 4b), although the entrances 
face the street / the rear of the site. The development presents a side-to-front 
relationship with 4a / 4b.

The South Oxfordshire Design Guide, 7.14, requires that applicants check that ‘back to 
back distances are a minimum of 25 metres; back to side are a minimum of 12 metres; 
front to front a minimum of 10 metres […]’. 

In this case, if a front-to-front arrangement had been proposed, a minimum distance of 
10m would meet the requirements - the proposed development has a greater distance 
than this. A rear-to-side relationship (where there is a greater need for rear garden 
space to be safeguarded) requires 12m – the grassed area is not private space and is 
visible within the public environment. Therefore the distance, which is slightly below 
12m, does not present a risk to loss of privacy or conflict with the South Oxfordshire 
Design Guide.

6.3iii The proposal includes one ground floor and one upper floor window on the side 
elevation (facing 8a and 8b) and serving kitchenettes. The separation distance is 
sufficient to safeguard the residential amenity of neighbouring occupants.   

6.4 Highways and parking provision
6.4i The South Oxfordshire Local Plan – Appendix 5, and policy D2 of the SOLP, set out 

the car parking standards for residential developments. Two spaces are required for 
dwellings with 2 bedrooms, and are required to meet the dimensions specified in the 
South Oxfordshire Design Guide of 2.5m wide by 5m long.

6.4ii The Highway Authority initially raised a holding 
objection to the scheme due to the existing 
flats not having dedicated off-street parking. 
Having re-assessed the proposal the objection 
was revoked on the following grounds:

Page 35



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 24 May 2017

 The original development P62/M0464 
(2 houses and 18 flats) provided parking in the form of on-street bays and 
garages, but no off-street parking or allocated spaces. 

 Within this context, 4a, 4b, 6a, 6b, 8a and 8b do not have dedicated on-site 
parking provided as part of the original development, but have access to garages 
off-site. This is consistent with other 
residential properties within the 
development.

 In 2011, 4a was granted permission for 2 
parking spaces to the side. This was 
requested for convenience, and not to 
respond to any development 
requirement or a need to meet planning 
policy requirements.

 Parking standards indicate that a 
maximum of two spaces should be 
provided for a two bedroom unit, with the parking situation for the existing 
dwellings remaining unchanged, ie. no loss of parking. However, given the 
sustainable nature of the site in terms of walking, cycling and public transport 
opportunities and in its proximity to the village centre the Highways Officer 
advised this could be reduced to one space per unit.

 The scheme provides two spaces to serve flats 3 and 4, to respond to the likely 
needs of two new households, associated with the two new units. Flats 1 and 2 
(existing) would have no dedicated parking, which equates to the same impact of 
the original development. 

 One additional visitor space has been provided to the front of 4A. This approach 
is welcomed but not required to meet parking standard requirements.

6.4iii While it is recognised that the residential area is often busy, particularly in the 
evenings and early mornings, and that visitors to the nearby shop add to the pressure 
for spaces in the immediate area, for the reasons set out above there are insufficient 
grounds to insist on additional parking, over and above the two required spaces (plus 
additional visitor space). The Highways Officer has confirmed that the level of parking 
meets policy requirements within a sustainable location, and has raised no objections.

6.5 Additional matters
6.5i Private amenity space

Minimum standards for new residential development are recommended in the South 
Oxfordshire Design Guide and in Policy D3 of the Local Plan but allow for shared 
amenity space. A minimum of 50 square metres of private garden area would be 
required for each of the proposed two bed dwellings; the two existing units would 
remain as 2-bed flats.

Following the division of the plot, and taking into account the planning permission for a 
conservatory (adjoining 4a), the remaining area of 235sqm would be split between the 
four dwellings. While the ground floor flats would have private enclosed space, and the 
upper floors would have shared space, this arrangement is not unusual for flats, and 
provides an average of 58sqm each. The strip of land within the same ownership 
allows for access to the shared space without having to go through the building, and 
allows practical access to the bike store. This layout meets the policy requirement 
relating to amenity space in residential developments.

6.5ii Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) liability 
The CIL charge applied to new build residential development is £156 per square metre 

Page 36

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P62/M0464


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 24 May 2017

(as per indexing figure January 2017) in Wheatley. 15% of the CIL payment will go 
directly to Wheatley Parish Council (in the absence of an adopted Neighbourhood 
Plan) for spending towards local projects.

In this case the development would result in the provision of 118sqm of new 
residential floorspace. The relevant forms have been submitted to allow the Council to 
collect the CIL payment.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1i Your officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the proposed 

development is considered to be acceptable for the following reasons:

7.1ii The proposal for two flats within the built limits of a sustainable village accords with 
housing policy and the principle of residential development in this location is 
acceptable. The scale, height, location and design of the development is consistent 
with that of residential development in the immediate area. The proposal sufficiently 
safeguards residential amenity of neighbouring occupants, and is at a scale that is 
appropriate to the plot and neighbouring buildings. The level of parking provided 
conforms with the parking standards in the Development Plan.

Subject to conditions, the proposal accords with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012) and National Planning Practice Guidance (2014), South Oxfordshire 
Core Strategy (2012), South Oxfordshire Local Plan (Saved policies, 2011) and the 
South Oxfordshire Design Guide (2016).

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions:

1. Work to commence within three years.
2. In accordance with plans.
3. Materials to match existing, or otherwise agreed in writing.
4. Parking as indicated on plans. 
5. Boundary treatment and amenity space to be set out prior to occupation.

Author: Katherine Canavan
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix 2

P
age 40



P
age 41



11.95m

11.6m

6.9m

A
B

A
B

A
B4 2

P
age 42



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

APPLICATION NO. P16/S3284/O
APPLICATION TYPE OUTLINE
REGISTERED 3.10.2016
PARISH CHINNOR
WARD MEMBERS Lynn Lloyd

Ian White
APPLICANT Persimmon Homes
SITE Land South of Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor OX39 

4HN
PROPOSAL Outline planning application for erection of up to 140 

dwellings, new public open space, associated 
landscaping and site infrastructure.  All matters 
reserved.

AMENDMENTS As amended by plans and additional information 
accompanying Agents letter dated 21 December 
2016.

OFFICER Emma Bowerman

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the officer’s 

recommendation conflicts with the views of Chinnor Parish Council.

1.2 This application was deferred from the planning committee meeting on 1 March 2017 
for two reasons:
- For councillors of the committee to visit the site and consider the landscape 

impact of the development (carried out on 24 April). 
- For the Head of the Planning Service to bring together the developers / 

landowners of the three sites to the south of Greenwood Avenue to discuss how 
the sites can be better integrated into the local area, with a vehicular access 
linking the three sites.  
 

1.3 The Head of the Planning Service has now chaired a meeting with representatives 
from the three development sites.  All parties agreed as a point of principle that it is 
sensible for existing and future residents to be able to access between the three 
housing sites, which will better integrate the developments into the village.  It was 
agreed that improving permeability would demonstrate good planning and urban 
design best practice.

1.4 The following actions were agreed at the meeting:
1. Bellway Homes and Persimmon Homes would meet to reopen discussions / 

negotiations to achieve a vehicular access between their housing sites. 
2. Persimmon Homes and Taylor Wimpey (with the inclusion of an additional 

landowner) would meet to negotiate and seek to achieve vehicular access 
between their housing sites.

3. The relevant parties would feedback progress and direction of discussions 
before the planning committee meeting on 24 May so an update can be 
provided to councillors.  

1.5 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) is 
positioned to the south of Chinnor and is the middle of the three fields between the 
rear of Greenwood Avenue and the Chinnor and Princes Risborough heritage railway 

Page 43

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3284/O


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

line.  The recent residential development at the former Cement Works is located to the 
other side of the railway line.  

1.6 The site is 3.9 hectares in area and is currently used as an agricultural field.  The two 
fields either side are also currently in agricultural use but both have planning 
permission for residential developments.  The council refused applications for the 
development of both of these fields but appeals were allowed in October 2015.  The 
field to the east of the application site has detailed planning permission for 80 
dwellings.  The field to the west of the application site has outline planning permission 
for up to 120 dwellings. 

1.7 The site is currently accessed by a single track off Greenwood Avenue.  The site does 
not fall within any areas of special designation.  

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This is an outline application for planning permission for up to 140 dwellings, new public 

open space including a children’s play area, associated landscaping and site 
infrastructure.  All matters are reserved for later consideration.  

2.2 This application is made in parallel with a separate submission for the construction of 
an access road via Greenwood Avenue.  This is considered under application reference 
P16/3285/FUL and is the next item on the agenda.  

2.3 The access parameter plan shows three potential access points to the site from the 
neighbouring developments and one from the demolition of No.s 17 and 19 Greenwood 
Avenue to allow for the formation of a new access road onto Greenwood Avenue. The 
application documents advise that these options are reliant on negotiations between 
the different parties.   

2.4 The proposed homes would be predominantly two storeys in height with occasional two 
and a half storey buildings in feature locations.  The housing mix outlined in the 
application is as follows:

Market Affordable TOTAL
I bed 0 6 6
2 bed 37 31 68
3 bed 37 18 55
4 bed 9 0 9

TOTAL 83 55 138

2.5 Amended plans were received during the application process to address some of the 
comments made by the urban design officer, Parish Council and local residents.  The 
changes to the indicative layout include longer gardens on the plots along the northern 
boundary, the pumping station has been moved slightly, and a mixture of car ports and 
garages would be used.  The original plans showed a cul-de-sac to the eastern side of 
the site and the amended plans have changed the layout to incorporate a through road.  

2.6 An indicative layout plan and some of the parameter plans submitted with the 
application are attached as Appendix B.  The application is accompanied by a number 
of supporting documents and these are available to view on the council’s website at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk.

Page 44

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Chinnor Parish Council 

Original plans – Recommend refusal as overdevelopment and not in keeping with area.  
Unimaginative design.  Statement from neighbouring appeal decisions confirms a green 
field in centre.  Carports required not garages.  

Amended plans – Recommend refusal due to stress on local road network during 
construction works and additional traffic movements post completion.  Cumulative 
impact with additional developments already approved representing a significant 
increase in risk to road users and pedestrians.  Roads will become rat runs.  Hazardous 
mix of additional vehicles and pick-up of school children.  

Commented that the risks will be mitigated and much of the impact reduced if the 
suggested route through the three developments can be secured.  

3.2 Oxfordshire County Council Highways  
No objection subject to conditions and obligations.

3.3 Oxfordshire County Council Infrastructure 
No objection subject to funding from the Community Infrastructure Levy towards 
necessary mitigation of schools, library, day care, museum and waste management.  

3.4 Oxfordshire County Council Archaeology  
No objection subject to conditions requiring an archaeological written scheme of 
investigation and programme of archaeological evaluation and mitigation.  

3.5 Thames Water
No objection subject to conditions to secure a drainage strategy for on and off site 
drainage works and impact studies of the water supply to determine the magnitude of 
any additional capacity.

3.6 Drainage consultant (Monson) 
No objection subject to conditions to secure suitable foul and surface water drainage.

3.6 Housing Development Officer
No objection subject to appropriate affordable housing mix being secured through the 
legal agreement. 

3.7 Urban Design Officer 

Original plans – Provided recommendations on how the layout of the development can 
be improved.  

Amended plans – A number of issues addressed in the amended plans and 
recommended that other issues are picked up at reserved matters stage.  

3.8 Forestry Officer 
No objection subject to conditions to secure appropriate tree protection and 
landscaping. 

3.9 Countryside Officer 
No objection subject to conditions to secure a reptile mitigation strategy and a 
biodiversity enhancement strategy.  

Page 45



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

3.10 Conservation Officer 
No objection subject to appropriate design details at reserved matters stage.  

3.11 Environmental Health and Air Quality Officer 
Raised concern in terms of the air quality impacts of the development for both the 
original submission and the additional details provided with the amended plans.  Also 
raised concern regarding the impact of the activities of the adjoining railway on future 
residents of the site.  Confirmed that although it is regrettable that these matters were 
not fully addressed in the application submission, that these issue would not warrant 
refusal of the application and could be addressed through suitable conditions.  The 
relevant conditions relate to noise, odour and pollutant mitigation to protect future 
residents from the activities of the railway and the approval of air quality mitigation 
measures.  

3.12 Contaminated Land Officer 
No objection subject to conditions to secure a phased contaminated land assessment 
and any required mitigation.  

3.13 Leisure Officer 
No objection as sport and leisure contributions will be made through CIL regulations.  

3.14 Waste Management Officer 
Provided guidance on the waste service provided by the council.  

3.15 Neighbour Representations 
13 Received in objection to the original consultation raising the following concerns:

- Overdevelopment of village 
- The green field should be kept to prevent overdevelopment 
- Development of this site would call into legal question the two other sites
- Chinnor has already accepted too many homes 
- Unacceptable increase in size of village 
- Not a sustainable development – residents will drive to village amenities 
- Development out of character and would dominate skyline
- Infrastructure already at crisis point  
- Increased flood risk 
- Impact on highway safety 
- Cumulative impact of additional traffic detrimental to village
- Further congestion on roads
- Misleading and inaccurate information in transport assessment
- Surrounding streets not designed for that level of development 
- Lack of footpath and cycle way connectivity
- Inconvenience to residents during demolition works
- Impact on air quality / health 
- Proximity of pumping station and possible impact on health and safety 
- Loss of a view 

8 Received in objection to the amended consultation raising the following concerns:

- Green space should be left as this is a reason why the appeals either side were 
allowed

- Not within Chinnor Neighbourhood Plan 
- Infrastructure provisions are inadequate
- Spoil the character of the area
- Layout regimented and unsuitable for a village development 

Page 46



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

- Overcrowded in comparison to other sites
- Impact on highway safety 
- Exacerbate existing parking problems
- Creation of rat runs
- Too many unknowns about the roads linking up
- Noise and disturbance from additional traffic 
- Inconvenience to local residents
- Impact on neighbours – light, privacy and enjoyment of gardens
- Erode village life

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 None directly relevant to this application site.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

5.2 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

5.3 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSC1  -  Delivery and contingency
CON13  -  Archaeological investigation recording & publication
CON12  -  Archaeological field evaluation
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSG1   -  Green infrastructure
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision
CSM1  -  Transport
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSQ3  -  Design
CSQ4  -  Design briefs for greenfield neighbourhoods and major development sites
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.4 South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D6  -  Community safety
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP4  -  Impact on water resources
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
EP7  -  Impact on ground water resources
EP8  -  Contaminated land
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development

Page 47



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

G4  -  Protection of Countryside
R2  -  Provision of play areas on new housing development
R6  -  Public open space in new residential development
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.5 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016
This guide sets out the standard that we expect developments to meet through a series 
of checklists which relate to key design principles.  

5.6 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2032
The council is preparing a new Local Plan, which will set out how development will be 
planned and delivered across South Oxfordshire to 2032.  The consultation on the 
second ‘Preferred Options’ for the emerging Local Plan closed on 17 May 2017.  The 
Preferred Options provides draft allocations for strategic development sites.  With the 
exception of Crowmarsh Gifford and Nettlebed, the plan proposes to devolve the 
delivery of houses in villages to the Neighbourhood Plan process.   

5.7 Emerging Chinnor Neighbourhood Plan 
Chinnor Parish Council have recently submitted their draft Neighbourhood Plan to us.  
The six week consultation on the draft Neighbourhood Plan finished on 21 March 2017.  
The draft Neighbourhood Plan, supporting documents and comments received will now 
be considered by an independent examiner.  

5.8 Environmental Impact Assessment
This proposal does not exceed 150 dwellings, the site area is under 5ha and is not 
within a ‘sensitive area’ as defined by the EIA regulations.  Consequently the proposal 
is beneath the thresholds set in Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011.  Although below the relevant 
thresholds, the proposal was screened under application reference P16/S0617/SCR in 
March 2016 due to the potential cumulative impact of developments in Chinnor. The 
decision was that an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required as the majority 
of issues are considered to be of local significance only and can be examined through 
the normal planning process.    

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application are:

 The principle of the development, including:
- how the development of the site fits with the council’s spatial strategy,
- the council’s housing land supply position,
- the level of compliance with the emerging Neighbourhood Plan,
- the cumulative impact of the developments in Chinnor.

 Matters of detail / technical issues, including:
- affordable housing and housing mix,
- highway safety, traffic impact and parking
- landscape impact,
- trees and ecology,
- design and layout, 
- neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents,
- flood risk and surface / foul drainage,
- environmental matters (air quality and contamination)
- heritage impact

Page 48



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

 Infrastructure requirements, including:
- on-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement,
- contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy. 

6.2

The principle of the development 

How the development of the site fits with the council’s spatial strategy

Chinnor is identified as a larger village within the SOCS.  Policy CSS1 of the SOCS 
sets out the overall distribution strategy for the district and this includes supporting and 
enhancing the larger villages as local service centres.  This distribution strategy is 
followed through in Policy CSR1 which addresses housing in the villages and indicates 
that sites will be allocated for housing in the larger villages and that there would be no 
limit on infill development in these settlements.

6.3 The application site falls beyond the built up limits of the village.  It is not closely 
surrounded by buildings or a small gap in an otherwise built-up frontage.  It does not 
represent an infill development.  It is also not a site allocated for housing.  The 
development therefore conflicts with the development plan, insofar as it does not meet 
with the policy CSR1 criteria against which proposals for development beyond the built-
up limits of larger villages are assessed.  

6.4 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. One such material 
consideration, of notable importance, is the NPPF. 

6.5

The council’s housing land supply position

To significantly boost the supply of housing, the NPPF requires local planning 
authorities to identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites 
sufficient to provide five years worth of housing against their housing requirements.  
This supply should include an additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition 
in the market for land.  Alternatively, where there has been persistent under delivery of 
housing, the buffer should increase to 20% to provide a realistic prospect of achieving 
the planned supply.    

6.6 The most recent evidence base that informs the council’s housing requirements is the 
2014 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).  To meet the identified housing 
need for the district, the SHMA mid-point is 755 homes per annum.  This is a sizable 
uplift from the requirement for 547 homes per annum set out in the SOCS.   

6.7 Based on the evidence in the SHMA and past delivery, the council has a housing land 
supply in the region of 3.9 years (including the 20% buffer for under delivery).  The 
council cannot therefore currently demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing 
sites.  Of relevance to this position are a number of appeal decisions that have been 
allowed in the past two years1.  In each case, the council’s housing land supply was 
discussed in detail at public inquiries and the Inspectors concluded that the council 
cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites. 

6.8 Para.49 of the NPPF specifies that relevant policies for the supply of housing should 

1 Land at Winterbrook, Wallingford (P15/S0191/FUL), Land North of Lower Icknield Way, Chinnor 
(P15/S0154/O), Land to the east of Newington Road, Stadhampton (P14/S4105/O) and High Street, 
Tetsworth (P14/S3524/O).

Page 49



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-
year supply of deliverable housing sites.  Para.14 adds that where relevant policies are 
out of date, planning permission should be granted unless
- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole;
or specific policies in the Framework indicate development should be restricted.

6.9 This means that the policies for the supply of housing in the SOCS are given 
significantly less weight.  Applications for housing should now be considered in the 
context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development and should be 
permitted unless there is planning harm that outweighs the benefit of providing new 
housing.  

6.10

The level of compliance with the emerging Neighbourhood Plan

Chinnor Parish Council are progressing with their Neighbourhood Plan, for which the 
six week consultation closed on 21 March 2017.  The draft Neighbourhood Plan will 
now be subject to an independent examination, and possible modification, before 
progressing through to a referendum.  The Neighbourhood Plan sets out a strategy and 
land-use planning framework to guide development within Chinnor for the next 15 
years.  

6.11 The draft Neighbourhood Plan acknowledges that the delivery of new residential 
development in Chinnor is a complex and emerging picture with the potential for the 
delivery of over 700 new dwellings in the Plan period.  The application is referenced as 
a site that is currently being considered by SODC and is one of the sites that makes up 
the calculation of 700 homes.  

6.12 Given the level of development that has been approved, or for which there are current 
applications under consideration, the draft Neighbourhood Plan does not propose any 
additional housing allocations.  Although the site is not allocated for housing in the draft 
Plan, it is recognised as a site that could contribute towards the housing numbers in the 
village.  

6.13 I note that only limited weight can be attributed to the draft Plan at the current time as it 
is not yet at an advanced stage.  As such, only limited weight could be attributed to any 
conflict with the draft Plan.  Therefore the main issue to be taken into account in the 
determination of this application is still whether any harm that would arise from the 
development would be so significant and demonstrable that it would outweigh the 
benefits of the increase in housing.  

6.14

The cumulative impact of the developments in Chinnor

The level of growth within and around Chinnor over the Plan period will inevitably 
increase the demands placed on local infrastructure, services and facilities.  
Considerable concern has been raised by some residents in Chinnor in relation to the 
capacity of local infrastructure to accommodate further homes.  

6.15 The cumulative impact of the developments within Chinnor is a matter that has been 
considered as each application has come forward and we have taken advice from our 
consultees in relation to the impact on the capacity of the drainage system, highways 
network and school provision.  The consultees that specialise in these matters (Thames 
Water and the County Council) have not raised any objection and have recommended 
solutions to help address capacity issues.  

Page 50



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

6.16 Given that the consultees that specialise in these fields have not raised an objection in 
relation to drainage, transport and education, there is no available evidence to 
demonstrate that Chinnor cannot accommodate the level of growth proposed.  This 
does not mean that Chinnor has infinite capacity to accommodate even more homes 
and if any further applications come forward, the cumulative impacts of the 
developments within and around Chinnor will need to be assessed again.  

6.17

Matters of detail / technical issues

Affordable housing and housing mix

The application documents state that 40 percent of the homes would be would be 
affordable and this complies with policy CSH3 of the SOCS.  The council’s housing 
development team have confirmed that the proposed mix would meet local needs and 
reflects the significant demand for two bedroom affordable homes following the 
Government Welfare reform and the changes for eligibility for Housing Benefit.  

6.18 The provisions of the legal agreement would secure a tenure mix of 25 percent shared 
ownership and 75 percent affordable rent.  The council’s housing development team 
have requested that four of the three bed homes have a capacity for six bed spaces 
(minimum of 96 sq.m) and this can also be secured through the legal agreement.  
Where 40 percent would result in a ‘part’ unit a commuted sum would be payable in 
lieu.  

6.19 The affordable units would be distributed throughout the development and a Section 
106 legal agreement would require the units to be built “tenure blind” in respect of 
external design and features so they are materially indistinguishable from the general 
market housing.  Subject to the completion of a S106 to secure the affordable housing 
provision, I consider that the scheme is acceptable in this respect and complies with the 
relevant policies.  

6.20 In terms of the market mix, the market housing mix from the SHMA and the application 
proposal are summarised in the table below. 

Market homes 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed
SHMA 6% 27% 43% 24%
Application proposal 0% 44.5% 44.5% 11%

Although not strictly in accordance with the SHMA mix, the proposal would provide for a 
high number of two bed homes, with less emphasis on larger homes.  I support this 
approach as we often see developments that are weighted heavily towards larger 
homes.  The neighbouring development to the east provided a much higher percentage 
of larger homes and so overall, the two sites together would provide for a greater range 
of house sizes to meet the needs of different groups in the community.  

6.21 Overall, the mix of homes would deliver a wide choice, in accordance with SOCS policy 
CSH4.  The market mix should be secured by condition to inform the reserved matters 
application.

6.22

Highway safety, traffic impact and parking

This application is an outline application with all matters reserved and this includes 
access.  Access is therefore not a matter to be considered under this application.  The 
applicant has submitted a separate application with just the access to Greenwood 
Avenue.  This is the next application on the agenda, under application reference 

Page 51



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

P16/S3285/FUL.  

6.23 This application therefore contains no details of the access and instead provides an 
access parameter plan showing access points from the two development sites either 
side and also from Greenwood Avenue.  The highway matters to be considered are 
whether the traffic movements from the site would be acceptable and whether there is 
acceptable space within the site to provide an appropriate level of parking.  

6.24 The County Council Highways Officer has raised no objection to the application subject 
to the imposition of conditions and the completion of a legal agreement to secure site 
specific highways infrastructure.  In coming to this conclusion, the highways officer has 
taken account of the other developments in and around the village and is aware that 
Greenwood Avenue is one way at the narrow end and cannot be accessed from B4009.

6.25 The highways officer has commented that:
The proposed dwellings will add to pressures on local infrastructure such as the 
highway network. The submitted transport assessment estimates the trip generation 
and examines its impact upon the local highway network. The assessment is fair in 
its appraisal. Subject to appropriate travel planning and provision of sustainable 
transport infrastructure, I am satisfied the impact of development traffic would not be 
reason for refusal, which in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
requires any such impact to be severe.

6.26 The site is a sustainable location with a range of shops, services and transport links 
available within walking distance.  The County Council have requested a contribution 
towards public transport to support the bus service and also a contribution towards bus 
stop infrastructure improvements.  A contribution is also required towards monitoring a 
travel plan.  These can be secured through the provisions of a legal agreement and are 
outlined in the relevant part of the report below.  

6.27 I am satisfied that there is sufficient space on site to accommodate a level of parking 
that would accord with the council’s parking standards.  To enable the three 
development sites to be linked up, it would be necessary to secure an unfettered 
access up to both side boundaries of the site and this is best secured through the 
provisions of a section 106 legal agreement.  Subject to the completion of a legal 
agreement and imposition of conditions, this proposal is acceptable in terms of highway 
matters.  

6.28

Landscape impact

The text accompanying policy CSEN1 of the SOCS explains that there will be some 
further development on the edge of our settlements and that we will take account of 
and seek to reduce the impact of development on the environment.  Policy C4 of the 
SOLP advises that development that would damage the attractive landscape setting of 
settlements will not be permitted.  

6.29 The Inspector who allowed the development of the two fields that adjoin the application 
site made reference to the application site in both of her decisions.  When considering 
the landscape impact of the two developments, the Inspector commented that:

Together, both developments would cover a larger area of green space on the 
periphery of Chinnor, would extend into the countryside and together would diminish 
its rural landscaped setting. However, as that proposed development would be 
separated from the appeal development by a large field, some green space would 
still penetrate the settlement, which would reduce the harm identified. Additionally, 
that development would include an area of open space to its south, open space 

Page 52



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

within it, it would relate appropriately to the existing village envelope, would retain 
much of the existing planting and include new planting. Whilst these matters would 
reduce the harm to the open countryside, and the setting of Chinnor, some additional 
harm would still arise as a result of both developments.

6.30 The Inspector referred to the site as providing some mitigation against the landscape 
harm of the two developments on the fields either side of the application site.  In my 
opinion, the Inspector did not look at the wider picture and appreciate that by allowing 
the two fields either side of the site to be developed the result would be an agricultural 
field in an urban setting.  

6.31 Once the developments on the fields either side are built, the application site would 
have modern housing developments on three sides and 1950’s semi-detached homes 
on the fourth.  The result would be that the application site would effectively become a 
large infill site and if retained as a field, would be somewhat of an anomaly given its 
context.  On this basis, I consider that the contribution that this site makes to the rural 
landscaped setting of Chinnor is limited.

6.32 The visual impact of the development would be mitigated by allowing for tree planting to 
break up the built form.  A sensitive treatment of the development edge would also help 
to assimilate the built development into its setting.  Suitable landscaping can be 
secured under a condition and will need to be provided at reserved matters stage.  

6.33 This is a site that is well contained by the existing built form of Chinnor and would not 
extend the settlement footprint into the wider landscape.  In my opinion this is a suitable 
site for a housing development and would not result in any significant harm to the 
landscape setting of Chinnor.  

6.34

Trees and ecology 

The proposal would require the removal of a small number of trees and also some 
works close to other trees.  The trees that would be removed as a result of the 
development are not of sufficient arboricultural value to be considered a constraint to 
the development.  With suitable tree protection measures the impact on the retained 
trees would be minimal and as such, I have no objection to the proposal on 
arboricultural grounds.  

6.35 A reserved matters application would need to include a landscape planting scheme that 
includes larger long lived trees made up of a variety of species to ensure a diverse and 
robust tree scape.  The long term management of the landscaping would also need to 
be secured and I have recommended conditions to cover these matters.    

6.36 With regards to ecology, the application was accompanied by surveys which show that 
the site supports a population of slow-worm.  The surrounding sites were also found to 
support slow-worms and the council’s countryside officer has considered the cumulative 
impact on this protected species.  Subject to a condition to secure an appropriate 
strategy for the translocation of these reptiles, the council’s countryside officer has no 
objection to the impact on slow worms.  

6.37 Bat activity surveys have shown that the boundary habitats are well used by common 
species of bats and it is therefore necessary that these habitats are protected and 
enhanced.  In order to ensure that the proposal achieves a no net loss of biodiversity I 
have recommended a condition requiring a biodiversity enhancement strategy.  This 
should include the provision of bat boxes and enhancements to boundary habitats.  

Page 53



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

6.38

Design and Layout

Securing a high quality design is a key aspect of sustainable development and the 
importance of securing good design is a theme that runs through national, local and 
Neighbourhood Plan policies.  New development should create a sense of place, 
optimise the potential of the site to accommodate development, respond to local 
character and create a safe and accessible environment.

6.39 The council’s urban design officer provided some advice on the plans originally 
submitted and a number of her comments have been addressed in the amended / 
additional information that was submitted during the application process.  The positive 
aspects of the design are that the layout is based on strong perimeter blocks and there 
are opportunities for a number of connections.   

6.40 The urban design officer has recommended that it would be preferable for the three 
sites to be developed together.  Given that the two sites either side have already been 
progressed, this would unfortunately not now be possible.  Although this is a missed 
opportunity, the three developers would provide some variety across the three sites in 
terms of house types and layout.  This would ensure that the overall development 
would not be uniform and would help with the legibility of the wider development. 

6.41 The development would be 35 dwellings per hectare, which reflects the higher 
proportion of smaller units on the site. In my opinion the overall level of built 
development on the site would be acceptable.  In terms of height, the central core of 
the development would be two and a half storey and, subject to appropriate details 
being secured at reserved matters stage, I consider this to be an acceptable approach.  
There would be two and a half and three storey buildings on the neighbouring site to 
the east and there are also higher buildings at the former Cement Works site.     

6.42 In my opinion the indicative layout achieves a balanced mix of house types to ensure 
some variety.  The layout would have a clear hierarchy of streets and the homes that 
front onto the front of the public open space would provide some natural surveillance of 
this area.  Based on the indicative plan and parameter plans submitted, I am satisfied 
that an appropriate layout can be secured at reserved matters stage.  

6.43 I consider that the scheme represents an appropriate response to the constraints and 
opportunities of the site and its surroundings.  I am satisfied that the scale of the 
development  would be appropriate to the context of the site and that the development 
would generally meet the design objectives of the NPPF and the development plan 
policies that seek to secure high quality developments.  

6.44

Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents

The indicative layout shows that a separation distance of at least 30m could be 
achieved between the rear of the new dwellings and the rear of the existing properties 
in Greenwood Avenue.  The South Oxfordshire Design Guide recommends a minimum 
back-to-back relationship of 25m and so they layout would be in excess of this 
standard.  

6.45 The indicative layout shows buildings closer to the rear boundary of Nos. 15 and 21 
Greenwood Avenue and if any windows are proposed in the side of these buildings in 
the reserved matters application, they would need to be obscure glazed.  As the 
gardens of Nos. 15 and 21 are long, I consider that there would be no adverse impact 
on these neighbours in terms of light and outlook.  I am satisfied that there is sufficient 
space on the site to enable a fixed layout to achieve the level of development on site 

Page 54



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

without adversely impacting on neighbouring properties in terms of light, outlook and 
privacy.  

6.46 The development would create more traffic movements and this would inevitably have 
some impact on existing residents in terms of noise and disturbance.  I do not consider 
that this would be unacceptable given that the proposal would involve a residential 
scheme alongside an existing residential development.  I have recommended a 
condition to restrict construction hours to ensure that the disturbance to neighbours 
during construction works is limited.   

6.47 In terms of the amenity of future occupiers of the site, the future residents would have 
the benefit of private or shared amenity space.  The public open space, would be 
accessible to all residents and occupiers of surrounding properties.  In my opinion the 
development would create an appropriate living environment for future residents.  

6.48

Flood risk and surface / foul drainage

The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (least probability of flooding) and as such, 
there are no objections to the development in relation to flood risk.  

6.49 As is now standard practice, a detailed scheme for the site would need to incorporate a 
Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS) compliant strategy to ensure that all surface water 
run-off is accommodated within the confines of the site and discharged in a controlled 
manner.  As required by the council’s drainage consultant, the details of this can be 
secured by condition.  

6.50 With regards to foul drainage, Thames Water have been unable to determine the waste 
water infrastructure needs of this development.  Thames Water therefore require the 
Applicant to carry out a drainage strategy detailing any on and off site drainage works 
that are required to implement this development.  This includes a clause that Thames 
Water will not accept any waste water into the public system until the works in the 
drainage strategy have been completed.

6.51 Thames Water have commented that the water supply infrastructure has insufficient 
capacity to meet the additional demands of the development and therefore also require 
impact studies of the water supply infrastructure.  These studies should determine the 
magnitude of any new additional capacity required in the system and a suitable 
connection point.

6.52 I have recommended that the conditions required by Thames Water and our drainage 
consultant are added to the outline planning consent.  This will require solutions to 
ensure that sufficient waste water and water supply infrastructure are available to 
accommodate the development.  

6.53

Environmental matters (air quality and contamination)

The proposed development runs along part of the Chinnor and Princes Risborough 
Railway (CPRR) track and is near to the railway’s maintenance and storage shed.   The 
activities of the railway have the potential to impact on future residents of the 
development in terms of noise, odour and pollutants.  

6.54 It is important to ensure that appropriate mitigation is secured to provide suitable living 
conditions for future residents and also to limit the potential for future residents to raise 
concerns with the railway activities.  To achieve this, conditions can be attached to 
secure appropriate mitigation and this could include acoustic barriers, specified glazing 

Page 55



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

details and mechanical ventilation.  

6.55 I note that the illustrative layout shows only a small number of properties located close 
to the railway line.  Furthermore, the issue of noise and odour from the CPRR line was 
a matter that was addressed through conditions for both of the adjoining sites.  This 
approach was agreed by a Planning Inspector and it would therefore be consistent to 
again attach conditions to address these issues.  

6.56 In terms of air quality, the council’s environmental health officer requested additional air 
quality modelling to be carried out and this work has not been undertaken.  Having 
discussed the matter with the council’s air quality officer, she has confirmed that the 
impact of air quality as a result of the development would not be significant and would 
not warrant refusal of the application.  

6.57 Based on the size of the proposed development, basic good practice design should be 
applied to this site in order to help mitigate against the air quality impacts and the 
potential cumulative effects of piecemeal developments, and to enable future proofing 
of the development.  I have recommended a condition requiring air quality mitigation 
measures to be agreed.  Mitigation measures can include measures such as electric 
vehicle charging points.  

6.58 With regards to contamination, the council’s contaminated land officer has considered 
the details that were submitted with the application and has no objection to the 
development subject to contaminated land conditions.  These require a phased risk 
assessment to include an investigation and any necessary remediation of the land.  

6.59

Heritage impact 

With regards to heritage impact, the council’s conservation officer has confirmed that 
the proposal would not harm the conservation area or any listed buildings in Chinnor.  
The County Archaeologist has commented that the site is located in an area of 
archaeological interest and has recommended conditions requiring a scheme of 
investigation and any necessary processing, research and analysis.  Subject to these 
conditions, I have no objection to the application on heritage grounds.  

6.60

Infrastructure requirements 

On-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement

On-site infrastructure can be secured through a legal agreement under S106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  A total of 18 percent of the site 
would be provided as open space and a children’s Local Area of Play (LAP) would be 
provided.  These can be secured through the legal agreement and a management 
company would be required to maintain the spaces.  

6.61 In accordance with the council’s S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document, the following additional financial contributions would be required towards 
on-site infrastructure:
- Provision of recycle bins - £170 per property (indicatively £23,800)
- Street naming and numbering - £107.80 per 10 dwellings (indicatively £1,509.20)
- Monitoring fee - £1,244.40

6.62 As required by the County highways officer, the following site specific highways 
contributions would also need to be secured under the S106:
- Public transport contribution - £1,032.26 per dwellings (indicatively £144,516). 

Page 56



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

- Bus stop infrastructure improvements - £27,722
- Costs of monitoring travel plan - £1,240

6.63 I consider that these contributions / obligations accord with policy CSI1 of the SOCS, 
which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and off-site 
infrastructure and services.  They accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF as they 
are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly 
related to the development and are fair and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.

6.64

Off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy

The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 1 April 2016.  With the 
exception of the affordable housing, any new build floor space is CIL liable at a rate of 
£150 per sq.m.  The floor area would be calculated at reserved matters stage, when the 
details of the development are provided.  The money collected through CIL can be 
pooled with contributions from other development sites to fund a wide range of off-site 
infrastructure to support growth, including schools, transport, community, leisure and 
health facilities.   

6.65 Under the CIL regulations, the Parish Council receive a proportion of CIL money.  If the 
Neighbourhood Plan is adopted before the last pre-commencement condition is 
discharged, the Parish Council would receive 25 percent of the CIL money collected 
from the development (as oppose to 15 percent without an adopted Neighbourhood 
Plan).  The Parish Council could chose to spend their proportion of CIL money on 
infrastructure projects that are priorities for the local community or could contribute 
towards strategic infrastructure.   

7.0 CONCLUSION AND PLANNING BALANCE
7.1 Para. 7 of the NPPF sets out the three dimensions to sustainable development: social, 

economic and environmental.  The benefits and harm of the development should be 
considered against these three strands of sustainable development.  Of most 
importance, the proposal would positively support the delivery of housing, including 
affordable housing, and there is a considerable need for market and affordable homes 
within our District.  The social benefits of providing much needed housing is a material 
consideration of significant weight.  
  

7.2 With regards to the economic dimension of sustainability, the Government has made 
clear its views that house building plays an important role in promoting economic 
growth.  In economic terms, the proposal would provide construction jobs and some 
local investment during construction, as well as longer term expenditure in the local 
economy.  I consider that moderate weight should be afforded to these benefits.  

7.3 In environmental terms, the proposal would have an impact on the character and 
appearance of the site and wider area.  Additional traffic as a result of the development 
would also inevitably have some environmental impacts.  Although these impacts weigh 
against the scheme, I have considered the overall impact on the landscape setting of 
the village to be acceptable and I consider that an appropriate layout could be 
achieved.  

7.4 The development would result in the loss of agricultural land.  However, some loss will 
be inevitable in order to secure the delivery of the levels of housing required. In 
addition, given the very substantial area of our District that is covered by protected 
landscapes or Green Belt, the opportunity to provide new homes on a suitable site that 
is unaffected by these designations weighs in favour of the proposal. 

Page 57



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee  – 24 May 2017

7.5 Taking into account the benefits of the development and weighing these against the 
harm, I consider that the proposal represents a sustainable development, consistent 
with Para.14 of the NPPF and Policy CS1 of the SOCS.  The proposal would contribute 
towards the objective to significantly boost the supply of housing, consistent with 
Para.47 of the NPPF.  

7.6 In conclusion, placing all of the relevant material considerations in the balance, when 
considered against the development plan as a whole, the proposal would represent a 
sustainable form of development.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That authority to grant planning permission be delegated to the Head of Planning 

subject to:

i) The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the affordable 
housing, financial contributions and other obligations stated above, and

ii) The following conditions:

1. Outline planning permission. 
2. Approved plans.
3. Market housing mix to comprise 44.5% 2 bed, 44.5% 3bed and 11% 4+ bed. 
4. Sample materials to be agreed. 
5. Slab and ridge levels to be agreed.
6. Travel plan to be agreed. 
7. Construction traffic management plan to be agreed. 
8. Details of access roads, vehicle parking and turning areas to be agreed.
9. Archaeological scheme of investigation to be agreed. 
10. Archaeological evaluation and mitigation to be be submitted.
11. Drainage strategy for on and off site drainage works to be agreed.
12. Additional water supply infrastructure to be agreed.
13. Surface water drainage to be agreed. 
14. Tree protection to be agreed. 
15. Landscaping to be agreed.
16. Landscape management to be agreed. 
17. Noise mitigation measures to be agreed .
18. Odour and pollutant mitigation measures to be agreed. 
19. Air quality mitigatin to be agreed. 
20. Phased contaminated land assessment. 
21. Remediation of any contamination.
22. Construction hours restriction.

Author: Emma Bowerman
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 58



Page 59

Agenda Item 9

EMMBOW
Typewriter
Appendix A



A2

\\MARTIN\Boyer Planning\Project Folders\15.240 - UD 1b Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor\4 Boyer Planning\4.05 Drawings\Working\15-240 - (P172 Rev F) Illustrative Masterplan.dwg - A2 Landscape

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

DATE
DRAWN CHECKED AUTHORISED

NUMBER SCALEREV.

DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT TITLE

cardiff | colchester | london | twickenham | wokingham

1b Greenwood Avenue
Chinnor

Illustrative Layout

21 Dec 2016 CD LD LD

15.240/P172 F 1:1000 @ A2

CLIENT

Persimmon Homes

REV DATE DESCRIPTION

06/06/16
DRAWN

BDCFirst issue-

0 20 40

10 30 50m

22/06/16 CDLayout updated based on pre-application comments
& Taylor Wimpey outline layout replaced current
Reserved Matters Application layout for

A

LEGEND

Extent of Outline
Planning Application

For Information

Cemex Approved Outline Planning
Application (P14/S1586/O)
Taylor Wimpey Reserved Matters
Application (P15/S4131/RM) pursuant
to approved outline (P14/S0953/O)

26/06/16 BDCMinor Revisions based on client commentB

14/07/16 CDRevised based on Urban Design Officer pre-app
comments

C
08/08/16 CDRevised based on client commentsD
05/09/16 CDRevised based on client commentsE
20/12/16 PCRevised based on client commentsF

P
age 60

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
22a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
ST ANDREW'S

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
5a

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
ELM

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
13 to 27

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
CHALKPIT LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
Chiltern View

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
28A

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
20a

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
GREENWOOD AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
Play

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
Oakley

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Chiltern

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
HILLSIDE VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
1 to 17

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
ELM CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
26a

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
East End

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
3a

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
3b

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
ETL

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
3c

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
KILN AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
ETL

EMMBOW_1
Typewriter
Appendix B



A3

X:\Project Folders\15.240 - UD 1b Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor\4 Boyer Planning\4.05 Drawings\Working\15-240 - (P402 Rev A) Access Parameter Plan.dwg - A3 Portrait

LEGEND

Site Boundary

Vehicular Access

Persimmon Homes

DATE

DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT TITLE

NUMBER

Client

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

DRAWN Checked Authorised

SCALEREV.

cardiff | colchester | london | twickenham | wokingham

Land at Greenwood Avenue
Chinnor

Access Parameter Plan

21 Sep 2016 DL LD LD

15.240/P402 B 1:1000 @ A3

REV DATE DESCRIPTION

26/05/16
DRAWN

CDFirst issue-
14/07/16 CDRevised based on Pre-Application commentsA Page 61

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
CHALKPIT LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
GREENWOOD AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
1 to 17

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
GREENWOOD AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
15



A3

\\MARTIN\Boyer Planning\Project Folders\15.240 - UD 1b Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor\4 Boyer Planning\4.05 Drawings\Working\15-240 - (P301 Rev A) Design Principles.dwg - A3 Portrait

LEGEND

Site Boundary

Existing Substation

Residential Boundary

Persimmon Homes

DATE

DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT TITLE

NUMBER

Client

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

DRAWN
Checked Authorised

SCALEREV.

cardiff | colchester | london | twickenham | wokingham

Land at Greenwood Avenue
Chinnor

Design Principles

20 Dec 2016 PC LD LD

15.240/P404 - 1:1000 @ A3

REV DATE DESCRIPTION

20/12/16
DRAWN

CDFirst issue-

Heritage Railway Line

Access Points

Adjacent Open Space

Main Axis

Proposed Primary Route

Primary Frontage

Arrival Space

Frontage to Green
Space

Views to Open Space

Open Space

Landmark Building

Landscape Feature

Proposed Green Buffer /
Screening Planting
Pedestrian Connection Linking
to Existing Route

Proposed Pumping Station

Page 62



GROVE

ST ANDREW'S

CHALK
PI

T L
ANE

GREENWOOD AVENUE
W

OODVILLE

HILLSIDE VIEW

GLIM
BERS

ROAD

A3

C:\Users\pcarroll\Desktop\Templates\CAD Stuff\Title Blocks And Templates\Title Blocks Jul 2016\Boyer Standard (ctb).dwg - A3 Portrait

LEGEND
Legend Guide Legend
Guide Legend Guide

Legend Guide

Legend Guide

Legend Guide

Legend Guide Legend
Guide Legend Guide

Client A
Client B

DATE

DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT TITLE

NUMBER

Client

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

DRAWN Checked Authorised

SCALEREV.

cardiff | colchester | london | twickenham | wokingham

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX XXX 2016 XX XX XX

XX.XXX/XX XX X:XXX @ A3

REV DATE DESCRIPTION
XX/XX/16

DRAWN
XXFirst issue-

C

Landwood at Greenwood Avenue

Land Use and Green Framework 
Parameter Plan

20 Dec 2016 PC LD LD

15.240/P401 1:1000

Legend
Residential development

Primary Routes

Indicative location for play

Entrance area / open space

Open Space

A3

\\MARTIN\Boyer Planning\Project Folders\15.240 - UD 1b Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor\4 Boyer Planning\4.05 Drawings\Working\15-240 - (P401 Rev A) Land Use And Green Framework Parameter Plan.dwg - A3 Portrait

LEGEND

Site Boundary

Residential Development

Indicative Location
for Play
Indicative Location
for Pumping Station

Green Open Space

Persimmon Homes

DATE

DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT TITLE

NUMBER

Client

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

DRAWN Checked Authorised

SCALEREV.

cardiff | colchester | london | twickenham | wokingham

Land at Greenwood Avenue
Chinnor

Land Use and Green Framework
Parameter Plan

21 Sep 2016 DL LD LD

15.240/P401 B 1:1000 @ A3

REV DATE DESCRIPTION
26/05/16

DRAWN
CDFirst issue-

14/07/16 CDRevised based on Pre-Application commentsA

0 20 40

10 30 50m

21/09/16 CDChanges on officers commentsB
20/12/16 CDPost planning ammendmentsC

Persimmon Homes

Page 63



A3

\\MARTIN\Boyer Planning\Project Folders\15.240 - UD 1b Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor\4 Boyer Planning\4.05 Drawings\Working\15-240 - (P403 Rev A) Building Height Parameter Plan.dwg - A3 Portrait

LEGEND

Site Boundary

Up to 2.5 Storey

Up to 2 Storey

Persimmon Homes

DATE

DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT TITLE

NUMBER

Client

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

DRAWN
Checked Authorised

SCALEREV.

cardiff | colchester | london | twickenham | wokingham

Land at Greenwood Avenue
Chinnor

Building Height Parameter Plan

20 Dec 2016 DL LD LD

15.240/P403 C 1:1000 @ A3

REV DATE DESCRIPTION

26/05/16
DRAWN

CDFirst issue-
14/07/16 CDRevised based on Pre-Application commentsA
21/09/16 CDRevised based on officers commentsB
20/12/16 PCPlanning ammendmentsC

Page 64

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
CHALKPIT LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
GREENWOOD AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
1 to 17

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
19



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

APPLICATION NO. P16/S3285/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 3.10.2016
PARISH CHINNOR
WARD MEMBERS Ian White

Lynn Lloyd
APPLICANT Persimmon Homes
SITE 17 and 19 Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor OX39 4HN
PROPOSAL Demolition of two dwellings and construction of new 

access road.
AMENDMENTS As amended by access drawing accompanying 

Agents letter dated 20/12/16
GRID REFERENCE 475258/200339
OFFICER Emma Bowerman

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the officer’s 

recommendation conflicts with the views of Chinnor Parish Council.

1.2 This application was deferred from the planning committee meeting on 1 March 2017 
for two reasons:
- For councillors of the committee to visit the site and consider the landscape 

impact of the development.
- For the Head of the Planning Service to bring together the developers / 

landowners of the three sites to the south of Greenwood Avenue to discuss how 
the sites can be better integrated into the local area, with a vehicular access 
linking the three sites.  

1.3 The Head of the Planning Service has now chaired a meeting with representatives 
from the three development sites.  All parties agreed as a point of principle that it is 
sensible for existing and future residents to be able to access between the three 
housing sites, which would better integrate the developments into the village.  It was 
agreed that improving permeability would demonstrate good planning and urban 
design best practice.

1.4 The following actions were agreed at the meeting:
1. Bellway Homes and Persimmon Homes would meet to reopen discussions / 

negotiations to achieve a vehicular access between their housing sites. 
2. Persimmon Homes and Taylor Wimpey (with the inclusion of an additional 

landowner) would meet to negotiate and seek to achieve vehicular access 
between their housing sites.

3. The relevant parties would feedback progress and direction of discussions 
before the planning committee meeting on 24 May so an update can be 
provided to councillors.  

1.5 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) 
contains a pair of 1950s semi-detached homes within a residential road.  The rear 
gardens of the properties back onto an agricultural field.  

1.6 The site does not fall within any areas of special designation. 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3285/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of Nos. 17 and 19 

Greenwood Avenue and the construction of a new access road.  The development is 
required to form a potential option for access to the middle field to the rear of 
Greenwood Avenue.  

2.2 This application is made in parallel with a separate submission for outline planning 
permission (with all matters reserved) for up to 140 dwellings on land to the south of 
Greenwood Avenue.  This outline application was submitted under reference 
P16/S3284/O and is the item to be considered on the agenda prior to this application. 
 

2.3 Amended plans were submitted during the application process as a result of comments 
made by the County Council Highways Officer.  The plans are attached as Appendix B.  
The application is accompanied by a number of supporting documents and these are 
available to view on the council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
(Comments made in relation to access only – all other matters summarised under 
application P16/S2384/O) 

3.1 Chinnor Parish Council 

Original plans – Recommend refusal.  Detrimental to existing residents.  Poorly 
planned.  Proposal does not address increase in traffic.  

Amended plans – Recommend refusal due to stress on local road network during 
construction works and additional traffic movements post completion.  Cumulative 
impact with additional developments already approved representing a significant 
increase in risk to road users and pedestrians.  Roads will become rat runs.  Hazardous 
mix of additional vehicles and pick-up of school children.  

Commented that the risks will be mitigated and much of the impact reduced if the 
suggested route through the three developments can be secured.  

3.2 Oxfordshire County Council Highways 

Original Plans – Raised an objection as the plans fail to demonstrate that a large 
vehicle, such as a refuse truck, would be able to perform a simple turning manoeuvre 
within the carriageway. 

Amended plans – No objection subject to conditions

3.3 Oxfordshire County Council Archaeology  
No objection subject to conditions requiring an archaeological written scheme of 
investigation and programme of archaeological evaluation and mitigation.  

3.4 Contaminated Land Officer  - No objection

3.5 Environmental Health Officer – No objection subject to conditions relating to noise 
and dust.  

3.5 Air Quality Officer – No objection subject to a condition relating to dust.  

3.6 Conservation Officer – No objection 

Page 66

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

3.7 Neighbour Representations 
22 received in objection to the original consultation raising the following concerns:
- Impact on highway safety
- Increase in traffic generation – already capacity issues
- Bad choice as road leads to one way bottle neck
- Noise and disturbance
- Air pollution and impact on health 
- Impact on existing parking – will not be able to park outside house
- Creation of an unsafe entrance and exit for existing driveways
- Side of gardens will become exposed – potentially more vulnerable to intruders
- Greenwood Avenue would become a major thoroughfare
- The narrow one-way section of Greenwood Avenue is not wide enough for heavy 

goods vehicles so other roads will be needed for construction activities and these 
roads have regular on-street parking

- Other access alternatives to the field should be used
- Access not practical
- There are existing traffic issues that would be exacerbated
- Disturbance from car headlights and noise  -  loss of privacy
- High number of HGVs during construction  
- Additional vehicles would impact on conservation area 

Comments were also made in relation to the potential impact on property prices.  This 
is not a matter that can be taken into account in the planning process.  

10 received in objection to the amended consultation raising the following concerns:
- Impact on highway safety 
- Impact of increased traffic
- Even greater effect on existing driveways 
- Object to double yellow lines outside of home 
- Increase in flooding
- Disappointed that amendments only address refuse truck turning 
- New access and yellow lines would make parking and navigating through the 

streets more difficult
- It would be impossible for refuse trucks to turn due to parked cars 
- Needs to be a change in traffic management in lower part of Greenwood Avenue 
- Damage to health from vehicle fumes 

A petition of 129 objectors was also submitted with the following summary:
The proposed new access road would divide our community.  The nature of 
Greenwood Avenue and surrounding residential roads would change from being a 
quiet neighbourhood area to a major thoroughfare for all types of vehicles.  This is 
totally unacceptable to residents and this application should be refused.  

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 None directly relevant to this application site. 

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

5.2 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

5.3 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN3 – Historic Environment 

Page 67



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

CSM1 – Transport 
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSQ3 – Design 

5.4 South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
D1 – Principles of good design 
D7 – Access for all 
CON12 – Archaeological field evaluation 
CON13 – Archaeological investigation, recording and publishing
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.5 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016
This guide sets out the standard that we expect developments to meet through a series 
of checklists which relate to key design principles.  

5.6 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2032
The council is preparing a new Local Plan, which will set out how development will be 
planned and delivered across South Oxfordshire to 2032.  The consultation on the 
second ‘Preferred Options’ for the emerging Local Plan closed on 17 May 2017.  The 
Preferred Options provides draft allocations for strategic development sites.  With the 
exception of Crowmarsh Gifford and Nettlebed, the plan proposes to devolve the 
delivery of houses in villages to the Neighbourhood Plan process.   

5.7 Emerging Chinnor Neighbourhood Plan 
Chinnor Parish Council have recently submitted their draft Neighbourhood Plan to us.  
The six week consultation on the draft Neighbourhood Plan finished on 21 March 2017.  
The draft Neighbourhood Plan, supporting documents and comments received will now 
be considered by an independent examiner.  

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application are:

 The principle of the development
 Highway safety 
 Other matters (including neighbour impact and heritage impact) 

6.2

The principle of the development 

The proposed access would require the demolition of two dwellings.  As a standalone 
proposal the loss of dwellings would not generally be acceptable given the need for 
housing in the District.  However, the proposed access would help to facilitate the 
provision of up to 140 new homes and as such, would justify the loss of two existing 
dwellings.  

6.3 In order to ensure that the access is only constructed to deliver the housing element of 
P16/S2384/O, a planning condition can be attached to link the two applications.  
Subject to a condition to only allow the access to be implemented in conjunction with 
the implementation of the development of the field to the rear, the principle of the 
development would be acceptable.  

6.4

Highway safety 

The County Highways Officer raised an objection to the details submitted with the 
original application as the proposed junction with Greenwood Avenue would not 
accommodate large vehicles.  This was only issue of concern raised by the highways 

Page 68



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

officer, who commented that a development of up to 140 dwellings, would ‘add to 
pressures on the local highway network but, subject to appropriate travel planning, not 
to an extent that would justify a refusal of planning permission’.

6.5 The County Highways Officer is satisfied that that the amended drawings demonstrate 
that turning manoeuvres of a large refuse truck can be accommodated appropriately 
and as such, has no objection subject to conditions.  He has stated that the proposed 
double yellow lines are not considered appropriate or necessary and as such, requires 
a condition to show the proposed access without the double yellow lines.  The 
Applicant would also be required to enter into a separate agreement with the Local 
Highway Authority for any works in the highway.  

6.6 The Greenwood Avenue access is required as the applicant does not have full control 
over the accesses from the developments either side of their application site.  Given the 
level of objection from local residents, the access onto Greenwood Avenue is clearly of 
concern locally.  Due to the level of concern raised I have considered whether the 
proposed access could be downgraded to a footpath / cycleway if an adopted, 
unfettered access to the site is delivered from the B4009 (through the site to the west of 
the field where up to 140 homes are proposed).  

6.7 Following the meeting between the representatives of the three sites to the south of 
Greenwood Avenue and the Head of Service, it was agreed that achieving long term 
vehicular access onto Greenwood Avenue would be consistent with maximising 
permeability between the development sites and the village.  A requirement to 
downgrade the access to Greenwood Avenue would therefore be at odds with the aim 
to fully integrate the development sites and the existing village.   

6.8

Other matters:

This application is only for the access onto Greenwood Avenue and all matters 
associated with the proposed outline application are addressed under application 
number P16/S2384/O.  This includes the impact on the transport network, air quality 
impacts and noise and disturbance.  Given that this proposal includes demolition works, 
I have attached a condition requiring the approval of measures to control noise and 
dust.  A construction hours condition would also ensure that the development is carried 
out at appropriate hours. 

6.9 With regards to heritage impact, the council’s conservation officer has confirmed that 
the demolition of the buildings and construction of the access would not harm the 
conservation area or any listed buildings in Chinnor.  The County Archaeologist has 
commented that the site is located in an area of archaeological interest and has 
recommended conditions requiring a scheme of investigation and any necessary 
processing, research and analysis.  Subject to these conditions, I have no objection to 
the application on heritage grounds.  

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The existing dwellings are of no particular architectural merit and I have no objection to 

their demolition.  The construction of an access would help facilitate the delivery of up 
to 140 dwellings at a time of strong housing need.  The County Highways Officer has 
raised no objection to the proposed access and as such, I consider that the proposal 
would have an acceptable impact on highway safety.  

Page 69



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:

1. Standard time limit. 
2. In accordance with the approved plans (with exception of double yellow 

lines).
3. Only to be implemented in conjunction with P16/S2384/O.
4. Details of hard and soft landscaping and lighting to be agreed.
5. Plan of access to be approved. 
6. Construction traffic management plan. 
7. Surface water drainage works to be agreed. 
8. Approval of measures for the control of noise and dust. 
9. Archaeological scheme of investigation to be agreed. 
10. Archaeological evaluation and mitigation to be submitted.

Author: Emma Bowerman
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 70



Page 71

Agenda Item 10

EMMBOW_2
Typewriter
Appendix A



2.4m x 40m Visib
ility

 Splay

2.4m x 4
0m Visib

ilit
y Splay

R6m

R6
m

A3

\\MARTIN\Boyer Planning\Project Folders\15.240 - UD 1b Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor\4 Boyer Planning\4.05 Drawings\Working\15.240-A-SL-01 Access Layout.dwg  - A3 Portrait

LEGEND

Application BoundaryPersimmon Homes

DATE

DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT TITLE

NUMBER

Client

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

DRAWN
Checked Authorised

SCALEREV.

cardiff | colchester | london | twickenham | wokingham

Land south of Greenwood Avenue
Chinnor

Proposed Access

18 Feb 2016 CD CR SP

15.240-A/SL-01 - 1:500 @ A3

REV DATE DESCRIPTION

18/02/16
DRAWN

CDFirst issue-

0

2.5 5 10 15 20m

Page 72

EMMBOW_3
Typewriter
Appendix B



MEC1
120.650

1

2

0

.

1

5

1

2

0

.

0

3

1

1

9

.

9

6

1

1

9

.

9

1

1

2

0

.

0

5

1

2

0

.

0

8

1

2

0

.

2

5

1

2

0

.

5

8

1

2

0

.

6

8

1

2

0

.

4

4

1

2

0

.

1

4

1

2

0

.

0

9

1

2

0

.

0

1

1

1

9

.

9

2

1

1

9

.

9

7

1

2

0

.

0

5

1

2

0

.

1

7

MEC1
120.650

1

2

0

.

1

5

1

2

0

.

1

5

1

2

0

.

0

3

1

1

9

.

9

6

1

1

9

.

9

1

1

2

0

.

0

5

1

2

0

.

0

8

1

2

0

.

2

5

1

2

0

.

5

8

1

2

0

.

6

8

1

2

0

.

4

4

1

2

0

.

1

4

1

2

0

.

0

9

1

2

0

.

0

1

1

1

9

.

9

2

1

1

9

.

9

7

1

2

0

.

0

5

1

2

0

.

1

7

MEC1
120.650

1

2

0

.

1

5

1

2

0

.

1

5

1

2

0

.

0

3

1

1

9

.

9

6

1

1

9

.

9

1

1

2

0

.

0

5

1

2

0

.

0

8

1

2

0

.

2

5

1

2

0

.

5

8

1

2

0

.

6

8

1

2

0

.

4

4

1

2

0

.

1

4

1

2

0

.

0

9

1

2

0

.

0

1

1

1

9

.

9

2

1

1

9

.

9

7

1

2

0

.

0

5

1

2

0

.

1

7

MEC1
120.650

MEC2
120.581

1

2

0

.

4

5

1

2

0

.

1

3

1

1

9

.

6

0

1

1

9

.

5

0

1

1

9

.

9

0

1

2

0

.

1

4

1

2

0

.

2

6

1

2

0

.

1

5

1

2

0

.

1

5

1

2

0

.

0

3

1

1

9

.

9

6

1

1

9

.

9

1

1

2

0

.

0

5

1

2

0

.

0

8

1

2

0

.

2

5

1

2

0

.

5

8

1

2

0

.

6

9

1

2

0

.

7

6

1

2

0

.

7

0

1

2

0

.

6

4

1

2

0

.

4

5

1

2

0

.

4

7

1

2

0

.

5

9

1

2

0

.

6

3

1

2

0

.

7

1

1

2

0

.

8

4

1

2

0

.

8

9

1

2

0

.

8

9

1

2

0

.

7

9

1

2

0

.

7

2

1

2

0

.

6

8

1

2

0

.

4

4

1

2

0

.

1

4

1

2

0

.

0

9

1

2

0

.

0

1

1

1

9

.

9

2

1

1

9

.

9

7

1

2

0

.

0

5

1

2

0

.

1

7

1

2

0

.

3

5

1

2

0

.

5

4

1

2

0

.

6

3

MEC1
120.650

1

2

0

.

1

5

1

2

0

.

1

5

1

2

0

.

0

3

1

1

9

.

9

6

1

1

9

.

9

1

1

2

0

.

0

5

1

2

0

.

0

8

1

2

0

.

2

5

1

2

0

.

6

8

1

2

0

.

4

4

1

2

0

.

1

4

1

2

0

.

0

9

1

2

0

.

0

1

1

1

9

.

9

2

1

1

9

.

9

7

1

2

0

.

0

5

1

2

0

.

1

7

DRAWING TITLE:

PROJECT:

SHEET SIZE:REVISION:

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

DRAWING NUMBER:

CLIENT:

Wellington House Leicester Road

Ibstock Leicestershire LE67 6HP

T: 01530 264 753

F: 01530 588 116

ibstock@m-ec.co.uk

www.m-ec.co.uk

STATUS:

PRELIMINARY

SCALE:

DATE:

ORDNANCE SURVEY © CROWN COPYRIGHT 2014. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

LICENCE  NUMBER 100022432.

P
r

i
n

t
e

d
:
1
9

.
1
2

.
2

0
1
6

F
i
l
e

 
L

o
c

a
t
i
o

n
:
 
\

\
m

-
e

c
s

e
r

v
e

r
\

C
o

m
p

a
n

y
D

a
t
a

\
M

-
E

C
 
J
o

b
 
B

o
o

k
\

2
1
6

1
0

\
d

r
a

w
i
n

g
s

\
0

3
 
s

e
r

i
e

s
-
h

i
g

h
w

a
y

\
0

2
0

 
s

e
r

i
e

s
\

2
1
6

1
0

_
0

3
_

0
2

0
_

0
1
c

 
p

r
o

p
o

s
e

d
 
a

c
c

e
s

s
 
a

r
r

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
t
s

.
d

w
g

GREENWOOD AVENUE

CHINNOR

OXFORDSHIRE

PROPOSED ACCESS ARRANGEMENT

PERSIMMON HOMES

21610_03_020_01

C A1

1:250

ARD PT 02.10.15

N
N N

N N

DATE:CHK:DRN:AMENDMENTS:REV:

A MINOR ADJUSTMENT TO ACCESS LOCATION.

TRACKING ADDED

PT NB 03.11.15

B DOUBLE YELLOW LINES ADDED PT

JON

11.03.16

C
RE-TRACKED WITH A LARGER REFUSE VEHICLE

VP PT
19.12.16

P
age 73

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
Mkr

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
Lp

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
120.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
119.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
119.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
119.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
119.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
119.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
119.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
120.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
120.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
120.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
120.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
120.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
120.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
120.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
120.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
120.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
120.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
120.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
119.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
119.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
119.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
119.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
119.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
119.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
120.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
120.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
120.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
120.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
120.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
120.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
120.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
120.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
120.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
120.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
119.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
119.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
119.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
120.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
120.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
120.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
120.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
120.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
119.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
120.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
120.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
121.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
120.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
120.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
120.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
119.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
120.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
119.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
120.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
120.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
120.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
120.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
120.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
120.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
119.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
120.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
120.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
120.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
120.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
120.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
Tree Lvl: 126.07m

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
%%C 0.20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
Tree Lvl: 125.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
Tree Lvl: 126.06m

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
Tree Lvl: 126.95m

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
Tree Lvl: 133.74m

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
%%C 0.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
Tree Lvl: 127.68m

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
%%C 0.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
Tree Lvl: 126.52m

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
%%C MG

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
Tree Lvl: 123.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
MHCL:120.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
Fence Lvl: 122.07m

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
Ridge Lvl: 126.99m

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
Eaves Lvl: 124.94m

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
Ridge Lvl: 127.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
Eaves Lvl: 125.25m

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
Ridge Lvl: 127.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
Eaves Lvl: 124.94m

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
THL: 120.14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
THL: 120.11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
THL: 120.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
Sap Lvl: 123.55m

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
Fence Lvl: 121.45m

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
Hedge Lvl: 122.55m

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
Fence Lvl: 121.52m

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
Fence Lvl: 122.36m

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
Concrete path

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
Concrete path

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
Greenhouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
Greenwood Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
Tarmac Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
Concrete Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
Grass verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
Ridge Lvl: 127.04m

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
Eaves Lvl: 125.01m

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
Ridge Lvl: 128.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
Eaves Lvl: 124.85m

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
IL: 119.32m

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
MHCL:120.03m

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
%%C0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
20955 - Dennis Eagle Phoenix 2 with terberg taillift (cambridgeshire)

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
Mkr

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
Lp

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
120.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
119.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
119.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
119.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
119.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
119.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
119.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
120.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
120.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
120.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
120.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
120.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
120.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
120.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
120.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
120.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
120.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
120.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
119.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
120.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
119.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
119.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
119.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
119.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
119.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
120.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
120.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
120.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
120.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
120.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
120.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
120.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
120.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
120.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
119.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
119.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
119.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
120.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
120.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
120.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
120.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
120.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
119.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
120.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
120.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
120.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
119.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
120.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
119.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
120.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
120.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
120.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
120.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
119.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
120.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
120.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
120.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
120.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
120.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
Tree Lvl: 126.07m

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
%%C 0.20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
Tree Lvl: 125.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
Tree Lvl: 126.06m

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
Tree Lvl: 126.95m

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
Tree Lvl: 133.74m

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
Tree Lvl: 126.52m

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
%%C MG

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
Tree Lvl: 123.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
MHCL:120.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
Fence Lvl: 122.07m

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
Ridge Lvl: 126.99m

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
Eaves Lvl: 124.94m

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
Ridge Lvl: 127.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
Eaves Lvl: 125.25m

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
Ridge Lvl: 127.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
Eaves Lvl: 124.94m

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
THL: 120.14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
THL: 120.11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
THL: 120.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
Sap Lvl: 123.55m

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
Fence Lvl: 121.45m

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
Hedge Lvl: 122.55m

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
Fence Lvl: 122.36m

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
Concrete path

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
Concrete path

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
Greenhouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
Greenwood Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
Tarmac Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
Concrete Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
Grass verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
Ridge Lvl: 127.04m

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
Eaves Lvl: 125.01m

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
Ridge Lvl: 128.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
Eaves Lvl: 124.85m

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
IL: 119.32m

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
MHCL:120.03m

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
%%C0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
20955 - Dennis Eagle Phoenix 2 with terberg taillift (cambridgeshire)

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
Mkr

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
Lp

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
120.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
119.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
119.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
119.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
119.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
119.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
119.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
120.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
120.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
120.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
120.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
120.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
120.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
120.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
120.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
120.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
120.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
120.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
119.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
119.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
119.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
119.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
119.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
119.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
120.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
120.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
120.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
120.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
120.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
120.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
120.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
120.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
120.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
119.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
119.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
119.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
120.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
120.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
120.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
120.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
120.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
119.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
120.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
120.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
120.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
120.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
119.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
120.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
119.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
120.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
120.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
120.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
120.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
119.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
120.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
120.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
120.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
120.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
120.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
Tree Lvl: 126.07m

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
%%C 0.20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
Tree Lvl: 125.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
Tree Lvl: 126.06m

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
Tree Lvl: 126.95m

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
Tree Lvl: 133.74m

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
Tree Lvl: 126.52m

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
%%C MG

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
Tree Lvl: 123.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
MHCL:120.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
Fence Lvl: 122.07m

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
Ridge Lvl: 126.99m

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
Eaves Lvl: 124.94m

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
Ridge Lvl: 127.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
Eaves Lvl: 125.25m

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
Ridge Lvl: 127.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
Eaves Lvl: 124.94m

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
THL: 120.14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
THL: 120.11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
THL: 120.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
Sap Lvl: 123.55m

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
Fence Lvl: 121.45m

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
Hedge Lvl: 122.55m

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
Fence Lvl: 122.36m

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
Concrete path

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
Concrete path

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
Greenhouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
Greenwood Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
Tarmac Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
Concrete Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
Grass verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
Ridge Lvl: 127.04m

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
Eaves Lvl: 125.01m

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
Ridge Lvl: 128.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
Eaves Lvl: 124.85m

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
IL: 119.32m

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
MHCL:120.03m

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
%%C0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
20955 - Dennis Eagle Phoenix 2 with terberg taillift (cambridgeshire)

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
Mkr

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
Mkr

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
Mkr

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
Mkr

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
Mkr

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
Mkr

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
Sv

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
Fh

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
Lp

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
Lp

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
Lp

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
Bin

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
120.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
120.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
120.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
120.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
120.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
120.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
120.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
120.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
120.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
120.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
120.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
120.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
120.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
120.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
120.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
120.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
119.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
119.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
119.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
119.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
119.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
119.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
120.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
120.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
120.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
120.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
120.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
120.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
120.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
120.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
120.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
121.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
120.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
120.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
120.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
120.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
120.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
120.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
120.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
120.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
120.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
120.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
120.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
120.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
120.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
120.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
120.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
119.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
120.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
120.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
119.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
120.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
120.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
119.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
119.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
119.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
119.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
120.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
120.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
120.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
120.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
120.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
120.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
120.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
120.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
120.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
120.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
120.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
120.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
120.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
120.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
120.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
120.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
120.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
119.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
119.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
119.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
120.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
119.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
119.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
120.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
120.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
120.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
119.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
120.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
120.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
120.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
120.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
120.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
120.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
120.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
120.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
119.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
120.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
120.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
120.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
120.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
120.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
119.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
120.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
120.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
120.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
120.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
120.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
121.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
120.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
120.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
120.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
121.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
120.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
120.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
120.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
120.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
120.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
120.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
119.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
120.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
119.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
120.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
120.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
120.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
120.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
120.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
120.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
119.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
120.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1047
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1048
120.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1049
120.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1050
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1051
120.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1052
120.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1053
120.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1054
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1055
120.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1056
Tree Lvl: 127.54m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1057
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1058
Tree Lvl: 126.07m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1059
%%C 0.20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1060
Tree Lvl: 125.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1061
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1062
Tree Lvl: 126.06m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1063
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1064
Tree Lvl: 126.95m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1065
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1066
Tree Lvl: 133.03m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1067
%%C 0.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1068
Tree Lvl: 133.74m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1069
%%C 0.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1070
Tree Lvl: 127.68m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1071
%%C 0.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1072
Tree Lvl: 126.52m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1073
%%C MG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1074
Tree Lvl: 123.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1075
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1076
MHCL:120.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1077
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1078
Fence Lvl: 122.65m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1079
Fence Lvl: 122.07m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1080
Ridge Lvl: 126.99m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1081
Eaves Lvl: 124.94m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1082
Ridge Lvl: 127.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1083
Eaves Lvl: 125.25m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1084
Ridge Lvl: 127.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1085
Eaves Lvl: 124.94m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1086
THL: 120.14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1087
THL: 120.11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1088
THL: 120.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1089
Sap Lvl: 123.55m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1090
Fence Lvl: 121.45m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1091
Hedge Lvl: 122.55m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1092
Fence Lvl: 121.52m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1093
Fence Lvl: 122.36m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1094
Concrete path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1095
Concrete path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1096
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1097
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1098
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1099
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1100
MHCL:119.37m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1101
Greenhouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_1102
Greenwood Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text_1103
Greenwood Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text_1104
Elm Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text_1105
Glimbers Grove

AutoCAD SHX Text_1106
Grass Verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1107
Grass Verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1108
Tarmac Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text_1109
Concrete Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text_1110
Grass verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1111
Ridge Lvl: 127.04m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1112
Eaves Lvl: 125.01m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1113
Ridge Lvl: 128.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1114
Eaves Lvl: 124.85m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1115
Ridge Lvl: 128.97m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1116
Eaves Lvl: 125.99m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1117
Fence Lvl: 121.95m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1118
IL: 119.32m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1119
MHCL:120.03m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1120
%%C0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1121
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1122
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1123
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1124
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1125
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1126
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1127
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1128
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1129
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1130
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1131
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1132
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1133
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1134
121.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1135
121.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1136
121.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1137
EXISTING DRIVEWAYS TO BE MAINTAINED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1138
EXISTING DRIVEWAYS TO BE MAINTAINED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1139
PDC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1140
PDC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1141
2.4M X 43M  VISIBILITY SPLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1142
2.4M X 43M  VISIBILITY SPLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1143
NEW DOUBLE YELLOW LINES TO BE PROVIDED ALONG EXTENT OF JUNCTION VISIBILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1144
NEW DOUBLE YELLOW LINES TO BE PROVIDED ALONG EXTENT OF JUNCTION VISIBILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1145
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1146
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1147
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1148
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1149
Gy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1150
Mkr

AutoCAD SHX Text_1151
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1152
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1153
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1154
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1155
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1156
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1157
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1158
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1159
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1160
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1161
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1162
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1163
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1164
St

AutoCAD SHX Text_1165
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1166
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1167
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1168
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1169
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1170
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1171
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1172
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1173
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1174
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1175
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1176
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1177
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1178
Lp

AutoCAD SHX Text_1179
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_1180
Tp

AutoCAD SHX Text_1181
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_1182
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_1183
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_1184
Boll

AutoCAD SHX Text_1185
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_1186
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_1187
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_1188
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_1189
Sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_1190
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1191
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1192
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1193
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1194
119.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1195
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1196
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1197
119.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1198
119.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1199
119.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1200
119.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1201
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1202
119.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1203
119.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1204
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1205
119.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1206
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1207
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1208
120.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1209
120.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1210
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1211
120.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1212
120.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1213
120.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1214
120.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1215
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1216
120.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1217
120.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1218
120.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1219
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1220
120.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1221
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1222
120.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1223
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1224
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1225
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1226
119.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1227
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1228
119.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_1229
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1230
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1231
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1232
119.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1233
119.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1234
119.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1235
119.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_1236
120.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1237
120.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1238
120.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1239
120.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1240
120.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1241
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1242
120.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1243
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1244
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1245
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1246
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1247
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1248
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1249
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1250
119.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1251
120.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1252
120.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1253
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1254
120.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1255
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1256
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1257
119.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_1258
119.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1259
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1260
119.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1261
120.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1262
120.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1263
120.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1264
120.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1265
120.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1266
120.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1267
119.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_1268
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1269
120.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1270
120.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1271
120.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1272
120.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1273
120.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1274
120.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1275
120.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1276
120.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1277
119.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1278
120.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1279
119.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1280
120.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1281
120.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1282
120.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1283
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1284
120.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1285
120.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1286
120.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1287
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1288
120.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_1289
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1290
120.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1291
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1292
120.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1293
120.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1294
120.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1295
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1296
119.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1297
120.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1298
120.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_1299
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1300
120.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1301
120.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1302
120.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1303
120.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1304
120.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1305
120.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1306
120.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1307
120.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1308
Tree Lvl: 126.07m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1309
%%C 0.20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1310
Tree Lvl: 125.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1311
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1312
Tree Lvl: 126.06m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1313
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1314
Tree Lvl: 126.95m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1315
%%C 0.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1316
Tree Lvl: 133.03m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1317
Tree Lvl: 133.74m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1318
%%C 0.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1319
Tree Lvl: 127.68m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1320
%%C 0.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1321
Tree Lvl: 126.52m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1322
%%C MG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1323
Tree Lvl: 123.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1324
119.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1325
MHCL:120.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1326
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1327
Fence Lvl: 122.07m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1328
Ridge Lvl: 126.99m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1329
Eaves Lvl: 124.94m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1330
Ridge Lvl: 127.30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1331
Eaves Lvl: 125.25m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1332
Ridge Lvl: 127.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1333
Eaves Lvl: 124.94m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1334
THL: 120.14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1335
THL: 120.11m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1336
THL: 120.00m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1337
Sap Lvl: 123.55m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1338
Fence Lvl: 121.45m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1339
Hedge Lvl: 122.55m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1340
Fence Lvl: 121.52m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1341
Fence Lvl: 122.36m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1342
Concrete path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1343
Concrete path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1344
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1345
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1346
Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1347
Greenhouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_1348
Greenwood Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text_1349
Tarmac Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text_1350
Concrete Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text_1351
Grass verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1352
Ridge Lvl: 127.04m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1353
Eaves Lvl: 125.01m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1354
Ridge Lvl: 128.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1355
Eaves Lvl: 124.85m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1356
IL: 119.32m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1357
MHCL:120.03m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1358
%%C0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1359
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1360
120.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1361
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1362
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1363
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1364
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1365
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1366
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1367
120.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1368
20955 - Dennis Eagle Phoenix 2 with terberg taillift (cambridgeshire)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1369
NOTES: 1. DO NOT SCALE THIS DRAWING.DO NOT SCALE THIS DRAWING.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1370
PEDESTRIAN DROPPED CROSSING COMPRISING 2NO. DROPPER AND 2NO. DROPPED KERBS TYPE BN (6mm UPSTAND)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1371
KEY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1372
PDC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1373
A MINIMUM OF 2 ROWS OF COLOURED TACTILE PAVING WITH THE MODULES LAID IN LINE WITH THE CROSSING. TACTILE PAVING TO BE RED COLOURED AT SIGNAL CONTROLLED JUNCTIONS AND BUFF COLOURED ELSEWHERE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1374
%%UWESTBOUND EXIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1375
SCALE 1:500

AutoCAD SHX Text_1376
%%UEASTBOUND ENTERANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1377
SCALE 1:500

AutoCAD SHX Text_1378
%%UWESTBOUND ENTERANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1379
SCALE 1:500

AutoCAD SHX Text_1380
%%UEASTBOUND EXIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1381
SCALE 1:500

AutoCAD SHX Text_1382
THIS DRAWING IS BASED ON PLANNING LAYOUT C1618 P001 P 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1383
11.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1384
1.665

AutoCAD SHX Text_1385
4.815

AutoCAD SHX Text_1386
1.385

AutoCAD SHX Text_1387
20955-DENNIS EAGLE PHOENIX 2  (WITH TERBERG TAILLIFT)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1388
OVERALL LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1389
OVERALL WIDTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1390
OVERALL BODY HEIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1391
MIN BODY GROUND CLEARANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1392
TRACK WIDTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1393
LOCK TO LOCK TIME

AutoCAD SHX Text_1394
KERB TO KERB TURNING RADIUS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1395
11.400m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1396
2.500m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1397
3.751m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1398
0.304m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1399
4.00s

AutoCAD SHX Text_1400
2.500m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1401
9.000m



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

APPLICATION NO. P17/S0875/RM
APPLICATION TYPE RESERVED MATTERS
REGISTERED 14.10.2015
PARISH CHOLSEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Pat Dawe

Jane Murphy
APPLICANT Linden Homes Chiltern
SITE Land north of 12 Celsea Place, Cholsey OX10 9QW
PROPOSAL Details of the layout, landscaping, layout and scale 

of the approved scheme for 60 dwellings
AMENDMENTS Yes
GRID REFERENCE 459173/186118
OFFICER Katherine Pearce

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1

1.2

1.3

The application is referred to Planning Committee for a decision as the views of the 
Cholsey Parish Council differ from the recommendation being made by officers.

The site was open, flat maintained grassland accessed from Celsea Place, though it is 
currently being dug up for archaeological excavation. It is approximately 2.5ha in area. 
To the west and south of the site is residential development, to the east of the site is 
residential development and a field that appears to be maintained as a paddock, and 
to the north of the site and further to the east is a larger parcel of land that is open 
maintained grassland. The dwellings along Celsea Place are predominantly two 
storey, semi-detached properties, or bungalows.

The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1

2.2

This application is for approval of reserved matters detail for 60 dwellings, following the 
granting of outline planning permission on 20 June 2016. The matters to be considered 
are appearance, landscaping, layout and scale. 

The plans show the following mix:

Affordable

1 bed flat – 2 rent
2 bed flat – 2 rent 
2 bed house – 8 rent + 4 intermediate 
3 bed house – 6 rent + 2 intermediate 
Total – 23

Private

2 bed house – 9
3 bed house – 23
4 bed house – 4 
Total - 36

The layout can be seen on the Site Plan, which can be found at Appendix 2 to this 

Page 75

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S3437/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

2.3 report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the Council’s website 
www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Cholsey Parish Council – Objects because:

- The site is contrary to, and brought ahead of, the Local Plan. The site allocation 
process should take a holistic look at the village and the infrastructure required 
to support new homes. The developers have not engaged with the 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

- Site access is inadequate.
- The Public Open Space has been moved to satisfy the requirements of the 

archaeological survey and not the needs of new residents. Its new position 
means that it is no longer contiguous with the green space surrounding the site 
and now borders a road.

- Thames Water has identified the inability of the existing waste structure to cope 
with extra dwellings and local residents complain about a lack of water pressure 
in the area.

- Previously asked new houses to be end on to existing bungalows 2-8 Lapwing 
Lane. 

- A disproportionate number of 3 beds. SHMA shows the need is for 2 beds.

Neighbours (12) – In summary:

- Not opposed to the principle of this site being developed.
- Buffer on the southern edge of the site should not have been removed.
- There are vacant houses in the village so more housing will not benefit the 

village.
- Site would be better as a wildlife area or a park.
- Houses should be built ‘end-on’ to the existing bungaloes on Lapwing Lane.
- Who will maintain the trees along the boundaries? They will restrict light to 

existing houses. Residents should get a say in what types of trees are used. A 
condition should be put on restricting the height of the trees.

- Please ensure development is built in accordance with the plans.
- The development should have its own water supply. There is already a problem 

with low water pressure.
- Local roads are already severly congested during due to on-street parking. 

Adding more cars will compound the problem. 
- Additional houses will lead to unsustainable pressure on local services.
- Loss of privacy.
- Provide parking spaces for existing houses on Celsea Place by shortening their 

front gardens.
- The application has not been advertised locally on site so only those living in the 

immediate vicinity will know about the application.
- It was promised that residents would be kept up to date about the 

archaeological finds and an open day would be held. We’ve heard nothing 
further.  

- Lorries will mount the verge to pass other vehicles and won’t care about the 
verges becoming damaged. They leave mud all over the footpath and road.

Oxfordshire County Council Highways – General layout seems consistent with 
Manual for Streets and the principles of the outline permission. If parking courts are to 
be used then direct access to the dwellings they serve is required. Plots 9 – 14 do not 
have footpath access from their parking spaces to the dwellings. Recommend not 
discharging in relation to layout. 

Page 76

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

Forestry Officer - The proposed landscape planting is very poor and not fit for 
purpose. The site layout could accommodate long-lived, large tree species. The area of 
public open space doesn’t contain a single tree. Another key planting opportunity is 
close to plots 4 & 5. The 26 Field Maple along the northern and eastern boundary 
should be amended to include a range of both medium and large trees in a far less 
formal design. 

Urban Design Officer – Comments, key points as follows:

 The ecological corridor will not be integrated into the site and will make a limited 
contribution to the character, quality and sense of place. Dwellings turn their 
back on this space. How will it be managed so that it doesn’t attract antisocial 
behaviour?

 Do not support the use of landscaping to create a barrier between existing and 
new development.

 The only potential connection to the north is shown as a pedestrian link. 
Potential connections should be maintained to future-proof the development. 
The footpath should be moved away from the front of dwellings. 

 Plots 35 and 36 have very large gardens, which is an inefficient use of land. 
Could more dense parts of the development be freed up by moving more 
dwellings to this area. 

 There are areas where six parking spaces dominate the street scene. Three 
spaces in a row is unacceptable. Two would be acceptable if they were set back 
from the edge of the highway. 

 Plot 54 has an awkward shaped and narrow garden. 
 Parking for plots 16, 47, 54 are far away from the units they serve.
 Any public facing boundaries must not be close boarded fence but should be 

brick or native hedges.

Officers will provide a verbal update on consultation responses received on the 
amended plans, which have sought to address the above comments. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P17/S0922/DIS – Discharge of conditions 11 and 13 pending

Biodiversity details and landscape plan

P16/S3058/DIS – Discharge of condition 6 agreed (12/10/2016)
Written scheme of investigation

P16/S2962/DIS – Discharge of condition 10 agreed (12/10/2016)
Reptile mitigation strategy 

P15/0262/O – Appeal allowed (20/06/2016)
Outline application for erection of up to 60 dwellings, including roads, paths, open 
space and associated works including access as garaging [as amended by plans dated 
17 July 2015].

P15/S3437/O – Refused (12/01/2016)
Erection of up to 60 dwellings, including roads, paths, open space and associated 
works including access and garaging

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework

Page 77



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

5.2                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 policies
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSG1   -  Green infrastructure
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2  -  Density 
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision
CSM1  -  Transport
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSQ2  -  Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3  -  Design
CSQ4  -  Design briefs for greenfield neighbourhoods and major development sites
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.3

5.4

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
CON12  -  Archaeological field evaluation
D1  -  Principles of good design
D12  -  Public art
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D6  -  Community safety
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP4  -  Impact on water resources
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
R1  -  Outdoor sport or play areas
R2  -  Provision of play areas on new housing development
R6  -  Public open space in new residential development
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1

6.2

Although the Council has received comments regarding the principle of development on 
this site, this is not for consideration as it has already been agreed by the granting of 
outline permission at appeal. The main issues to consider in relation to this 
development are as follows:

 Layout
 Landscaping and Trees
 Scale and Appearance
 Mix, Affordable Housing and Density
 Parking
 Neighbour Amenity
 Other Matters

Layout 
The layout is largely the same as shown on the illustrative plans at outline application 

Page 78



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

stage/appeal. The layout takes the form of a large perimeter block, which allows for the 
dwellings to front onto the street and create active frontages. The apartment block 
provides a frontage to Celsea Place and also onto the development itself and its access 
road. Plot 39 provides a frontage onto the street and onto the Open Space, which 
improves natural surveillance of the space. 

Officers have always maintained that the potential for an access through to the 
adjacent site should be accommodated to future-proof the development. This has been 
provided adjacent to plot 15. Concerns have been raised by The Urban Design Officer 
and the Highways Officer about the parking court for plots 10 – 16. However, continuing 
the location of the car parking spaces in front of the dwellings and moving the footpath 
away from the dwellings would result in more hardstanding in this area, not less. 
Therefore, whilst it is not an ideal arrangement, it does provide the necessary parking. 
The amended drawings also address the Highways Officer’s concerns about the 
parking spaces not being linked to the dwellings by footways.  

The open space is at the front of the site due to the finding of archaeological remains 
that need to be retained in situ. This also means that the open space can be used by 
existing residents, who may otherwise feel that it is not for their use if it were to be 
located at the rear of the site. 
 
The ecological buffer is required to maintain habitat for the reptiles found on site. Whilst 
the location of this in a strip behind dwellings is not ideal in urban design terms, the 
appeal Inspector supported the buffer “to contribute to an appropriate transition from 
the built form of the development to the wider countryside beyond. The proposal would 
also potentially result in a softer edge to the settlement in this location.” The Urban 
Design Officer has suggested that some dwellings should front onto the buffer so that it 
is overlooked and minimises the potential for antisocial behaviour. However, this would 
mean that dwellings would back onto the main street, which would break up the strong 
perimeter block and result it dead space along the street which would be inappropriate. 
In terms of how the space will be maintained, it will be part of the remit of the 
management company who will oversee the whole site.

Some concerns have been raised about the size of the gardens for plots 35 and 36 and 
whether this land could be used more efficiently. This is due to the shape of the site 
and its context rather than trying to gain larger gardens. Any change to the layout would 
break the strong perimeter block for in your officer’s view little gain.

In relation to other comments from the Urban Design Officer, the amended plans have 
sought to address these. Rear access from the parking spaces for plot 16, 47 & 54 is 
provided so they are no longer remote from the dwellings they serve. The number of 
instances where there are three spaces in a row has been reduced but it is the nature 
of terraces that parking needs to be provided in this way. The appearance of these 
could be improved by using a brick wall or hedge along the rear boundary rather than 
close boarded fence should the committee find it necessary. The parking for Plot 54 
has moved, which has enabled the garden to be widened. 

Landscaping and Trees
The Council’s Forestry Officer objected to the original plans as they did not include 
enough variety in trees and opportunities for tree planting had been missed, such as 
around the open space. The amended plans have sought to address all of the 
comments. However, there is a restriction on planting around the open space due to 
the important archaeology that is there. The amended plans show trees to be planted 
outside of the archaeological buffer. 

Page 79



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

6.17

Some residents have raised concerns about the tree species shown on the boundaries 
of the site and that they could cause loss of light to their garden. The Council’s Forestry 
Officer has reviewed the proposed tree species to ensure that the boundary trees 
would not be too large and cause unacceptable loss of light to existing gardens. 

Scale and Appearance
The proposed buildings are all two storey in height, including the apartment block. As 
the apartment block is an ‘L’ shape, the massing of the building is broken up so that it 
does not dominate the site entrance. In the vicinity of the site the dwellings are 
predominantly two storey semi-detached or bungalows. The proposed dwellings will be 
predominantly semi-detached, with some terraces and detached properties. Therefore 
the scale of the buildings will be in keeping with the scale of the existing dwellings. 
Issues relating to scale and neighbour amenity are dealt with at paragraph 6.17.

The local vicinity demonstrates a variety of building styles and materials, though red 
brick predominates. The development is proposed to be constructed from brickwork 
with occasional areas of tile hanging with contrasting bricks for detail. The roofs will be 
tiled. These materials will be in keeping with those apparent in the local area.

Mix, Affordable Housing and Density
The proposed mix of Affordable Housing was agreed with Housing Officers at the 
outline application stage. The amended plans respond to the Housing Officer’s 
comment that the Affordable Housing should be separated into two areas rather than 
concentrated in one block.

In terms of the mix of market dwellings, the proposals show more three bed dwellings 
and fewer four bed dwellings than was suggested at outline stage. This is because the 
applicant’s experience of selling houses in Cholsey (on the Fairmile site) is that three 
bed properties are in demand and sell quickly whereas the four bed properties are more 
difficult to sell. As the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) seeks a much 
higher proportion of three bed properties than one, two of four bed, officers are satisfied 
that the proposed mix is appropriate. The Parish Council has commented that the plans 
show a disproportionate number of three beds and that the SHMA shows a need for 
two beds. Officers are satisfied that the proposals include an adequate number of two 
bed properties, as 25% of the market dwellings are shown as two bed, against the 
SHMA requirement of 26.7%.  

The proposed development is 24 dwellings per hectare. Officers consider this is an 
appropriate density for an edge of village location. 

Parking
The proposals include adequate parking to meet Oxfordshire County Council 
standards, including visitor parking. 

Comments have been received regarding the inadequacy of the access to the site. 
However, this is not a matter for consideration at this stage as it was agreed at the 
outline application stage.

Amenity
Local residents are understandably concerned about the impact of the proposed 
dwellings on the existing properties. The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out 

Page 80



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

6.18

6.19

6.20

6.21

6.22

minimum distances between properties to ensure privacy is maintained. The proposals 
meet all of the minimum distances. It is acknowledged that the dwellings along Lapwing 
Lane are single storey and that it has been requested that dwellings are ‘end on’ along 
the western boundary. However, the proposed dwellings will be around 30m away. 
Officers are therefore satisfied that there is sufficient distance between the existing 
dwellings and the proposed, and that the proposals will not result in unacceptable 
levels of overbearing, overshadowing or loss of privacy. 

The proposals generally include sufficient amenity space for most of the dwellings on 
site. However the garden space for plots 16, 17, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24 & 25 dip below the 
recommended standards set out in the Design Guide. Officers therefore suggest 
removing permitted development rights that would cause further loss of amenity space 
for these plots, particularly as they are north facing.

Other Matters
Concern has been raised regarding the water supply for the site and the existing low 
water pressure in the area. Thames Water were consulted and this matter was 
considered at outline application stage and is therefore not for consideration as part of 
this application. 

The outline application was granted planning permission at appeal prior to the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) being adopted and enforceable. The outline 
application is accompanied by a signed Section 106 agreement covering items such as 
infrastructure contributions and affordable housing.

Archaeology was dealt with at outline application/appeal stage.

A resident has asked for conditions relating to a Construction Management Plan to be 
added to any planning permission. Such a condition has already been applied to the 
outline planning permission.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Your officers recommend that reserved matter approval is granted because the details 

of the proposal are acceptable, subject to comments on the amended plans, and in 
accordance with national policy, the Development Plan and the South Oxfordshire 
Design Guide. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That reserved matters approval is granted subject to the following conditions; 

1. Time limit.
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
3. Removal of permitted development rights Class A (extensions).
4. Removal of permitted development rights Class E (outbuildings).

Author:         Mrs. K Pearce
E-mail :         Katherine.pearce@southandvale.gov.uk 
Contact No:  01235 422600

Page 81

mailto:Katherine.pearce@southandvale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



W E

N

S

75 M1:1250@A3

SCALE:

2.5 hectares

CELSEA PLACE

W
EE

D
O

N
 C

LO
SE

C
H

AR
LE

S 
R

O
AD

QUEENS ROAD

LA
PW

IN
G

 L
AN

E

SCALE

DRAWN

DATE

PROJECTCLIENT

(A3 ORIGINAL) DRAWING

Broadmede House
Farnham Business Park

Weydon Lane
Farnham
Surrey

GU9 8QT

C        COPYRIGHT EXISTS ON THE DESIGNS AND INFORMATION SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING
THE CONTRACTOR MUST VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE BEFORE MAKING SHOP DRAWINGS OR COMMENCING WORK OF ANY KIND. DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING

Tel: 01252 267878
name.surname@osparchitecture.com

www.osparchitecture.com

REVISIONS:DATE:REV:REVISIONS:DATE:REV:

O ’ K E E F E    S C A N L O N   L I M I T E D

1 : 1250

14086

Linden Homes (Chiltern)

Jan 2015

DJB S01

Plannng Application Red Line
Plan

Celsea Place

1 : 1250
Location Plan1

C

A      08-12-14     Red line updated

B      11-12-14     Re titled
C      29-01-15     Minor ammendment

Appendix 1

P
age 83

A
genda Item

 11



CELSEA PLACE

W
EE

D
O

N
 C

LO
SE

C
H

A
R

LE
S

 R
O

AD

Application Boundary

Path of the sun

Access from Celsea Place

Possible pedestrian link to future development

Planning constraint for window to window overlooking 
(25m)

Existing tree (and indicative tree root protection in blue)

Proposed Trees

Maximum extent of archaeological remains 

Buffer to Archaeological remains

Bike Parking (for apartments)

Bin Storage (for apartments)

Shed

Plot Number

Allocated Parking

Visitor Parking

Disabled parking

Bin collection point

New tree(s) outside buffer zone (to buffer zone side) to 
have slit trench dug with vertical rot barrier membrane 
installed for 6  centred on tree 1m deep.

KEY

Open Space

Plots 1-4

Plot 5

Plot 6

Plot 7

Plot 8

Plot 9

Plot 26

Plot 27

Plot 28

Plot 29

Plot 30

Plot 31

Plot 32

Plot 33

Plot 34

Plot 35

Plot 36
Plot 37

Pl
ot

 5
9Plot

 60

Plot 40

ecolgical buffer

17

15

13

11

9

7
6

5

4

3

6

8

10

12

2
4

6

2

4

6

QUEENS ROAD

LA
PW

IN
G

 L
AN

E

Plot 10

Plot 11

Plot 12

Plot 13

Pl
ot

 1
5

Pl
ot

 1
6

Pl
ot

 1
7

Pl
ot

 1
8

Pl
ot

 1
9

Pl
ot

 2
0

Pl
ot

 2
1

Pl
ot

 2
2

Pl
ot

 2
3

Pl
ot

 2
4

Plot 43

Plot 44

Plot 45

Plot 47

Plot 48

Plot 49

Plot 50

Plot 51

Plot 52

Plot 53

v.
v.

v.

v.

v.

v.

v.
v.

v.

v.
v.

v.
v.

Pl
ot

 5
8

Plot 39

Plot 46

Plot 54

Pl
ot

 5
7

Pl
ot

 5
6

Pl
ot

 5
5

v.

v.

v.

Plot 14

60/01

60/02

59/01

59/03

59/02

59/04

58/01

58/02

57/01

57/02

56/01

56/02

55/01

55/02

54/01

54/02

52/01
52/02

53/01

53/02

51/01
51/02

50/01
50/02

48/01
48/02

49/01
49/02

42/01

41/01

40/01

43/01

43/02
44/01

44/02

45/01

45/02

46/01

46/02

47/01

47/02

29/01
29/02

30/01

30/02

28/01

28/02

31/01
31/02

32/01
32/02

33/01
33/02

27/01

27/02
(in integral garage)

34/01
34/02

35/01

35/02

36/01

36/02

37/01

37/02

38/01

38/02

26/02

26/01

25/02

25/01

24/01

24/02

23/01

23/02

22/01

22/02

21/01

21/02

20/01

20/02

19/01

19/02

18/01

18/02

17/01

17/02

16/01

16/02

15/01

15/02

14/01

14/02

13/01

13/02

12/02

12/01

11/02

11/01

10/02

10/01

09/01

09/02

08/01

08/02

07/01

07/02

06/01

06/01

05/02 05/01

02/02

02/01

01/02

01/01

Plot 5

07/01

v.

Pl
ot

 2
5

Plot 38

Plot 41

Plot 42

v.

39/01

39/02

41/02

40/02

42/02

v.

v.

v.

04/01

03/01

v.
v.

L.A.P.

SCALE

DRAWN

DATE

PROJECTCLIENT

(A1 ORIGINAL) DRAWING

Broadmede House
Farnham Business Park

Weydon Lane
Farnham
Surrey 

GU9 8QT

C        COPYRIGHT EXISTS ON THE DESIGNS AND INFORMATION SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING This drawing may be scaled or cross referenced to teh scale bar for planning application purposes, use figured dimensions only. Subject to site survey and all necessary consents. All dimensions to be checked by user and any discrepancies reported to the Architect before work commences. This drawing to be read in conjunction with all other relevant materials.

Tel: 01252 267878
name.surname@osparchitecture.co

mwww.osparchitecture.com

REVISIONS:DATE:REV:

O ’ K E E F E    S C A N L O N   L I M I T E D

REVISIONS:DATE:REV: REVISIONS:DATE:REV:
3 M1:50@A1  

6 M1:100@A1  

SCALES:
1:500@A1  30 M

60 M1:1000@A1  

12 M1:200@A1  
120 M1:2000@A1  

0.3 M1:5@A1  

0.6 M1:10@A1  

1.2 M1:20@A1  

140 M1:2500@A1  
70 M1:1250@A1  

 1 : 500

14086

Linden Homes (Chiltern)

Jan 2016
DJB P201

Proposed Site Plan (at roof
level)

Celsea Place, Cholsey

L

A    23-01-17   Re-drawn

 1 : 500
Proposed Site Plan (at roof level)1

B    30-01-17   Re-drawn
C    02-02-17   Detail added

W E

N

S

D    09-02-17   Detail added
E    15-02-17   Design development
F    22-02-17   Design development
G    01-03-17   Minor ammendments

H   19-04-17 Ammendments to trees, plots 52-4, 
parking court, plot 16 access to parking 
and plot 4 parking following planning 
meeting 19-04-17.   

J    25-04-17 Updated in line with Planner comments.
K    26-04-17 Minor ammendments.
L    27-04-17 Minor ammendments.

Appendix 2

P
age 84



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

APPLICATION NO. P16/S3254/FUL and P16/S3255/LB
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION and LISTED BUILDING 

CONSENT
REGISTERED 5.10.2016
PARISH CHOLSEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Jane Murphy

Pat Dawe
APPLICANT Thomas Homes Ltd. & Homes & Communities 

Agency
SITE Former Farm Buildings and Pharmacy, Cholsey 

Meadows (Former Fairmile Hospital), Off Reading 
Road, Cholsey, OX10 9HJ

PROPOSAL Conversion of existing buildings to provide 11 x 1 
bedroom starter homes, 6 x 2 bedroom starter 
homes and 1 commercial unit (salon) and a farm 
shop, together with, parking, access and 
landscaping. 

AMENDMENTS As clarified and revised by marketing information 
and offer for farm shop (drawing no 964.04B) 
accompanying agents emails dated 13 and 22 
February 2017.

GRID REFERENCE 459786/186157
OFFICER Sharon Crawford

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee because the 

recommendation to grant planning permission conflicts with the views of the Cholsey 
Parish Council.

1.2 The buildings are part of the former Fairmile Hospital complex which was redeveloped 
as a new residential community following planning permission and listed building 
consent in 2010 (refs P09/W1313 and P09/W1314/LB). The 2010 permissions 
allowed for the use of the old farm buildings as offices and a café/restaurant/shop and 
for the use of the old pharmacy as a day nursery for the care of children.

1.3 The farm buildings are curtilage listed buildings and the old pharmacy is listed in its 
own right as part of the main hospital. They are located within the grade II listed 
Registered Parks and Gardens which surround the former hospital building.

1.4 The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1.

1.5 This application follows on from pre-application advice in 2016 (ref P16/S0023/PEJ). 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission and listed building consent for the 

conversion of existing buildings (old farm buildings and the old pharmacy) to provide 11 
x 1 bedroom starter homes, 6 x 2 bedroom starter homes and 1 commercial unit (salon) 
and a farm shop, together with, parking, access and landscaping. 

2.2 The application has been amended to include the provision of a farm shop and to 
provide additional information in respect of the marketing of the buildings. The shop is 

Page 85

Agenda Item 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3254/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

to be provided if there is a market for the shop and only 10 one bed units would be 
provided in that instance.

2.3 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website

3.1 Cholsey Parish 
Council

The Parish Council is concerned that this will remove any promised 
retail offer from the Fairmile site. It is interesting to note that the 
developer has never carried out a retail viability exercise.
The removal of the nursery removes forever the possibility of a new 
childcare facility in this growing village which, despite the developer’s 
claims of nearby nurseries, would provide a much needed service. 
All local providers tell us that they are over or at capacity.
There has been no engagement with Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan 
or local community about these proposals.
The Parish Council consider that for the above reasons this proposal 
goes against the developer's much vaunted desire to provide a 
'sense of community'.
The Parish Council is also concerned that there is insufficient parking 
on the site and consider that the proposal is over-development of an 
already crowded site.
This plan will create a gap in the safe pedestrian access to the main 
part of the village from the development which has only recently 
been completed.

3.2 OCC 
(Highways)

No objection subject to conditions

3.3 Conservation 
Officer

I am satisfied that the proposed conversion schemes are a sensitive 
response to the historic fabric of both the primary listed buildings and 
the curtilage listed buildings.
In addition, the proposals will match the high quality finishes of the 
conversion works elsewhere across the site.

3.4 Historic 
England

The applications should be determined in accordance with national 
and local policy guidance, and on the basis of your specialist 
conservation advice. It is not necessary for us to be consulted again 
on this application.

3.5 The Gardens 
Trust

We have considered the information provided in support of the above 
application and on the basis of this do not wish to comment on the 
proposals.

3.6 Economic 
Development

South Oxfordshire District Council aims to support the local economy 
with the strategic objective to “create the right conditions for economic 
growth, so that businesses, residents and workers can prosper” and 
the corporate priority to “champion our SMEs in South Oxfordshire”. 
The proposed application could help achieve this.

The applicant has provided a detailed marketing strategy that clearly 
demonstrates that an active and comprehensive marketing campaign 

Page 86

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

has been conducted by VSL & Partners since 2012. Detailed records 
have been provided of all enquiries and inspections with reasons for 
lack of progress identified. The reasons for lack of progress are 
justified, particularly the site being an inappropriate size. This is 
consistent with findings of the Council’s draft business and innovation 
strategy which outlines the needs of small and medium enterprises in 
the district. A significant issue identified is the need to secure premises 
of the right size in the right location and for an appropriate price.

The applicant advises that Thomas Homes is prepared to offer the 
farm shop space rent free for a period of up to five years. If a suitable 
tenant was found, the shop will have a positive impact on the local 
economy and allow a local farmer or SME to diversify their business.

For the reasons outlined above, I confirm that an active marketing 
campaign of the site has been undertaken.

3.7 Countryside 
Officer

As set out in Bioscan's letter one of the buildings subject to this 
application contained a minor bat roost which was destroyed under 
licence and mitigation incorporated into the refurbished building. The 
current proposals should not impact on the new roosting site 
however, as bats are a highly mobile and opportunistic species I 
recommend that an informative is used if planning permission is 
granted.

3.8 Forestry Officer No objection.

3.9 Cholsey 
Neighbourhood 
Plan steering 
group

This site was allocated for employment uses when Cholsey 
Meadows was designed in order to help provide a more sustainable 
community in this relatively isolated housing development. The 
Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group is still of the view that 
this would be the best use for this area. Cholsey residents are 
preparing a neighbourhood plan which will be ready for submission 
by June 2017, this plan will identify sites for new housing as required 
by the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy and the emerging Local Plan 
2032 as far as information is known. This proposal will pre-empt and 
prejudice the preparation of the Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan which 
seeks to allocate sufficient sites for housing in accordance with the 
community’s views and to retain employment areas in the village. 
The Planning Statement correctly identifies that Local Plan 2011 
policy E6 provides the most relevant detailed policy context for 
changes of use from employment to other uses. Unfortunately 
however the applicant has not referred to the guidance document 
which sits alongside policy E6 The applicant should be asked to 
supply all the information set out in the E6 guidance note. It is our 
view that the rental price of £14 – 16 per sq ft is overpriced for this 
rural area and we would wish to see comparative examples of 
premises where this rent is being achieved. We also understand that 
the parish council is aware of at least 1 potential occupier who has 
been turned away by the agents without their enquiry being properly 
considered. The information from the agents should detail all 
enquiries received and the reasons for them falling away. Now that 
the majority of Cholsey Meadows is occupied it has become clear 
how the site works and relates to the village and facilities which 
residents wish to use. A particular difficulty has been the isolation of 

Page 87



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

the site created by its location to the west of the A329 and the 
difficulty residents have in crossing this road safely. The only central 
island created for crossing the road is outside the entrance to this 
employment area, this provides access to the field track leading to 
Ilges Lane. The track is to be improved but even as it is provides a 
pleasant and safe link to the main part of the village. The road 
through this part of the site is therefore well used by families and 
children walking to the village and helps to create a more sustainable 
environment. The layout of units proposed does not take account of 
the high pedestrian use of this roadway and does not provide a safe 
link to the A329 road crossing. Many parking spaces require 
reversing into the roadway and in one area actually use the identified 
footpath. There are no off-road turning areas so most residents will 
be reversing into the access road each time they use a space. The 
proposal is an overdevelopment of this corner of the site and does 
not provide a safe environment for any road users. There is already 
inadequate parking for the housing on Cholsey Meadows and this 
proposal will exacerbate this problem. Whilst the provision of low 
cost housing would undoubtedly be of benefit, the loss of potential 
employment floorspace and the problems with the detailed layout of 
this proposal outweigh the benefit and the steering group is of the 
view that the application is not sustainable development and should 
be refused.

3.10 Neighbours 
Objecting (32)

There is a real need for more small and affordable properties in 
Oxfordshire.
There is not enough parking as it stands which leads to people 
parking on the roads. It is often the case that the roads are so 
congested there is no way an ambulance or fire engine would be 
able get access to parts of the building.
We moved onto the development and were excited about the plans 
to convert these buildings into a farm shop as our nearest shop is not 
conveniently located for us. I also thought it would be a great 
community hub to meet and socialise with our neighbours. I oppose 
their application on two grounds. 
1. There has been a lot of interest in taking on the premises as a 
farm shop and the developer has put a number of obstacles in their 
way to ensure it isn't a viable option. This demonstrates an 
unwillingness from day one to fulfil the promises they made to all 
residents buying into the development or worse, they never intended 
to fulfil this promise and chose to 'wait it out' until they could 
legitimately apply to convert to residential use for a profit. They 
presumably obtained planning consent to develop the fair mile 
because they were providing facilities that the village desperately 
needs. These needs have not evaporated nor has the interest in 
running a commercial business on this site, rather they have become 
financially impossible due to the restrictions and high rents proposed. 
There is no safe crossing on the Reading Road for a family (with a 
buggy) to access the village. I rely on my car to drive to buy 
groceries, something I didn't foresee when we bought our new home 
as I was told I could walk to the farm shop that would be up and 
running by the end of 2014. 
2. There is a huge parking problem on the development. Adding a 
further 11 flats is only going to exacerbate this problem! Not only will 
11 further resident parking spaces need to be found, but visitor bays 

Page 88



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

also. I hope this application is refused and Thomas Homes are told 
to fulfil the initial planning conditions to provide a much needed and 
wanted farm shop and other commercial opportunities on the fair 
mile. Otherwise it makes a mockery of the whole planning system.

Amended details 
While it is encouraging to see that provision has been made for a 
hair salon and, potentially, a further small retail space, the rest of the 
residential plans still exist. The VSL states clearly that one of the 
main reasons there has been no uptake on renting either retail or 
office space is because the site remains undeveloped. No potential 
tenant will commit to renting while the site remains as it is. Thomas 
Homes should put their hands in their deep pockets and develop the 
site as originally promised and then go to market for potential retail 
tenants. If they have no take up after two years then, yes, apply for 
change of use. This site hasn't been given a fair chance because 
Thomas Homes only ever intended this to be residential and have 
not committed fully and properly to the original promised plan. The 
residential planning permission should still be refused.

Neighbour 
approve (1)

There is a real need for more small and affordable properties in 
Oxfordshire. Many new developments mainly comprise of 2+ 
bedroom properties and those aiming to get onto the property ladder 
face years of saving to do so.
The help-to-buy scheme now aids those saving and properties such 
as the 1 and 2 bed starter homes proposed, give the next generation 
further help to get onto the property ladder quicker as house prices 
continue to increase.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P09/W1314/LB - Approved (30/07/2010)

Demolition of curtilage listed and other buildings.  Extensions, alterations, refurbishment 
and conversion of main buildings to form 130 homes (including 39 Affordable Homes), 
community uses, offices, nursery and leisure uses.  Retention of Chapel in existing D1 
use class. Conversion (including alterations and extension) of former farm buildings to 
form offices, cafe/restaurant/shop.  

P09/W1313 - Approved (30/07/2010)
Demolition of curtilage listed and other buildings. Extensions, alterations, refurbishment 
and conversion of main buildings to form 130 homes (including 39 affordable homes), 
community uses, offices, nursery and leisure uses. Retention of chapel in existing D1 
use class. Conversion (including alterations and extension) of former farm buildings to 
form offices, cafe/restaurant/shop
and retention and refurbishment of cricket pavilion.
Erection of 224 new homes (including 67 affordable homes and 5 live work units) and 
allotment buildings. Provision of facilities for outdoor sport and
play. Alterations to vehicular accesses, car and cycle parking and provision for the 
storage of refuse and recycling of waste. Provision of new roads, footpaths and lighting, 
including new SUDS drainage 

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1 - Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

Page 89

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P09/W1314/LB
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P09/W1313


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

CSC1 – Delivery and Contingency
CSEM1 – Supporting a Successful Economy
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSQ2  -  Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3  -  Design
CSH1 - Amount and distribution of housing
CSH3 – Affordable Housing
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSI1 - Infrastructure provision
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1 – The overall strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;
C8  -  Adverse effect on protected species
CON3 - Alteration to listed building
CON4 – Change of use listed building
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
CF1 - Protection of recreational or essential community facilities
D1  -  Principles of good design
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D7 – Access for all
D10 – Waste management
E6 – Loss of employment uses
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP4  -  Impact on water resources
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2032

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in 
emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only 
subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and 
the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

Emerging Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan.
The Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan Area was designated in June 2016. The 
Neighbourhood Plan is currently at the draft stage of development. At this stage no 
weight can be afforded to it in the determination of this planning application.

5.4 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990 
 Community & Infrastructure Levy Legislation Human Rights Act 1998 
 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Page 90



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

 Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 
 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010
 Human Rights Act 1998
 Equality Act 2010 section 149

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues in this case are;

 Whether the principle of development is acceptable
 NPPF policies
 Loss of employment and community facilities
 S106 implications
 Implications from the original conditions
 Highways issues
 Parking issues
 Impact on the character and setting of the listed buildings
 Provision of gardens
 Provision of affordable housing
 Starter homes
 Mix of units
 Ecology
 Neighbour impact
 CIL

All of these matters relate to the consideration of the planning application only bullet 
point 8 relates to the consideration of the listed building consent application.

6.2 Principle.
The 2010 planning permission and listed building consent allow for the conversion of 
the old farm buildings for use as offices, café/restaurant and shop and the old 
pharmacy for use as a day care nursery. Works on the conversion of these buildings 
commenced but has not been completed. The current applications seek planning 
permission and listed building consent for the use of the buildings for primarily 
residential purposes, but also include a salon with office/store and a small farm shop 
(should there be a demand). The principle of redevelopment and alternative uses has, 
therefore, already been established by the existing planning permission and listed 
building consent. The question in the case of the current applications is whether the 
proposed alternative uses also accord with the development plan policies.
 

6.3 NPPF Policies. The most relevant paragraphs of the NPPF in the consideration of 
these applications are;

 Paragraph  14  which establishes that there  is  a  presumption  in  favour  of 
sustainable  development.  For  decision-taking  this  means approving  
development  proposals  that  accord  with  the  development  plan  without  
delay;  and  where  the development  plan  is  absent,  silent  or relevant  
policies  are  out-of-date,  granting permission  unless:

– any  adverse  impacts  of  doing  so  would  significantly  and 
demonstrably  outweigh  the  benefits,  when  assessed  against  the  
policies  in  this Framework  taken  as  a  whole;  or

– specific  policies  in  this  Framework  indicate development should 
be restricted.

 Paragraph 22 of the NPPF makes clear that “Planning policies should avoid the 
long term protection of sites allocated for employment use where there is no 
reasonable prospect of a site being used for that purpose. Land allocations 

Page 91



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no reasonable prospect of a site 
being used for the allocated employment use, applications for alternative uses 
of land or buildings should be treated on their merits having regard to market 
signals and the relative need for different land uses to support sustainable local 
communities”. 

 Paragraph 47 requires local planning authorities to boost significantly the supply 
of housing.

 Paragraph 51 requires that Local planning authorities identify and bring back 
into residential use empty buildings. They should normally approve planning 
applications for change to residential use and any associated development from 
commercial buildings (currently in the B use classes) where there is an identified 
need for additional housing in that area, provided that there are not strong 
economic reasons why such development would be inappropriate.

 Paragraph 70 emphasises the importance of planning positively for the provision 
and use of shared space, community facilities (such as local shops, meeting 
places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship) 
and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and 
residential environments; and to guard against the unnecessary loss of valued 
facilities and services particularly where this would reduce the community’s 
ability to meet its day-to-day needs;

 Paragraph 132 assigns great weight to the conservation of a designated 
heritage asset

 Paragraph 134 makes clear that where a development proposal will lead to less 
than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this 
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including 
securing its optimum viable use.

6.4 Loss of employment and community facilities. Saved policies CF1 and E6 of the 
SOLP aim to protect employment sites and essential community facilities as follows:

And

Page 92



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

6.5 The Council aims to support the local economy with the strategic objective to “create the 
right conditions for economic growth, so that businesses, residents and workers can 
prosper” and the corporate priority to “champion our Small to Medium sized Enterprises 
(SMEs) in South Oxfordshire”. The approved offices, nursery, restaurant and shop would 
provide for employment opportunities and their loss will only be acceptable if the facilities 
have been marketed for at least a year and for no demand to have been found. 

6.6 Objectors to the planning application have claimed that there has been a lot of interest in 
taking on the nursery and shop premises but the developer has put a number of obstacles 
in the way to ensure they were not a viable option. The applicant has provided a detailed 
marketing strategy with the application and further additional marketing information 
during the course of the application. The council’s economic development team have 
been consulted on the marketing information. They have concluded that an active and 
comprehensive marketing campaign has been conducted by VSL & Partners since 2012. 
Detailed records have been provided of all enquiries and inspections with reasons for 
lack of progress identified. The reasons for lack of progress are justified, particularly the 
site being an inappropriate size. This is consistent with findings of the Council’s draft 
business and innovation strategy which outlines the needs of small and medium 
enterprises in the district. A significant issue identified is the need to secure premises of 
the right size in the right location and for an appropriate price.

6.7 Thomas Homes has found that the only unit where there is demand is the hairdressing 
salon and that has been retained in the proposal. In addition as a result of comments 
made on the application, the applicant is prepared to offer a farm shop unit rent free for 
a period of up to five years (in lieu of one of the 1 bed units). If a suitable tenant is found, 
the shop will have a positive impact on the local economy and allow a local farmer or 
SME to diversify their business. In the circumstances, it is your officer’s view that the 
applicant has provided sufficient evidence to show that the buildings have been marketed 
adequately and that there is no viable demand for the approved employment uses and 
community facilities other than the salon and farm shop.

6.8 S106 implications. The 2010 planning permission is the subject of agreements 
between the developers and South Oxfordshire District and Oxfordshire County 
Councils. The agreements relate to a number of issues including the phasing of the 
development, highway works, the provision of affordable homes, the provision of 
community facilities allotments and open space, community trust, and a number of 
financial contributions (cycling, libraries, education, public transport, museum, social 
and healthcare, youth centre, travel plan, art, recreation and sport, community safety, 
street naming, recycling and waste, and maintenance). The S.106 agreement between 
the District Council and the developers provides in Clause 12 that nothing in the 
agreement prevents the development of the site in accordance with a new planning 
permission. The buildings to which this application relates are noted in the S.106 
agreement as being the “commercial units” and do not form part of the community 
facilities provided. As such there are no obstacle to the current application in the legal 

Page 93



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

agreement.

6.9 Implications of conditions from the 2010 planning permission.
Condition 49 of the 2010 planning permission requires the following;

The marketing information submitted with the application clearly shows that there has 
been compliance with this condition and there are, therefore, no obstacles to the 
current application as a result of conditions on the original application.

6.10 Highways issues.
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:

Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe. 

The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to 
result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact. 

6.11 Substantial work to improve the accesses has been undertaken as part of the 2010 
planning application. In addition substantial financial contributions have been made in 
respect of highway matters. The proposals to create 17 new dwellings (or 16 if the farm 
shop is provided) (11 (10)x 1 bedroom units and 6 x 2 bedroom units), will likely see the 
number of trips decrease, when compared to the already permitted use of a café, 
restaurant and offices. The permitted use will attract larger numbers of people to the 
site and often have their majority of trips centred on peak times. Particularly, for B1 use, 
these traffic flows can be unidirectional in nature, with most people travelling to the site 
in the am peak and then away from the site in the peak pm. The extra trips created by 
these dwellings will also be distributed northwards and southwards along the A429, 
towards Wallingford and Reading, respectfully. In the circumstances the change from 
commercial uses to residential will not have a detrimental impact upon the highway 
from a traffic and safety point of view.

6.12 Parking issues.
Many of the objectors have commented that there are not enough parking facilities for 
existing residents as it stands which leads to parking on the roads. Objectors are 
concerned that the roads are so congested that access for ambulances or fire engines 
would be difficult to parts of the building. There is also concern that that the parking 
pressure for the proposed residential uses will be in the evenings and at weekends 
rather than during the working day as it would be for the permitted uses.

6.13 The proposal includes the provision of one space per unit for the 4 units in the old 
pharmacy (2 x 2 bed and 2 x 1 bed units) and 19 car parking spaces for the 13 units (or 
12 with farm shop) in the old farm buildings (4 x 2 bed and 8 x 1 bed (or 7 with farm 
shop)). Whilst, neighbour concerns are acknowledged, the provision of parking for the 
units is considered acceptable in this sustainable location with good access to public 

Page 94



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

transport. 

6.14 Impact on the character and setting of listed buildings and the Historic park and 
garden.  
Paragraph 132 of the NPPF requires that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.

The farm buildings are curtilage listed buildings and the pharmacy is listed in its own 
right as part of the main hospital. They are located within the grade II listed Registered 
Parks and Gardens which surround the former hospital building. The conservation 
officer, Historic England and The Gardens Trust are satisfied that the proposed 
conversion schemes are a sensitive response to the historic fabric of both the primary 
listed buildings and the curtilage listed buildings. In addition, the proposals will match 
the high quality finishes of the conversion works elsewhere across the site and secure a 
viable alternative to bring the buildings back into use.

6.15  Provision of gardens. Minimum standards for new residential development are 
recommended in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and in Policy D3 of the Local 
Plan. In this case a minimum of 50 square metres of private garden area would be 
required for each 2 bedroom units and 35 square metres for one bed units. Some of the 
units have their own private garden areas, other have small paved terraces and are 
below the required standard. However, there is easy access to the extensive communal 
gardens and open areas on site and access to the river which more than makes up for 
any lack of private space.

6.16 Affordable housing. Policy CSH3 of the SOCS requires that 40% of affordable 
housing will be sought on sites where there is a net gain of three dwellings. The site 
has already delivered the required planning policy amount for affordable housing 
through the 2010 planning application. However, with the provision of new housing 
through the conversion of buildings there is a further requirement for affordable 
housing. This proposal is for all the units to be Starter Homes which now fall within the 
definition of affordable housing (Housing and Planning Act 2016).

6.17 Starter homes. The Government aims to deliver 1 million new homes to boost housing 
supply significantly and have committed to building 200,000 high quality starter homes 
exclusively for young first time buyers under 40, to be sold at a minimum of 20% below 
the open market value capped at a price of £250k (outside Greater London). The 
Housing and Planning Bill sets out the statutory framework for the delivery of starter 
homes, and will be supported by changes to national planning policy, which were 
subject to public consultation ending on 22 February 2016. The policies to bring starter 
homes forward have not been brought into effect to date.
The detailed implementation of key aspects for the statutory framework for starter 
homes will be set out in regulations made by the Secretary of State, including:

 elements of the definition of a starter home; 
 the starter homes requirement (regulations specifying the number of starter homes to  
   be delivered and the types of site on which the requirement should be imposed, such
   as those of a reasonable size)  and 
 the reporting arrangements for starter homes delivery.

It is important to secure the homes as ‘starter homes’ with the age limit, a 20% discount 

Page 95



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

and a capped price of £250K as, otherwise, they cannot be classed as Starter Homes 
and we would then need to seek a percentage of the units as affordable houses. As 
such, a condition is recommended to ensure that the units are provided as starter 
homes in accordance with the limitations and definition set out in the Housing and 
Planning Act and any subsequent enabling legislation.

6.18 Housing mix. Policy CSH4 of the SOCS requires a mix of units to be required in any 
scheme. This application seeks to deliver small units for starter homes and the mix is 
limited to 1 and 2 bedroom units only. However, given the range of property sizes 
across the site and the need for small units there is no objection in this case.

6.19 Ecology. One of the buildings subject to this application contained a minor bat roost 
which was destroyed under licence and mitigation incorporated into the refurbished 
building. The current proposals should not impact on the new roosting site however, as 
bats are a highly mobile and opportunistic species an informative should be added to 
any planning permission.

6.20 Neighbour impact.
Old farm buildings. The old farm buildings are in close proximity to an existing pair of 
semi-detached properties 1 and 3 Reading Road. There are no extensions prosed to 
the old farm buildings and for the most part existing openings will be used for windows 
and doors or will be blocked. A pedestrian walkway providing access to the rear units 5, 
6, 7 and 11 is proposed but windows and the access will be screened from 1 and 3 by a 
1.8 m fence on the boundary. There are also no windows proposed in the nearest first 
floor block adjacent to 1 Reading Road. As such the neighbour impact is considered 
acceptable.

Location plan Layout

Elevation to 1 and 3 Reading Road Floor plans

6.21 The Old Pharmacy is surrounded by existing flats. There are no extensions prosed to 

Page 96



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

the old farm buildings and for the most part existing openings will be used for windows 
and doors. Use of the old pharmacy for 4 flats is likely to be a less disruptive use of the 
building than the approved nursery in terms of noise generation, parking and 
disturbance during pick up and drop off times.

Location plan Block plan

Proposed ground floor Proposed first floor

6.22 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The council’s CIL charging schedule has been 
adopted and applies to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge 
that local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the 
development of their area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint 
created as a result of the development. 

CIL is not liable on schemes for affordable housing.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 As set out under the ‘principle of development’ section of this report this application 

needs to be assessed against the presumption in favour of sustainable development at 
paragraph 14 of the NPPF unless any  adverse  impacts  of  doing  so  would  
significantly  and demonstrably  outweigh  the  benefits. The report describes the 

Page 97



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

proposals in full and assesses the proposal against the relevant material planning 
considerations.  The three strands of sustainable development are set out at paragraph 
7 of the NPPF as economic, social and environmental.  My conclusions against each of 
the strands is summarised below.  

Economic role
The Government has made clear its view that house building plays an important role in 
promoting economic growth.  In economic terms, the scheme would provide 
construction jobs and some local investment during its build out, as well as longer term 
expenditure in the local economy supporting the ongoing vibrancy of the village. I 
consider that moderate weight should be afforded to this benefit. 

Social role
The proposal helps to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of starter homes towards those required to meet the needs of present and future 
generations.  It also does this by creating a high quality built environment, in a location 
where limited new growth is acceptable. I consider moderate weight should be given to 
these social benefits. 

Environmental role
In environmental terms, the scheme offers opportunities for enhancement of the area 
by bringing back the buildings into a viable new use, which is a matter to which I afford 
moderate weight.  

Taking into account the benefits of the development and weighing these against the 
limited harm, I consider that the proposal represents a sustainable development, 
consistent with Para.14 of the NPPF and Policy CS1 of the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy.  The proposal would contribute towards the objective to boost the supply of 
housing, consistent with Para.47 of the NPPF.  

Therefore, placing all of the relevant material considerations in the balance I conclude 
that the limited adverse impacts would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits of the proposal and recommend the application for approval.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions.

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. Joinery details.
4. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained. 
5. Surface water drainage works (details required).
6. Details of refuse vehicle turning.
7. Works to match existing
8. Withdrawal of permitted development (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions etc.
9. Construction traffic management.
10. Withdrawal of permitted development (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings etc.
11. Travel information pack.
12. Cycle parking facilities.
13. Starter homes.
14. Market farm shop for a period of one year from commencement.

8.2 That listed building consent is granted subject to the following conditions.

Page 98



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 May 2017

1. Commencement listed building consent - three years.
2. Approved plans.
3. Joinery details.
4. Works to match existing.

Author:        Sharon Crawford
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 101

Agenda Item 12

shacra_7
Typewriter
1 x 1 bed and 1 x 2 bed unit

shacra_8
Typewriter
parkingspaces

shacra_9
Typewriter
1 x 2 bed

shacra_10
Arrow

shacra_11
Typewriter
Salon

shacra_12
Arrow

shacra_13
Arrow

shacra_14
Typewriter
shop

shacra_15
Typewriter
7 x 1 bed2 x 2 bed

shacra_16
Arrow

shacra_17
Typewriter
Appendix 1

shacra_18
Typewriter
2 x 2 bed2 x 1 bed



gravel

planting bed (trees)

private

garden

private

garden

paved terrace paved terrace

gravel

planting bed

(trees)

planting bed

(trees)

planting bed

(trees)

14 15

16 17

existing

courtyard/garden

existing

courtyard/garden

existing

courtyard

existing

parking

existing courtyard

12

3

4

4 parking bays (numbered)

allocated to propose dwellings

Reading Road

Cholsey

OXON

NURSERY CONVERSION:

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

1:200 @ A2MAR '16

THOMAS HOMES

FAIRMILE HOSPITAL, CHOLSEY

964.06

JC

a     r     c     h     i     t     e     c     t     s

Project AddressClient / Project

Drawing Title

Rev.Scale / PageDate Drawing ref.Drawn

©

Issued for:

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to construction. Do not scale.

Any discrepancy between this drawing and other information to be referred to the architects.
PLANNING

arlington house . curridge . west berkshire . rg18 9ef

t 01635 247 100   f 01635 247 070   e mail@woodfieldbrady.co.uk   www.woodfieldbrady.co.uk

0 2 4 6 8 10 20m12 14 16 18

1:200

10
Unit numbers

Unit entrances

Paving

New trees

Existing trees

KEY

A

Appendix 2

Page 102



new

opening

14

15

17

16

17

A

A

B

B

C C

existing walls to be

removed shown

dashed red

new

opening

A

A

B

B

existing fireplace

removed

Reading Road

Cholsey

OXON

PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS

1:100 at A1MAR '16

THOMAS HOMES

FAIRMILE HOSPITAL, CHOLSEY

964.07

PLANNING

KJB

Rev.

©

Client / Project Project Address

Drawing Title

Scale / PageDate Drawing ref.Drawn

a     r     c     h     i     t     e     c     t     s

Issued for:

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to construction. Do not scale.

Any discrepancy between this drawing and other information to be referred to the architects.

existing masonry walls

dry lining treatment

(refer to drawing 709. )

separating partition wall

partition wall (100mm)

existing wall removed

(refer to inset demolition plan )

new opening / existing opening widened

Key

0 1 2 3 4 5 10m6 7 8 9

1:100

arlington house . curridge . west berkshire . rg18 9ef

t 01635 247 100   f 01635 247 070   e mail@woodfieldbrady.co.uk   www.woodfieldbrady.co.uk

A

P
age 103



07

01

02

03

04

05

06

UNIT 15UNIT 16 TERRACE/PRIVATE GARDEN PUBLIC COURTYARDPUBLIC COURTYARD

010503 02

MATERIALS KEY

01 existing red/orange facing brickwork

02 existing natural slate roofing

03 timber framed casement windows/doors

04 painted metal rainwater goods

05 existing brick arched soldier course

06 existing painted lintels

07 existing external render

Reading Road

Cholsey

OXON

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS / 15

1:100 at A1MAR '16

THOMAS HOMES

FAIRMILE HOSPITAL, CHOLSEY

964.08

PLANNING

KJB

a     r     c     h     i     t     e     c     t     s

Project AddressClient / Project

Drawing Title

Rev.Scale / PageDate Drawing ref.Drawn

©

Issued for:

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to construction. Do not scale except for planning purposes.

Any discrepancy between this drawing and other information to be referred to the architects.

arlington house . curridge . west berkshire . rg18 9ef

t 01635 247 100   f 01635 247 070   e mail@woodfieldbrady.co.uk   www.woodfieldbrady.co.uk

0 1 2 3 4 5 10m6 7 8 9

1:100

KEY PLAN

P
age 104



UNIT 16

EX COVERED

CORRIDOR

EX COVERED

CORRIDOR

02

02

03

04 0506

02

03

01

01

07

01

02

03

04

05

06

UNITS 16 & 17 UNITS 14 & 15

EXISTING COVERED CORRIDOR IN FOREGROUND

01

02

03

02

04

UNIT 14 UNIT 15

EX COVERED

CORRIDOR

EX COVERED

CORRIDOR

02

02

03

04

01

01

07

03

04

02

05

02

0303

UNIT 13

EX COVERED

CORRIDOR

EX COVERED

CORRIDOR

UNIT 14

02

03

01

05

02

0303

01

UNIT 14 UNIT 16TERRACE/PRIVATE GARDEN PUBLIC COURTYARD

030201 0501 02

UNITS 16 & 17UNITS 14 & 15

EXISTING COVERED CORRIDOR IN FOREGROUND

01

02

04

02

MATERIALS KEY

01 existing red/orange facing brickwork

02 existing natural slate roofing

03 timber framed casement windows/doors

04 painted metal rainwater goods

05 existing brick arched soldier course

06 existing painted lintels

07 existing external render

Reading Road

Cholsey

OXON

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS / SECTIONS

1:100 at A1MAR '16

THOMAS HOMES

FAIRMILE HOSPITAL, CHOLSEY

964.09

PLANNING

KJB

a     r     c     h     i     t     e     c     t     s

Project AddressClient / Project

Drawing Title

Rev.Scale / PageDate Drawing ref.Drawn

©

Issued for:

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to construction. Do not scale except for planning purposes.

Any discrepancy between this drawing and other information to be referred to the architects.

arlington house . curridge . west berkshire . rg18 9ef

t 01635 247 100   f 01635 247 070   e mail@woodfieldbrady.co.uk   www.woodfieldbrady.co.uk

0 1 2 3 4 5 10m6 7 8 9

1:100

KEY PLAN

P
age 105



03

02

04

05

06

07

08

09

01

11

garden

garden

garden

new brickwork walls to

match existing

1

11

12

16

17

19

11m

HAIR

SALON

12

13

terrace

terrace

terrace

garden

garden

terrace

terrace

pond

existing

parking

existing

parking

existing

parking

existing freestanding

brickwork wall to be retained

new post and

rail fencing

existing site

boundary/

fencing line

new 1.8m high

close-boarded fencing

courtyard

6

7

20

24

25

28

SHOP

Reading Road

Cholsey

OXON

FARM BUILDINGS

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

1:200 at A1MAR '16

THOMAS HOMES

FAIRMILE HOSPITAL, CHOLSEY

964.00

PLANNING

JC

a     r     c     h     i     t     e     c     t     s

Project AddressClient / Project

Drawing Title

Rev.Scale / PageDate Drawing ref.Drawn

©

Issued for:

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to construction. Do not scale except for planning purposes.

Any discrepancy between this drawing and other information to be referred to the architects.

arlington house . curridge . west berkshire . rg18 9ef

t 01635 247 100   f 01635 247 070   e mail@woodfieldbrady.co.uk   www.woodfieldbrady.co.uk

0 2 4 6 8 10 20m12 14 16 18

1:200

10
Unit numbers

Unit entrances

Paving

New trees

Existing trees

KEY

B

REV B: Unit 10 updated to shop - JDC - 06.02.2017

P
age 106



new windows in

extg openings

new obscured glass window

to wc in extg opening

existing brick wall

UNIT 1
UNITS 2,3,4 & 5

UNIT 6 UNIT 7
UNITS 8,9, SHOP & SALON

01

03

02

05

05

02

03

01

03

02

06

new timber

boarded gate

07 07

UNIT 5 UNIT 4 UNIT 3 UNIT 2

new door

opening

new obscured

glass window

new door in modified

window opening

01

03

03

02

03

02

04 02 03 03

UNIT 1

new sliding folding glass

doors to extg opening

new door in

extg opening

03

01

09

02

06

04

new half glazed patio

door in extg opening

UNIT 8 UNIT 7 UNIT 6 UNIT 5

03

01

06

02

02 03

02

01

06

means of escape

window

extg window

opening bricked up

dashed line of

close boarded

fence in

foreground

UNIT 8UNIT 9SALON SHOP

new glazing in extg

roller door openings

fixed timber and

glass panels in extg

opening

new half glazed

timber door in

extg opening

new window with

timber panel below in

extg opening

new windows in

extg openings

new glazing in extg

roller door openings

03

01

06

01

06

02

03

02 05

03

03

new glazed door

and timber door in

extg opening

UNIT 1

01

03

02

04

MATERIALS KEY

01 existing red/orange facing  brickwork

02 existing natural slate roofing

03 timber framed casement windows/doors

04 timber board entrance doors

05 vertical timber clad panel

06 painted metal rainwater goods

07 facing brickwork courtyard walls

08 timber boarded gates

09 existing timber lintel

Reading Road

Cholsey

OXON

FARM BUILDINGS

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

1:100 at A1MAR '16

THOMAS HOMES

FAIRMILE HOSPITAL, CHOLSEY

964.02

PLANNING

KJB

a     r     c     h     i     t     e     c     t     s

Project AddressClient / Project

Drawing Title

Rev.Scale / PageDate Drawing ref.Drawn

©

Issued for:

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to construction. Do not scale except for planning purposes.

Any discrepancy between this drawing and other information to be referred to the architects.

arlington house . curridge . west berkshire . rg18 9ef

t 01635 247 100   f 01635 247 070   e mail@woodfieldbrady.co.uk   www.woodfieldbrady.co.uk

S  O  U  T  H     E  A  S  T     E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N

S  O  U  T  H     W  E  S  T     E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N ,     S  E  C  T  I  O  N     T  H  R  U     N  E  W     L  I  N  K     B  U  I  L  D  I  N  G

N  O  R  T  H     W  E  S  T     E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N

U N I T   1   -   S  O  U  T  H     W  E  S  T     E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N

N  O  R  T  H     E  A  S  T     E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N

U N I T   1   -   N  O  R  T  H     W  E  S  T     E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N

0 1 2 3 4 5 10m6 7 8 9

1:100

B

REV B: Unit 10 updated to shop - JDC - 06.02.2017

P
age 107



GROUND FLOOR STORE

RWP

GROUND FLOOR

ROOF RIDGE

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

FARM BUILDINGS

FIRST FLOOR FARM BUILDINGS

RWPRWP

RWP

CILL 1.045

HEAD 2.265

1
.
8

9
0

H
T

1
.
8

9
0

H
T

2.750HT

2.715 HT

1
.
8

7
5

 
H

T

CILL 1.275

HEAD 2.490

FIRST FLOOR STORE

GROUND FLOOR STORE

Actual location relative to other farm buildings

new door in ex

opening

E

E

E

E

existing wall

D

D

D

D

B

B
C

C

A A

A A

B

B

C

C

new glazed door

and timber door in

extg opening

existing window

unblocked

existing

window

unblocked

existing

window

unblocked

existing

window

unblocked

window to be means

of escape window

01

02

03

04

05

new

opening

06

new door

opening

07

11

existing opening

blocked up

existing opening

blocked up

09

shared entrance to

units 05 & 11

new door

opening

new

window

opening

08

UNIT 1

window

blocked

up

window

in ex door

opening

new door

in window

opening

new door

opening

01

03

02

04

all windows at rear to

be glazed & fixed shut

window

blocked

up

ex columns to be

retained

new roof

light over

2no new roof lights

over bedroom

gategate

1.8m high close-

boarded fencing

FIRST FLOOR GROUND FLOOR

Reading Road

Cholsey

OXON

FARM BUILDINGS

PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS

1:100 at A1MAR '16

THOMAS HOMES

FAIRMILE HOSPITAL, CHOLSEY

964.01

PLANNING

KJB

a     r     c     h     i     t     e     c     t     s

Project AddressClient / Project

Drawing Title

Rev.Scale / PageDate Drawing ref.Drawn

©

Issued for:

All dimensions to be checked on site prior to construction. Do not scale except for planning purposes.

Any discrepancy between this drawing and other information to be referred to the architects.

arlington house . curridge . west berkshire . rg18 9ef

t 01635 247 100   f 01635 247 070   e mail@woodfieldbrady.co.uk   www.woodfieldbrady.co.uk

existing masonry walls

dry lining treatment

separating partition wall

partition wall (100mm)

existing wall removed

Key

0 1 2 3 4 5 10m6 7 8 9

1:100

B

REV B: Unit 10 updated to shop - JDC - 06.02.2017

P
age 108


	Agenda
	7 Land South of Watlington Road, Benson
	Appendices 1-2 plan
	Framework Plan drwgno PL03C.pdf
	PL03 [Framework Plan]
	SK04




	8 4A Farm Close Road, Wheatley
	Appendices 1-2

	9 Land South of Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor
	Appendices A-B
	1 Appendix A 
	2 Appendix B
	Sheets and Views
	A2 Landscape


	3 Appendix B 1
	Sheets and Views
	A3 Portrait


	4 Appendix B2
	Sheets and Views
	A3 Portrait


	5 Appendix B3
	6 Appendix B4
	Sheets and Views
	A3 Portrait




	10 17 and 19 Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor
	Appendices A-B
	1 Appendix A
	2 Appendix 2
	3 Appendix B1
	Sheets and Views
	1.1




	11 Land North of 12 Celsea Place, Cholsey
	Apeendices 1-2
	2017_05_03 Committee Report Appendix 2.pdf
	Sheets
	P201 - Proposed Site Plan (at roof level)
	P202 - Proposed Site Plan (at ground level)




	12 Former Farm Buildings and Pharmacy, Cholsey Meadows (Former Fairmile Hospital), Off Reading Road, Cholsey
	Appendices 1-2




